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The interest expense included in expense for retirement pensions 
is recognised as part of Net interest income. 

The following assumptions are made in calculating direct benefit 
pension liabilities: 

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
  

  2017 2016 

Discount rate     

Domestic 1.87 % 1.66 % 

Foreign (weighted) 1.87 % 1.66 % 

Salary growth (weighted) 2.0 % 2.0 % 

Adjustment rate for pensions     

Domestic     

Employment contract 1/  
old pension provision 
rules individual individual 

New pension provisionrules 
(weighted) 2.0 % 2.0 % 

Employment contract 4 
(weighted) 2.0 % 2.0 % 

Mortality, disability, etc.  

Based on the  
2005 G 
tables of  

K. Heubeck   

Based on the 
2005 G 
tables of 

K. Heubeck  
  
   
  

 

Actuarial assumptions are subject to a sensitivity analysis as  
described in Note 43. 

Defined benefit pension plans are partly financed from assets and 
qualified insurance policies used exclusively for pensions (plan as-
sets). Plan assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the 
statement of financial position as reducing provisions.  

Other provisions 

Other provisions include provisions in the lending business, for re-
structuring, litigation risks and costs, for personnel expenses 
(without pensions) and other provisions.  

Provisions in the lending business are created, among other rea-
sons, for any sudden calls to pay under warranty bonds, guaran-
tees and letters of credit. The parameters used for the calculation 
are presented in the section Loan loss provisions and impairment 
of financial instruments (Note 7.I.C). 

Provisions for restructuring are created to the extent 
HSH Nordbank had developed and communicated a sufficiently 
detailed plan for such measures and had started to implement 
such plan.  

As soon as the obligation is sufficiently certain or can be quanti-
fied – e.g. through the signing of agreements – it is transferred to 
Other liabilities or Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
as a matter of principle. 

In the statement of income, the item “Net income from restructur-
ing and privatisation” is used to report the ongoing expenses  
incurred in respect of restructuring measures taken in connection 
with the formal decision made in the state aid proceedings by the 
European Commission on 2 May 2016 on the replenishment of 
the second loss guarantee, as well as the expenses connected with 
the privatisation of HSH Nordbank. The expenses incurred in the 
2017 financial year are explained in more detail in Note 18. 

Provisions for litigation costs comprise expected payments for 
court costs as well as for non-court costs in connection with litiga-
tion such as, e.g. attorneys' fees and other costs. For litigation in 
progress, only costs for the current jurisdictional level may be  
included within the provision. 

Provisions for litigation risks are to be created when 
HSH Nordbank AG or any of its consolidated subsidiaries is the 
defendant in an action and the probability that the Bank will lose 
the action is presumed to be greater than 50 %. Provisions include 
only payments for probable liability for damages and fines as well 
as costs of litigation at the current level of appeal. The general 
measurement rules on provisions apply. The mandatory disclo-
sures defined in IAS 37.86 are made for litigation risks that are not 
considered likely to arise, but which cannot be entirely excluded. 

Under Provisions for personnel expenses, in general all out-
standing benefits within the personnel expenses are presented 
with the exception of pension obligations. In the HSH Nordbank, 
these are in particular provisions for variable performance-related 
pay, anniversary payments, partial retirement and long-term cred-
its for hours. Provisions for anniversary payments and partial  
retirement are accounted for based on actuarial expert reports.  

In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are mainly determined 
based on the best estimate of management. The most likely 
amount necessary to meet the obligations identifiable on the  
reporting date is recognised. Long-term provisions are reported at 
present value to the extent discounting effects are significant. For 
discounting purposes, interest rates that are valid on the reporting 
date and are term-appropriate are used based on risk-free interest 
curves. Addition of accrued interest to be performed during the 
reporting year is reported under Net interest income. 
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6. Income taxes 

Current tax assets and liabilities are stated at the amount of the an-
ticipated refund from, or payment to, the tax authorities, applying 
the tax provisions of the countries in question. 

Deferred tax assets are created for all deductible timing differences 
between the value of an asset or liability as measured by IFRS 
standards and its assigned value in tax terms, provided it is prob-
able that taxable income will be available against which such dif-
ferences can be utilised. Deferred tax liabilities are created for all 
taxable temporary differences. Deferred taxes on tax loss carry-
forwards are stated as the amount likely to be used in future. De-
ferred taxes are calculated using the tax rates and rules anticipated 
to be valid at the time when the deferred tax assets are to be real-
ised. The effects of tax rate changes on deferred taxes are taken 
into account on adoption of the legislative amendment. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised and measured as deferred income tax 
claims and deferred tax liabilities as deferred income tax liabilities. 

HSH Nordbank prepares tax results planning for the purpose of 
assessing deferred tax asset impairment. 

Expenses and income from deferred taxes are in principle recog-
nised on an accrual basis in the statement of income under In-
come taxes, separate from actual tax expenses and income. In do-
ing so, the accounting treatment of the underlying situation is 
taken into account. Deferred taxes are recognised in the statement 
of income if the item in the statement of financial position itself is 
recognised in profit or loss. Deferred taxes are charged or credited 
directly to equity in OCI, if the underlying item itself is charged or 
credited directly to equity (IAS 12.61A). 

At each reporting date HSH Nordbank makes an assessment as to 
whether the realisation of future tax benefits is sufficiently prob-
able to recognise deferred tax assets. Amongst other things, this 
requires a management assessment of the tax benefits that arise 
from the existing tax strategies and future taxable income as well 
as the consideration of other positive and negative factors. The de-
ferred tax assets disclosed could decrease, if the estimates of the 
planned taxable income and the tax benefits achievable under the 
existing tax strategies are revised downwards or if changes to cur-
rent tax legislation restrict the timing and extent of the realisability 
of future tax benefits. 

 

7. Other assets and other liabilities 

All remaining assets and liabilities not allocable to any other item 
are stated under Other assets or Other liabilities. These include ac-
crued expenses and income amongst other things. 

The general recognition and measurement criteria for assets are 
observed. Initial recognition is at cost. For financial instruments 
included in this item the provisions of IAS 39 apply. 

IV. Leasing transactions 

Pursuant to IAS 17, the term “lease” refers to the transfer of use for an 
agreed period in return for a fee. A distinction is made between fi-
nance and operating leases. The allocation depends on whether sub-
stantially all risks and rewards are transferred to the lessee or not. 

A finance lease is considered to be present where the economic risks 
and rewards as defined by IAS 17 lie with the lessee; consequently, the 
leased asset is reported in the latter’s statement of financial position. 
All other leasing arrangements are classified as operating leases. The 
classification is made at the beginning of each lease. 

1. Finance leases 

In the case of finance leases, HSH Nordbank acts solely as lessor 
and recognises a receivable in the amount of the net investment 
value either under Loans and advances to banks or Loans and ad-
vances to customers, depending on the lessee.  

Leasing rates due are divided into a repayment part which is not 
recognised in profit or loss and an interest part which is. The part 
taken to profit or loss is recognised in Net interest income. 

Impairments of finance lease receivables attributable to changes in 
credit risk are recognised in Loan loss provisions. Impairments not 
attributable to changes in credit risk, such as the impairment of the 
non-guaranteed residual value of a leasing receivable, are recog-
nised in other operating expense. 
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2. Operating leases 

As lessor HSH Nordbank states leasing objects as assets measured 
at amortised cost under Property, plant and equipment or as  
Investment property.  

Leasing instalments received are stated under Other operating in-
come, and the corresponding depreciation stated in Administra-
tion expenses. 

V. Currency translation 

The Group financial statements of HSH Nordbank are drawn up in 
euros. The euro is the functional currency of the overwhelming ma-
jority of the individual financial statements included in the Group 
financial statements. However some Group companies have another 
functional currency. 

The following principles are applied when translating foreign cur-
rency items within single entity financial statements and for translat-
ing the financial statements of Group companies which do not draw 
up their accounts in euro. 

1. Presentation of foreign currency transactions in the Group  
financial statements 

Initial measurement of assets and liabilities from all foreign cur-
rency transactions takes place at the spot rate for the transaction. 

In subsequent measurement, monetary items are translated based 
on the spot mid-rate as of the reporting date. Non-monetary items 
that are stated in the statement of financial position at fair value 
are translated using the spot mid-rate applicable at the time of 
measurement and any other non-monetary items at the historical 
rate. 

Expenses and income in foreign currency arising from the meas-
urement of items in the statement of financial position are trans-
lated using the rates applied for translating the items in question. 
The transaction rates are used for all other expenses and income. 

For monetary and non-monetary items measured at fair value, 
currency translation differences are always recognised in the 
statement of income of the period when the result arose. An ex-
ception are currency translation gains and losses from the meas-
urement of non-monetary AfS financial instruments recognised at 
fair value, which are recognised in OCI.  

2. Translation of financial statements prepared in foreign currency 
for inclusion in the Group financial statements 

Assets and liabilities from financial statements denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the period-end rate. Average 
rates for the reporting period are used to translate expenses and 
income. With the exception of the revaluation reserve reported to 
be included in the financial statements, which is translated at the 
closing rate, equity is translated at historic rates (date of the trans-
action). 

Any differences arising from this method of translation are re-
ported under OCI and under Equity in the Currency reserve. 
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NOTES ON THE GROUP STATEMENT OF INCOME 

8. NET INTEREST INCOME

NET INTEREST INCOME 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Interest income from     

Lending and money market transactions 1,030 1,245 

Fixed-interest securities 215 259 

Trading transactions 4 5 

Derivative financial instruments 1,420 1,624 

Unwinding 94 162 

Sale of promissory note loans  299 142 

Current income from     

Equities and other non-fixed-interest 
securities 7 8 

Equity holdings in non-affiliated 
companies 15 17 

Other holdings 2 4 

Interest income 3,086 3,466

of which attributable to financial  
instruments not classified as HfT or DFV 1,398 1,561 

Negative interest resulting from     

Lending and money market transactions – 30 – 13 

Derivative financial instruments – 275 – 178 

Negative interest – 305 – 191

Interest expenses for     

Liabilities to banks 118 148 

Liabilities to customers  423 472 

Securitised liabilities 220 299 

Subordinated capital 17 25 

Trading transactions 1 0 

Other liabilities 18 24 

Sale of promissory note loans  1 11 

Derivative financial instruments 1,404 1,754 

Interest expenses 2,202 2,733

of which attributable to financial  
instruments not classified as HfT or DFV 490 571 

Positive interest for     

Liabilities to banks – 8 – 2 

Liabilities to customers  – 14 – 6 

Derivative financial instruments – 274 – 175 

Positive interest – 296 – 183

Net income from re-estimating interest and  
repayment cash flows 413 – 

Net income from discounting and 
compounding – 109 – 118 

Net loss from hybrid financial 
instruments 304 – 118

of which attributable to financial  
instruments not classified as HfT or DFV  304 – 118 

Total 1,179 607
  
   
  

 

Interest income and expenses relating to trading and hedging deriva-
tives are disclosed under interest income and expense from/for trad-
ing and hedging derivatives. 

Net interest income includes income and expenses arising from the 
amortisation of the adjustment items for portfolio fair value hedge 
relationships and corresponding proceeds from the closing of the 
underlying transactions which contributed to the adjustment item. 

The net interest income from impaired loans and advances is deter-
mined by compounding the present value of the expected payment 
flows at the original effective rate of interest (unwinding). 

The term hybrid financial instruments covers silent participations, 
profit participation capital and bonds measured at amortised cost, the 
return on which is profit-related and which participate in the net loss 
for the year and accumulated losses of the Bank. 

The total of current participation in losses (not allowing for reversals 
of impairment losses) relating to the 2017 financial year was 
€ 285 million (previous year: € 0 million). 

Net income or loss from hybrid financial instruments includes both 
the effects on profit/loss resulting from the application of IAS 39.A8 as 
well as the current interest income from the instruments that fall 
under the scope of application of this standard. 

The cumulative net income from hybrid financial instruments 
amounts to € 647 million as at 31 December 2017 (previous year: 
€ 343 million). € 2,057 million is attributable to the result from re-
estimating interest and principal repayment flows (previous year: 
€ 1,644 million) and € – 1,410 million is attributable to the in-
come/loss from discounting and compounding (previous year:  
 € – 1,301 million). 

The difference between the valuation for tax purposes and measure-
ment under IAS 39.A8 results in deferred tax assets of € 7 million 
(previous year: € 15 million). 
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9. NET COMMISSION INCOME 

NET COMMISSION INCOME  
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Commission income from      

Lending business 53 52 

Securities business 7 10 

Guarantee business 10 15 

Payments and account transactions as 
well as documentary business 25 25 

Other commission income 12 13 

Commission income 107 115

Commission expense from      

Lending business 3 4 

Securities business 3 6 

Guarantee business 27 5 

Payments and account transactions as 
well as documentary business 6 5 

Other commission expenses 3 8 

Commission expenses 42 28

Total 65 87
   
   
   

 
Financial instruments not classified as HfT or DFV accounted for 
€ 68 million (previous year: € 87 million) of Net commission income. 

The premium expense resulting from the synthetic securitisation 
transaction (see Note 3 II) is reported under Net commission expense 
of guarantee business in the amount of € 25.9 million. 

 

 
 
10. RESULT FROM HEDGING 

The change in value attributable to the hedged risk for designated 
underlying and hedging transactions in effective hedging relationships 
is reported under the item Result from hedging. The item contains the 
corresponding profit contributions from portfolio fair value hedges as 
well as from micro fair value hedges in the previous year. Hedge ac-
counting is used solely for interest rate risks. 

RESULT FROM HEDGING 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Fair value changes from hedging 
transactions – 54 – 15 

Micro fair value hedge – – 16 

Portfolio fair value hedge – 54 1 

Fair value changes from underlyings 36 11 

Micro fair value hedge – 16 

Portfolio fair value hedge 36 – 5 

Total – 18 – 4
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11. NET TRADING INCOME 

Net trading income comprises realised gains and losses and meas-
urement gains and losses on financial instruments classified as HfT 
and DFV. Interest income and expense for financial instruments in 
these categories are disclosed in Net interest income.  

Gains and losses arising on currency translation are generally dis-
closed in this statement of income line item. The results from the 
translation of loan loss provisions denominated in foreign currency 
are disclosed in the loan loss provisions. 

Other products comprises the income from foreign exchange transac-
tions, credit derivatives and commodities. 

NET TRADING INCOME 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Bonds and interest rate derivatives     

HfT 173 10 

DFV 19 96 

Total 192 106

Equities and equity derivatives     

HfT – – 2 

DFV – 1 – 4 

Total – 1 – 6

Other products     

HfT 63 – 11 

DFV – – 1 

Total 63 – 12

Total  254 88
  
   
  

 

Net trading income includes net income from foreign currency of 
€ 76 million (previous year: € – 6 million). 

During the reporting period € 13 million (previous year:  
€ – 18 million)) of the changes in fair value of the financial assets 
categorised as DFV related to changes in the credit spread rather 
changes in market interest rates. In cumulative terms, a total of 
€ 3 million (previous year: € – 25 million) is attributable to changes in 
the credit spread. 

Since 1 January 2017, changes in value related to changes in the credit 
spread rather than to market interest rate changes for liabilities in the 
category DFV have been reported in Other comprehensive income 
(OCI). This is due to the early application of IFRS 9 for credit risk-
induced fair value changes in the Bank’s own liabilities (see Note 1, 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments). In the previous year, € 9 million 
(€ 13 million in cumulative terms) was reported under Net trading 
income.  
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12. NET INCOME FROM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 

In addition to any realised gains and losses from financial investments 
classified as loans and receivables (LaR) and available for sale (AfS), 
write-downs and write-ups and general loan loss provisions are re-
ported under this item. In the case of financial investments classified 
as AfS, write-ups are only recognised in the statement of income for 
debt instruments up to a maximum of the amortised cost. 

NET INCOME FROM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Classified as AfS     

+ Realised gains/losses (–) 82 69 

– Write-downs 68 44 

+ Write-ups – – 

Total 14 25

Classified as LaR     

+ Realised gains/losses (–) 28 41 

– Write-downs 1 6 

+ Write-ups 45 77 

Total 72 112

+ Reversal of general loan loss  
provisions (LaR portfolios) 4 3 

Total 4 3

Total 90 140
  
   
  

 

In the year under review, equity instruments classified as AfS not 
measured at fair value with a carrying amount of € 43 million  
(previous year: € 26 million) were disposed of. This did not result in 
any realised income, as was already the case in the previous year.  

Remaining instruments of this kind were written down by € 0 million 
(previous year: € 3 million). 

 
 

 

13. NET INCOME FROM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD 

As at 31 December 2017, HSH Nordbank does not hold any shares in 
companies that are included in the Group financial statements under 
the equity method (previous year: one associate and one joint venture). 
For information on this development, please refer to Note 5. 

The pro rata net income assigned to the Group from financial invest-
ments accounted for under the equity method as at 31 December 2017 
is summed up below: 

NET INCOME FROM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED 

FOR UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Pro rata net income for the period 2 3 

Total 2 3
   
      

      
 
 
 

Net income from financial investments accounted for under the 
equity method is disclosed in the segment report as a part of Net 
income from financial investments. The main net income from  
financial investments accounted for under the equity method is 
shown under the Non-Core Bank segment. This relates to First Ship 
Lease Trust up until its reclassification as held for sale (see Note 5).  
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14. LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS IN THE LENDING BUSINESS 

LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS IN THE LENDING BUSINESS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

– Expense from additions to loan loss 
provisions 2,307 2,621 

+ Income from the reversal of loan 
loss provisions 764 1,178 

Result from changes in loan loss 
provisions – 1,543 – 1,443

– Expenses from allocations to 
provisions in the lending business 46 75 

+ Income from reversals of provisions 
in the lending business 83 67 

Result from changes to 
provisions in the lending 
business 37 – 8

– Direct write-downs 49 187 

+ Payments received on loans and 
advances previously written down 153 61 

Result from other changes to 
loan loss provisions 104 – 126

Result from changes in loan loss 
provisions before currency 
translation gains or losses and 
compensation – 1,402 – 1,577

Currency translation gains or 
losses on loan loss provisions 
denominated in foreign currency 44 – 76

Compensation under the second 
loss guarantee  – 728 2,284

Total loan loss provisions in the 
lending business – 2,086 631
  
      
    

 

With regard to the compensation item related to the second loss 
guarantee, please refer to Note 3. 

Direct write-downs of € 49 million (previous year: € 187 million) 
relate entirely to Loans and advances to customers. 

Loan loss provisions in on-balance-sheet lending business relate 
exclusively to loans and advances classified as LaR. The following table 
shows the net changes: 

NET CHANGES IN LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS IN THE LENDING 

BUSINESS 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Specific loan loss provisions – 1,771 – 1,682 

General loan loss provisions 228 239 

Net change in loan loss provisions 
in the lending business – 1.543 – 1,443

Provisions for specific risks 2 – 16 

Provisions for portfolio risks 35 8 

Net change in provisions in the 
lending business 37 – 8
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15. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Personnel expenses 230 256 

Operating expenses 249 278 

Depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment and amortisation on 
intangible assets 36 100 

Total 515 634
  
   
  

 
 
PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Wages and salaries 180 209 

Social security contributions 28 31 

of which employer contributions to 
government-sponsored pension plans 14 15 

Expenses for pensions and support 22 16 

Total 230 256
  
    
   

 
 
Please refer to Note 43 for detailed information on expenses for pen-
sions and support as well as expenses for defined contribution plans. 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

IT costs 93 106 

Costs for external services and project 
work 52 62 

Legal service costs 41 42 

Expenses for land and buildings 12 13 

Obligatory contributions and expenses 
related to corporate law 8 10 

Costs of advertising, PR and 
promotional work 5 6 

Expenses on plant and equipment 1 1 

Other expenses 37 38 

Total 249 278
  
   
  

 
 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment and amortisation on 
intangible assets are broken down as follows: 

DEPRECIATION 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Scheduled depreciation on     

Plant and equipment 3 3 

Property 3 3 

Acquired software 3 3 

Software developed in-house 2 3 

Leasing assets – 20 

Technical equipment and machinery – 2 

Unscheduled depreciation on     

Property – 4 

Leasing assets – 33 

Technical equipment and machinery – 29 

Non-current assets held for sale and 
disposal groups 25 – 

Total 36 100
  

   
  

 
 
Of the scheduled depreciation on property € 0 million (previous year: 
€ 1 million) related to investment property.  

The unscheduled depreciation on Assets held for sale was recognised 
for assets that form part of a disposal group. Further information in 
this regard can be found in Note 33. 

The total unscheduled depreciations are attributable to the Non-Core 
Bank segment. 
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16. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Income     

from reversal of other provisions and 
release of liabilities 34 25 

from cost allocations and refunds of 
expenses 38 34 

from leasing transactions 25 41 

from single-ship companies (charter 
rates) 18 – 

from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 11 2 

from the write-up of property, plant 
and equipment 9 – 

from legal disputes 5 33 

from the reversal of provisions for 
processing fees in the lending 
business 2 2 

from interest on receivables from the 
tax office 1 11 

from investment property (rental 
income) – 5 

 Other income 46 33 

Total income 189 186

Expenses     

from additions to other provisions 71 16 

from the disposal of receivables 25 – 

for interest expenses pursuant to 
Section 233 AO 11 14 

from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 10 1 

for investment property 3 7 

 Other expenses 45 67 

Total expenses 165 105

Income/loss arising on the 
deconsolidation of companies – 2 – 23 

Total 22 58
  
   
  

 

 

With regard to the income or loss arising from the deconsolidation of 
companies, please refer to our explanations in Note 5.  
 
The other income includes € 7 million in income from the initial 
consolidation of single-ship companies (see Note 5). 
 
 
 

17. EXPENSES FOR BANK LEVY AND DEPOSIT GUARANTEE FUND 

EXPENSES FOR BANK LEVY AND DEPOSIT GUARANTEE FUND 
  

(€ m)  2017  2016 

Expenses for European bank levy and 
deposit guarantee 41 56 

Total 41 56
  
   
  

 

The expenses for the bank levy were recognised in full at the begin-
ning of the year.  
 
The expense for the deposit guarantee of the German Savings Bank 
Finance Group (Sparkassen Finanzgruppe) is also disclosed under this 
item. The contribution was levied based on the Deposit Guarantee Act 
(Einlagensicherungsgesetz). 
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18. NET INCOME FROM RESTRUCTURING AND PRIVATISATION  

NET INCOME FROM RESTRUCTURING AND PRIVATISATION 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Personnel expenses due to restructuring – 63 

Operating expenses due to restructuring 25 52 

Income largely from reversals of 
provisions for restructuring 11 8 

Net income from restructuring – 14 – 107

Expenses from privatisation 52 3 

Net income from restructuring 
and privatisation  – 66 – 110
  
   
  

 

The programmes for the reduction of operating and personnel ex-
penses initiated in 2014 and 2016  continued during the year under 
review. In particular, general and administrative expenses were in-
curred, largely relating to the implementation of defined cost-cutting 
measures within IT projects. The expenses associated with the privati-
sation of HSH Nordbank are also reported under Net income from 
restructuring and privatisation. The privatisation expenses during the 
reporting period relate primarily to external project support and legal 
advice relating to the preparations for privatisation. 
 
 

 
 
19. EXPENSES FOR GOVERNMENT GUARANTEES 

EXPENSES FOR GOVERNMENT GUARANTEES 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

HSH Finanzfonds AöR 149 214 

Total 149 214
   
   
   

 

In June 2013, the guarantee granted by the Federal State of Schleswig-
Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg was replen-
ished to € 10 billion. An amount € 22 million of the one-off payment 
for the replenishment of the second loss guarantee was recognised on 
a pro rata temporis basis in the previous year. The share of the pre-
mium relating to partial guarantee Two (CDS) is disclosed under the 
line item Hedging effect of the credit derivative in the amount of 
€ 5 million (previous year: € 12 million). The drop in expenses is due 
to the increased utilisation of the guarantee in connection with the 
agreement that guarantee premiums are only payable on the non-
utilised portion of the guarantee (see Note 3). 
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20. INCOME TAXES 

INCOME TAXES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Corporate tax and solidarity surcharge     

Domestic 22 20 

Foreign – – 

Trade income tax     

Domestic 20 19 

Current income taxes 42 39

Income tax from previous years 5 6 

Subtotal current income tax 47 45

Income from deferred tax     

from temporary differences – 53 4 

from losses carried forward 83 4 

from consolidation – 2 – 1 

Subtotal deferred income tax 28 7

Income tax expense (+)/ 
income (–) 75 52
  
   
  

 

A write-down of € 265 million of deferred tax assets recognised on 
temporary differences was required due to the lack of recoverability. 

The possibility of using existing tax loss carryforwards in the head 
office is reduced in the future by the expected privatisation. As a result, 
no deferred tax assets were recognised on tax loss carryforwards. 

Deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards are measured on the basis of 
a recoverability analysis, which is based on the corporate plan.  

In the reporting year, the expenses with regard to deferred taxes on 
loss carryforwards essentially relate to the New York branch, because 
the deferred tax liabilities on the basis of which the deferred tax assets 
on loss carryforwards were originally set up declined considerably. 

RECONCILIATION INCOME TAXES 
 

(€ m / %) 2017 2016 

Group net result – 528 69 

Income tax expense 75 52 

Income before taxes incl. income from 
transfer of losses – 453 121 

Domestic income tax rate to be applied 
(in %) 31.97 31.67 

Imputed income tax expenses  
in the financial year – 145 38

Tax effects due to     

appreciation/depreciation of 
deferred taxes on losses carried 
forward – 64 – 67 

differing effective tax rates in 
Germany and abroad – 21 – 

non-deductible expenses  54 39 

corrections to trade taxes – 9 – 

changes in tax rate – 7 – 

Taxes for previous years 3 6 

Tax-free income – 1 – 5 

Appreciation/depreciation of deferred 
taxes on temporary differences and 
miscellaneous 265 41 

Total tax expense (+)/income (–) 75 52
 

   
 

 

The tax expense consists primarily of current income taxes for the 
2017 financial year and expense resulting from the increase in provi-
sions for tax risks due to changes in the risk assessment as a result of 
findings from the ongoing tax audit. The change in income tax ex-
pense for previous years is largely based on the adjustment of tax loan 
loss provisions at head office. 

In calculating taxes for 2017, a rate of 31.97 % (previous year: 31.67 %) 
was used for domestic taxes. 
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The main effects in the reconciliation of the notional to the actual tax 
expense include the write-down of deferred taxes on temporary dif-
ferences in the financial year in an amount of € 265 million, as well as 
a reduction in the tax expense due to utilisation of loss carryforwards 
for which no deferred tax assets had been recognised to date 
(€ 64 million). This use of loss carryforwards that had not been de-
ferred to date related mainly to the head office and the Luxembourg 

branch and is mainly attributable to the increase in income due to the 
non-recognition, for tax purposes, of loan loss provisions set up in the 
financial year.  

In addition, there were material reconciliation effects resulting from 
non-tax-deductible expenses, trade tax corrections and different 
effective tax rates for foreign Group units.

 
 
 
21. NET GAINS AND LOSSES FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Net gains and losses from financial instruments include both realised 
gains and measurement gains within Net trading income and Net 
income from financial investments, the hedging effect of the credit 
derivative under the second loss guarantee as well as loan loss provi-
sions with regard to credit business shown on the statement of finan-
cial position, broken down into IAS 39 categories. Neither Net interest 
nor Net commission income is included in this item. 

NET GAINS AND LOSSES FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

DFV 18 91 

AfS 14 25 

LaR – 2,047 754 

HfT 1,046 – 478 

Total – 969 392
   
   
   

 

Derecognition of the fair value changes cumulated in equity associ-
ated with value adjustments and sales of financial instruments catego-
rised as AfS is shown in Note 49.  
 
The change in IAS 39 category for LaR portfolios is due to the change 
in the loan loss provisions. The increase in the HfT category is the 
result of the increase in the hedging effect of the credit derivative. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
22. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

For the calculation of Earnings per share, the Group net result attrib-
utable to HSH Nordbank shareholders is divided by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year under 
review. As in the previous year, HSH Nordbank AG has not issued any 
issued any diluted forms of capital as at 31 December 2017, i.e. the 
diluted and undiluted earnings are the same. The calculation was 
based on non-rounded values. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
  

 2017 2016 

Attributable Group net result (€ m) – 
undiluted/diluted – 535 67 

      

Number of shares (millions)    

Average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding – undiluted/diluted 302 302 

      

Earnings per share (€)    

Undiluted – 1.77 0.22 

Diluted – 1.77 0.22 
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NOTES ON THE GROUP STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

23. CASH RESERVE 

CASH RESERVE 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Cash on hand 4 5 

Balances at central banks 6,515 3,368 

of which at the Deutsche Bundesbank 6,499 3,342 

Treasury bills, discounted treasury notes 
and similar debt instruments issued by 
public-sector institutions 106 118 

Total 6,625 3,491
  
   
  

 
 
 
24. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS 

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

 Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total 

Payable on demand 582 1,333 1,915 694 2,257 2,951 

Other loans and advances 1,773 150 1,923 1,164 77 1,241 

Total before loan loss provisions 2,355 1,483 3,838 1,858 2,334 4,192

Loan loss provisions – 1 1 – 1 1 

Total after loan loss provisions 2,355 1,482 3,837 1,858 2,333 4,191
  
       
  

 

€ 222 million (previous year: € 245 million) of Loans and advances to 
banks have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

Loans and advances to banks include money market transactions in 
the amount of € 2,317 million (previous year: € 3,268 million). 

Information on collateral transferred which also contains information 
regarding securities lending and repurchase agreements can be found 
in Note 63. 
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25. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 
    

(€ m) 2017 2016 

 Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total 

Retail customers 651 36 687 963 38 1,001 

Corporate clients 18,424 16,152 34,576 22,802 22,103 44,905 

Public authorities 3,752 159 3,911 4,530 474 5,004 

Total before loan loss provisions 22,827 16,347 39,174 28,295 22,615 50,910

Loan loss provisions 1,952 2,541 4,493 3,321 3,157 6,478 

Total after loan loss provisions 20,875 13,806 34,681 24,974 19,458 44,432
   
       
    

 

Of Loans and advances to customers, holdings of € 25,420 million 
(previous year: € 31,119 million) have a residual maturity of more 
than one year.  

Loans and advances to customers include money market transactions 
in the amount of € 982 million (previous year: € 1,508 million). 

Loans and advances to customers include receivables under finance 
lease transactions in the amount of € 76 million (previous year: 
€ 98 million). The gross investment value of the leasing transactions is 
€ 82 million (previous year: € 105 million). Further details on leasing 
transactions can be found in Note 62. 

Information on collateral transferred which also contains information 
regarding securities lending and repurchase agreements can be found 
in Note 63. 
 
 

 
 

26. LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS 

LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Loan loss provisions for loans and 
advances to banks 1 1 

Loan loss provisions for loans and 
advances to customers and non-current 
assets held for sale and disposal groups 4,493 6,711 

Loan loss provisions in the 
lending business 4,494 6,712

Compensation under the second loss 
guarantee  – 5,181 – 7854 

Loan loss provisions for items  
in the statement of  
financial position – 687 – 1,142

Provisions in the lending business 67 110 

Loan loss provisions for items in 
the statement of financial 
position and off-balance-sheet 
risk in the lending business – 620 – 1,032
  
   
  

 
 

The specific and general loan loss provisions are determined at first 
without taking the hedging effect of the guarantee received into ac-
count. The hedging effect is then mapped in the statement of financial 
position through the recognition of a compensation item, which 
directly reduces loan loss provisions (see Note 3). Impairment losses 
of € 0 million (previous year: € 233 million) are attributable to the 
Non-current assets held for sale line and disposal groups item in the 
statement of financial position.  

The compensation item also includes compensatory claims against the 
guarantor HSH Finanzfonds AöR resulting from settled losses for 
transactions for which loan loss provisions had already been recog-
nised. 

This means that there is still an overcompensation of the loan loss 
provisions as at 31 December 2017.  

When calculating the loan loss provisions for the credit portfolio that 
was sold on 28 February 2018, which has a volume of € 6.3 billion 
(EaD), the probable purchase price shares attributed to the individual 
sold assets were taken into account as expected cash flows at the 
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expected closing date. In order to confirm that the portfolio transac-
tion was consistent with the arm’s length principle, the Management 
Board of HSH Nordbank AG obtained a valuation report as well as a 
fairness opinion. The valuation report, which was prepared by an 
internationally recognised auditing company in accordance with 
professional standard IDW S 1, was also used for the allocation of the 
purchase price for the overall portfolio to the individual assets. 

The development of loan loss provisions for banks during the period 
under review was as follows: 

 

DEVELOPMENT OF LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS FOR LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS BEFORE COMPENSATION 
   

(€ m) Specific loan loss provisions General loan loss provisions Total 

  2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

As at 1 January  – 14 1 1 1 15

Additions – – – – – – 

Reversals – – – – – – 

Utilisation – 14 – – – 14 

As at 31 December  – – 1 1 1 1
   
              
      

 
 
The development of loan loss provisions for customers during the 
period under review was as follows: 

DEVELOPMENT OF LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS FOR LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR 

SALE AND DISPOSAL GROUPS BEFORE COMPENSATION 
   

(€ m) Specific loan loss provisions General loan loss provisions Total 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

As at 1 January  6,336 7,601 375 611 6,711 8,212

Additions 2,307 2,590 – 31 2,307 2,621 

Reversals 536 908 228 270 764 1,178 

Utilisation 3,093 2,864 – – 3,093 2,864 

Other changes – – 7 – – – – 7 

Reclassifications – – – – – – 

Unwinding – 94 – 162 – – – 94 – 162 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – 13 6 – – – 13 6 

Exchange rate changes – 552 80 – 9 3 – 561 83 

As at 31 December  4,355 6,336 138 375 4,493 6,711
   
       
   

 
 
The other changes in 2016 are attributable to the extension of the 
scope of consolidation due to the initial consolidation of a subsidiary 
that was previously considered immaterial (see Note 5). The changes 
in holdings due to the exchange rate are due to the significant propor-
tion of impairment allowances in USD. The EUR/USD exchange rate 
had changed in favour of the EUR as against 31 December 2016  
(+ 14 %). 

The loan loss provisions relate exclusively to items categorised as 
Loans and Receivables (LaR). The total volume of loans impaired 
amounts to € 6,813 million (previous year: € 10,541 million), of which 
€ 0 million relates to receivables disclosed under the line item Non-
current assets held for sale and disposal groups (previous year: 
€ 233 million). 
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27. POSITIVE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGING DERIVATIVES 

The positive fair value of derivatives used in hedge accounting is 
accounted for in this item. Only interest rate and cross currency inter-
est rate swaps are taken into account as hedging instruments currently. 
If a derivative is only partially designated under hedge accounting, 
this item contains the corresponding share of that derivative’s fair 
value. In these cases, the remainder is stated under Trading assets. 
Hedge accounting is used solely for interest rate risks. 

POSITIVE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGING DERIVATIVES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Positive fair value of derivativesused in 
portfolio fair value hedges 264 508 

Total 264 508
  
   
  

 
 
Of hedging derivatives, holdings of € 255 million (previous year: 
€ 477 million) have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

Changes in this item are directly related to changes in the item Nega-
tive fair value of the hedging derivatives. The overall changes in this 
item are mainly due to changes in the portfolio compositions and 
movements in interest rates in the euro and US dollar capital markets. 

 

 
 



GROUP EXPLANATORY NOTES     GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 159
 

 

28. TRADING ASSETS 

Only financial assets classified as HfT are stated under Trading assets. 
Mainly included in this category are original financial instruments 
held for trading purposes, including accrued interest, and derivatives 
with a positive fair value which are either not designated as a hedge 
derivative or are used as hedging instruments but do not meet the 
requirements of IAS 39 for hedge accounting.  

TRADING ASSETS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Bonds and debentures    

from public-sector issuers 42 277 

negotiable and listed 42 277 

from other issuers 159 181 

negotiable and listed 156 142 

negotiable and not listed 3 39 

Debentures and other  
fixed-interest securities  201 458

Positive fair value of financial 
derivatives    

Interest rate-related transactions 2,990 4,340 

Currency-related business 72 137 

Other business 358 466 

Positive fair value of  
financial derivatives  3,420 4,943

Other, including promissory notes held 
for trading 13 23 

Receivables from syndication 
transactions 7 9 

Total 3,641 5,433
  
   
  

 

Trading assets of € 3,313 million (previous year: € 4,930 million) have 
a residual maturity of more than one year.  

Information on collateral transferred which also contains information 
regarding securities lending and repurchase agreements can be found 
in Note 63. 
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29. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 

Disclosed as financial investments are, specifically, financial instru-
ments not held for trading purposes classified as AfS and LaR and, to 
a lesser extent, as DFV. This item includes bonds and other fixed-
interest securities, equities and other non-fixed-interest securities, 
holdings in unconsolidated affiliated companies, holdings in joint 
ventures and associates not carried at equity in the Group financial 
statements. 

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Debentures and other fixed-interest 
securities 13,545 15,203 

negotiable and listed 12,704 13,946 

negotiable and not listed 841 1,257 

Shares and other non-fixed-interest 
securities 51 170 

negotiable and listed 5 6 

negotiable and not listed 10 37 

Equity holdings in non-affiliated 
companies 50 119 

negotiable and listed 1 43 

negotiable and not listed 6 5 

Interests in affiliated companies 1 1 

negotiable and listed – – 

negotiable and not listed – – 

Total 13,647 15,493
  
   
  

 

Financial investments of € 11,076 million (previous year: 
€ 14,119 million) have a residual maturity of more than one year.  

Write-downs on debentures and other fixed-interest securities 
amount to € 2 million (previous year: € 162 million), on shares and 
other non-fixed-interest securities they amount to € 78 million as at 
the reporting date (previous year: € 18 million). 

General loan loss provisions amount to € 2 million (previous year: 
€ 7 million). 

Changes in specific and general loan loss provisions are recognised in 
Net income from financial investments.  

This portfolio also contains shares and other non-fixed-interest secu-
rities measured at cost of € 0 million (previous year: € 125 million). 
Equity capital instruments accounted for at cost that relate to interests 
in affiliated companies and equity holdings in non-affiliated compa-
nies amount to € 0 million (previous year: € 78 million). 

Information on collateral transferred which also contains information 
regarding securities lending and repurchase agreements can be found 
in Note 63.  
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Developments with regard to equity holdings and interests in affiliated 
companies are presented below: 

 

DEVELOPMENT IN EQUITY HOLDINGS AND INTERESTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES 
  

(€ m) 
 
 
2017 

Equity 
holdings in 

non-affiliated 
companies 

Interests in 
affiliated 

companies Total

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2017 223 3 226

Additions 10 – 10 

Disposals 100 – 100 

Reclassifications – – – 

Exchange rate changes – – – 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – 

As at 31 December 2017 133 3 136

Amortisation as at 1 January 2017 104 2 106

Additions 2 – 2 

Disposals 45 – 45 

Reclassifications – – – 

Change in measurement recognised directly in equity 22 – 22 

Exchange rate changes – – – 

As at 31 December 2017 83 2 85

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 50 1 51

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2017 119 1 120
  
    
  

 
 
DEVELOPMENT IN EQUITY HOLDINGS AND INTERESTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES 
  

(€ m) 
 
 
2016 

Equity 
holdings in 

non-affiliated 
companies 

Interests in 
affiliated 

companies Total 

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2016 245 2 247

Additions 15 1 16 

Disposals 11 – 11 

Reclassifications – 26 – – 26 

Exchange rate changes – – – 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – 

As at 31 December 2016 223 3 226

Amortisation as at 1 January 2016 121 2 123

Additions 11 – 11 

Disposals – – – 

Reclassifications – 8 – – 8 

Change in measurement recognised directly in equity – 20 – – 20 

Exchange rate changes – – – 

As at 31 December 2016 104 2 106

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 119 1 120

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2016 124 – 124
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30. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD 

Shares in associates and joint ventures included in the Group financial 
statements under the equity method are disclosed in this line item. 

As at the reporting date of 31 December 2017, the HSH Nordbank 
Group does not hold any shares in companies that are included in the 
Group financial statements under the equity method (previous year: 
one associate and one joint venture). The carrying amount was 
€ 13 million as at 31 December 2016. 

An overview of and detailed information on the associates and joint 
ventures included in the Group financial statements are set out in 
Note 5. Net income from financial investments accounted for under 
the equity method is disclosed in Note 13. 

Please see Note 29 for a summary of financial information related to 
financial investments not accounted for under the equity method. 

 
 

31. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The Intangible assets item comprises software developed in-house or 
acquired. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Software 9 12 

developed in-house 3 5 

acquired 6 7 

Software in development 1 2 

acquired 1 2 

Total 10 14
  
   
  

 
 

 

Changes in the carrying amounts of intangible assets are shown below:   

DEVELOPMENT IN INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
    

(€ m)  Software Software in development  

2017 Goodwill 

Software 
developed 

in-house 
Acquired 
software 

Software 
developed  

in-house 
Acquired 
software Total

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2017 190 98 172 – 2 462

Additions – – 1 – – 1 

Disposals – – 1 – – 1 

Reclassifications – – 1 – – 1 – 

As at 31 December 2017 190 98 173 – 1 462

Amortisation as at 1 January 2017 190 93 165 – – 448

Additions – 2 3 – – 5 

Disposals – – 1 – – 1 

As at 31 December 2017 190 95 167 – – 452

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 – 3 6 – 1 10

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2017 – 5 7 – 2 14
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DEVELOPMENT IN INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
   

(€ m)  Software Software in development  

2016 Goodwill 

Software 
developed in-

house 
Acquired 
software 

Software 
developed in-

house 
Acquired 
software Total 

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2016 190 98 170 – – 458

Additions – – 2 – 2 4 

Disposals – – – – – – 

Reclassifications – – – – – – 

As at 31 December 2016 190 98 172 – 2 462

Amortisation as at 1 January 2016 190 90 162 – – 442

Additions – 3 3 – – 6 

Disposals – – – – – – 

As at 31 December 2016 190 93 165 – – 448

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 – 5 7 – 2 14

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2016 – 8 8 – – 16
   
       
   

 
 
As in the previous year, no research costs were incurred in the year 
under review in connection with the implementation of software 
developed in-house. 
 
 
 
32. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Land and buildings 219 222 

Plant and equipment 12 13 

Assets under construction 1 1 

Total 232 236
  
   
  

 
 
Under the item Investment property all property (land or buildings) is 
recorded that is held to earn rent or for capital appreciation but is not 
used in the production or supply of goods or services of the Bank. 

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Investment property 13 12 

Total 13 12
  
   
  

 
 

The fair value of investment property amounts to € 13 million (previ-
ous year: € 12 million). The fair values of investment property are 
allocated without exception to level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Mar-
ket-based and income-based valuation techniques are used to deter-
mine fair value. 
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The development in Property, plant and equipment and Investment 
properties in the financial year was as follows: 

 

DEVELOPMENT IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
    

(€ m) 
 
 
2017 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Assets under 
construction 

Investment 
property Leasing assets 

Technical 
equipment 

and 
machinery 

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2017 233 64 1 14 – –

Additions 2 1 – – – – 

Disposals – 1 – – – – 

Other changes – – – – – – 

Reclassifications – 3 – – 1 – – 

Exchange rate changes – – – – – – 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – – – – 

As at 31 December 2017 232 64 1 15 – –

Amortisation as at 1 January 2017 11 51 – 2 – –

Additions 2 3 – – – – 

Disposals – 2 – – – – 

Other changes – – – – – – 

Reclassifications – – – – – – 

Exchange rate changes – – – – – – 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – – – – 

As at 31 December 2017 13 52 – 2 – –

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 219 12 1 13 – –

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2017 222 13 1 12 – –
    
       
    

 
 
Land and buildings in the amount of € 3 million were reclassified as 
investment properties in the year under review.  

€ 2 million was reclassified from investment properties to non-current 
assets held for sale. These assets were sold in the year under review. 

Further details on depreciation are presented in Note 15. 
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DEVELOPMENT IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
   

(€ m) 
 
 
2016 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Assets under 
construction 

Investment 
property Leasing assets 

Technical 
equipment 

and 
machinery 

Acquisition costs as at 1 January 2016 222 63 7 106 325 148

Additions 6 2 – – 9 1 

Disposals – 2 – 4 78 – 

Other changes – – – – 77 – 

Reclassifications 5 1 – 6 – 57 – 344 – 152 

Exchange rate changes – – – – 11 3 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – – 31 – – 

As at 31 December 2016 233 64 1 14 – –

Amortisation as at 1 January 2016 9 50 – 42 162 70

Additions 2 3 – 5 53 31 

Disposals – 2 – 2 39 – 

Other changes – – – – 23 – 

Reclassifications – – – – 22 – 206 – 104 

Exchange rate changes – – – – 7 3 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – – 21 – – 

As at 31 December 2016 11 51 – 2 – –

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 222 13 1 12 – –

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2016 213 13 7 64 163 78
   
       
   

 
 
The other changes in the previous year are attributable to the exten-
sion of the scope of consolidation due to the initial consolidation of a 
subsidiary that was previously considered immaterial. 

Some items reported under assets under construction were reclassi-
fied as land and buildings and as plant and equipment.  

There were also reclassifications made from tangible assets to Non-
current assets held for sale. A total carrying amount of € 48 million 
was reclassified from technical equipment and machinery, with a total 
amount of € 138 million being reclassified from leasing assets.  

A total carrying amount of € 35 million was also transferred from 
Investment Properties to Non-current assets held for sale.  

The line item Investment property, under Changes in scope of con-
solidation, only includes disposals from the scope of consolidation. 
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33. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISPOSAL GROUPS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISPOSAL 

GROUPS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Loans and advances to banks 1 2 

Loans and advances to customers 12 1,133 

Financial investments – 18 

Property, plant and equipment 113 186 

Investment property – 34 

Other assets 13 9 

Total before loan loss provisions 139 1,382

Loan loss provisions – 233 

Total after loan loss provisions 139 1,149
  
   
  

 
 
As at 31 December 2016, this item largely included assets that were 
sold on the market as part of the implementation of the EU decision 
of 2 May 2016 (market portfolio). The market portfolio consisted of 
non-strategic loan portfolios in the LaR category which are to be 
allocated in full to the Non-Core Bank segment  As at 31 December 
2016, the market portfolio comprised the Aviation I, Aviation II, 
Continental European Commercial Real Estate, Energy and Interna-
tional Real Estate disposal groups. 

With the sale of the Continental European Commercial Real Estate 
disposal group in the first quarter of 2017, the Investment property in 
an amount of € 34 million reported under Non-current assets held for 
sale and disposal groups as at 31 December 2016, as well as loans and 
advances to customers in an amount of € 448 million were completely 
derecognised in 2017.  

The sale of the Energy disposal group was closed in the second quar-
ter of 2017. Within this context, property, plant and equipment in an 
amount of € 33 million and loans and advances to customers in an 
amount of € 147 million were derecognised. 

Loans and advances to customers in an amount of € 43 million, which 
were attributable to the International Real Estate disposal group, were 
also sold and derecognised in full in the third quarter of 2017. 

With the sale of the Aviation I disposal group, further loans and ad-
vances to customers in an amount of € 495 million were derecognised 
in the 2017 financial year. 

The Aviation II disposal group that existed as at 31 December 2016 
comprised loan receivables from six fully consolidated special purpose 
companies. The Group financial statements of HSH Nordbank recog-
nise the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries. The underlying loan 
receivables are eliminated in the Group financial statements as intra-
Group obligations. The sale plan as at 31 December 2016 provided for 

the sale of these loan receivables to a buyer (investor) as part of a 
portfolio deal. In accordance with the transaction structure, this loan 
portfolio sale was also to involve the transfer of property, plant and 
equipment (aircraft), other assets (cash accounts) and provisions held 
by the special purpose companies to the investor. This means that, as 
at 31 December 2016, these assets and liabilities held by the subsidiar-
ies were reported as held for sale. 

In the reporting year, there was a change in the sales plan relating to 
the former Aviation II disposal group. This change relates to the fact 
that the Bank is no longer pursuing the originally envisaged loan 
portfolio sale with the investor any further due to a failure to reach a 
commercial agreement, and now plans (as at 31 December 2017) to 
implement the NPE reduction that it is still planning to achieve in 
respect of these financing arrangements as part of an individual asset 
realisation structure. The transaction structure underlying the indi-
vidual asset realisation provides for the sale of the property, plant and 
equipment held by the subsidiaries in an amount of € 113 million 
within the next twelve months in order to repay the loan receivables to 
the greatest extent possible. Within this context (and as was also the 
case with the originally planned portfolio sale), the provisions and 
cash accounts of the special purpose companies are also to be trans-
ferred to the respective buyers of the aircraft. As a result of the 
amended sales plan, the former Aviation II disposal group is largely 
unchanged in its composition, but is now split into six disposal groups 
(Aviation II/I to Aviation II/VI) as a result of the individual asset 
realisation plan. Within the context of the subsequent measurement of 
these disposal groups in accordance with IFRS 5, losses in an amount 
of € 25 million (reported under Administrative expenses) and other 
operating income in an amount of € 9 million were incurred in the 
financial year. As at 26 February 2018, the sale of the Aviation II/I 
disposal group was concluded with definitive effect. No gain or loss 
arose from the sale. The fair value of the property, plant and equip-
ment is assigned to levels 1 and 3 in the valuation hierarchy. 

As at 30 June 2017, two other loan portfolios met the criteria for 
classification as “held for sale” pursuant to IFRS 5. These also consist-
ed of non-strategic loan portfolios in the real estate and aviation asset 
classes (attributable to the Non-Core Bank) and were split into a total 
of nine disposal groups. The transaction for the Real Estate disposal 
group, which comprised loans and advances to customers in an 
amount of € 152 million, was closed in the fourth quarter of 2017. The 
purchase agreement for the eight disposal groups in the aviation asset 
class was signed in August 2017. The purchase agreement provides for 
staggered closing individually for each of the portfolio items con-
tained in the disposal groups. Seven out of eight closings had already 
been achieved in the third and fourth quarter of 2017. There were 
total loan loss provisions of € 65 million for the receivables derecog-
nised in the Group statement of financial position within this context. 
The transaction for the remaining loans and advances to customers in 
an amount of € 12 million (Non-Core Bank segment) is expected to 
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be closed in the first quarter of 2018. The loans and advances to cus-
tomers are assigned to the LaR category. 

In the fourth quarter of 2017, the FSL Group, consisting of three 
subsidiaries and one associate (Non-Core Bank segment), was classi-
fied as a disposal group in accordance with IFRS 5, as the sale plan, 
which was developed in accordance with the commitment strategy, 
results in the loss of control/significant influence over the companies 
in the FSL Group. As at 31 December 2017, this disposal group in-
cludes not only loans and advances to banks (€ 1 million) but also, in 
particular, other assets in an amount of € 12 million. The latter relate 
primarily to the share in the associate First Ship Lease Trust (Non-
Core Bank segment), which was included in accordance with the 
equity method directly before IFRS 5 classification. The 
remeasurement in accordance with IFRS 5 did not result in any signif-
icant earnings effects. This transaction was closed in February 2018.  

In addition, four loan receivables amounting to € 35 million in the 
LaR category (attributable to the Non-Core Bank segment) were sold 
to another credit institution as part of a sale transaction in the third 
quarter of 2017. Loan loss provisions of € 17 million had been set up 
for these four loan receivables. 

An investment property located in the US, which had been allocated 
to the Non-Core Bank segment, was sold in the third quarter of 2017, 
generating a profit of  € 1.1 million. 

An equity holding held for sale as at 31 December 2016 (€ 18 million), 
which had been assigned to the Other and consolidation segment, was 
sold in the 2017 financial year. The change in fair value of the equity 
holding of € 18 million recognised directly in equity in other compre-
hensive income as at 31 December 2016 was realised through profit or 
loss in the third quarter of 2017. 

As a result of a restructuring measure implemented on 1 June 2017, 
five single-ship companies, whose main assets were ships, were in-
cluded in the Group financial statements on a fully consolidated basis. 
Since there was already an intention to sell at the time of purchase, the 
vessels allocated to the Non-Core Bank segment were already report-
ed as held for sale under Property, plant and equipment at the time of 
purchase. The vessels were sold in the third quarter of 2017. No gain 
or loss arose from the sale. 

In addition, a bond from the public cover pool (€ 130 million) report-
ed under financial investments (Core Bank segment) was classified as 
held for sale as at 30 June 2017. The sale will be implemented as part 
of the planned realisation of unrealised gains by way of the sale of 
promissory note loans. This financial investment was sold in the third 
quarter of 2017 with realised net income from financial investments 
in an amount of € 36 million. 
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34. CURRENT TAX ASSETS 

CURRENT TAX ASSETS 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Domestic 41 60 

Foreign 5 5 

Total 46 65
   
   
   

 
 
 
35. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 

Deferred tax assets arose due to temporary differences in the tax base 
of the following items in the statement of financial position and tax 
losses carried forward: 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Assets    

Loans and advances to banks 12 16 

Loan loss provisions 715 330 

Trading assets 61 – 

Financial investments 17 12 

Intangible assets – 4 

Other assets 55 86 

Liabilities    

Liabilities to customers – 15 

Securitised liabilities 45 60 

Negative fair values of hedging 
derivatives 44 88 

Liabilities adjustment item  
from portfolio fair value hedges 148 239 

Trading liabilities 241 240 

Provisions 197 300 

Other liabilities  218 274 

Tax losses carried forward 17 100 

Subtotal for deferred tax assets 1,770 1,764

of which long-term 121 205 

Netting of deferred tax liabilities – 1,047 – 997 

Total 723 767
  
   
  

 

Out of the deferred tax assets after offsetting, € 706 million is attribut-
able to Germany and € 17 million to abroad. 

Deferred taxes on loss carryforwards were recognised in the amount 
of € 17 million (previous year: € 100 million). As at 31 December 2017, 
these are attributable to the Singapore branch in the amount of 
€ 17 million (previous year: € 5 million), to the former New York 
branch in the amount of € 0 million (previous year: € 90 million) and 
to consolidated subsidiaries in the amount of € 0 million (previous 
year: € 5 million). For the Singapore branch, the recoverability of the 
deferred taxes on loss carryforwards results from planned future 
income.  

In addition, there were unused tax loss carryforwards of 
€ 7,343 million as at the reporting date (previous year: € 6,143 million) 
for which no deferred tax assets were recognised. 

The increase of € 6 million in deferred tax assets before netting is 
mainly attributable to the recognition of further loan loss provisions 
connected to the sale of the credit portfolio (portfolio transaction) on 
28 February 2018 and to changes in measurement differences for the 
trading asserts, the securitised liabilities, the negative market values of 
hedging derivatives, the negative adjustment item from portfolio fair 
value hedges and the provisions. On the portfolio transaction please 
refer to Note 2. 

The recoverability of deferred tax assets results from positive future 
net income, in particular due to the fact that the Bank has been re-
lieved of guarantee premiums. Deferred tax assets were not recognised 
on temporary differences of € 1,030 million due to the lack of recover-
ability. 
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€ 18 million of the reduction from deferred tax assets relates to de-
ferred taxes for pension obligations recognised directly in equity. 

The difference between the valuation for tax purposes of hybrid fi-
nancial instruments (Note 7.I.E) and the measurement of such in-
struments under IAS 39.A8 results in deferred tax assets of € 7 million 
(previous year: € 15 million). 

 
 
 
36. OTHER ASSETS 

OTHER ASSETS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Receivables from insurance contracts 16 27 

Other prepaid expenses 16 18 

Receivables from fund transactions 9 7 

Receivables from other taxes 5 7 

Other assets 28 46 

Total 74 105
  
   
  

 

Other assets in the amount of € 12 million (previous year: € 9 million) 
have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

€ 35 million of the assets reported here relate to financial instruments 
(previous year: € 50 million). 
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37. LIABILITIES TO BANKS 

LIABILITIES TO BANKS 
    

(€ m) 2017 2016 

 Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total 

Payable on demand 433 184 617 1,373 170 1,543 

Other term liabilities 6,580 1,074 7,654 5,572 2,386 7,958 

Total 7,013 1,258 8,271 6,945 2,556 9,501
    
       
    

 
 
Liabilities to banks of € 3,871 million (previous year: € 4,976 million) 
have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

The difference between the carrying amount of the liabilities catego-
rised as DFV and their par value, which corresponds to the contractu-
ally agreed repayment amount at the due date, amounted as at 

31 December 2017 to € – 3 million (previous year: € – 5 million). 
€ 1 million of this results from credit risk-induced changes in value. 

Information on collateral transferred which also contains information 
regarding securities lending and repurchase agreements can be found 
in Note 63. 

 
 
 

 
 

38. LIABILITIES TO CUSTOMERS 

LIABILITIES TO CUSTOMERS  

BY CUSTOMER GROUP 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Corporate clients 20,907 26,292 

Public authorities 14,024 12,035 

Retail customers 1,274 1,845 

Total 36,205 40,172
   
    
    

 
 
LIABILITIES TO CUSTOMERS 
    

(€ m) 2017 2016 

 Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total 

Savings deposits with agreed notice periods of            

3 months 14 – 14 18 – 18 

Other liabilities             

Payable on demand 9,146 1,743 10,889 10,709 1,562 12,271 

Term liabilities 23,015 2,287 25,302 25,442 2,441 27,883 

Total  32,175 4,030 36,205 36,169 4,003 40,172
    
       
    

 
 
Liabilities to customers of € 9,791 million (previous year: 
€ 10,904 million) have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

The difference between the carrying amount of the liabilities catego-
rised as DFV and their par value, which corresponds to the contractu-
ally agreed repayment amount at the due date, amounted as at 
31 December 2017 to € – 73 million (previous year: € – 113 million). 

€ 7 million of this results from credit risk-induced changes in value. 
Information on collateral transferred which also contains information 
regarding securities lending and repurchase agreements can be found 
in Note 63. 
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39. SECURITISED LIABILITIES 

SECURITISED LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Debentures issued 12,441 16,555 

Money market securities issued 3 69 

Total 12,444 16,624
  
   
  

 

Securitised liabilities of € 8,798 million (previous year: 
€ 13,104 million) have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

Debentures issued include € 508 million of hybrid financial instru-
ments (previous year: € 660 million). The carrying amount of these 
hybrid financial instruments was determined based on assumptions 
(see Note 7.I.E). A new estimate of the cash flows from hybrid finan-
cial instruments resulted in a reduction in the carrying amounts of 
these financial instruments as at 31 December 2017. 
 

In the item Securitised liabilities repurchased own debentures in the 
amount of € 2,666 million (previous year: € 2,643 million) were de-
ducted. 

The difference between the carrying amount of Securitised liabilities 
categorised as DFV and their par value, which corresponds to the 
contractually agreed repayment amount at the due date, amounted to 
€ – 136 million at 31 December 2017 (previous year: € – 165 million). 
€ 3 million of this related to credit risk-induced changes in value. 

 

 
 

40. NEGATIVE FAIR VALUES OF HEDGING DERIVATIVES 

This item shows the negative fair value of derivatives used in hedge 
accounting. Only interest rate and interest rate currency swaps are 
currently taken into account as hedging instruments. If a derivative is 
only partially designated under hedge accounting, this item contains 
the corresponding share of that derivative’s fair value. The remainder 
is stated under Trading liabilities. Hedge accounting is used solely for 
interest rate risks. 
 
 
NEGATIVE FAIR VALUES OF HEDGING DERIVATIVES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Negative fair value of derivativesused in 
portfolio fair value hedges 163 290 

Total 163 290
  

      
  

 

Under the item Negative fair value of hedging derivatives portfolios in 
an amount of € 159 million (previous year: € 285 million) have a 
residual maturity of more than one year. 

Changes in this item are directly related to changes in the item Posi-
tive fair value of the hedging derivatives (see Note 27). The overall 
changes in this item are mainly due to changes in the portfolio com-
positions and movements in interest rates in the euro and US dollar 
capital markets. 
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41. TRADING LIABILITIES 

Only financial liabilities classified as HfT are disclosed under Trading 
liabilities. Mainly included in this category are derivatives with a 
negative fair value which are either not designated as a hedging de-
rivative or are used as hedging instruments but do not meet the re-
quirements of IAS 39 for hedge accounting. 

TRADING LIABILITIES 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Negative fair value from derivative  
financial instruments     

Interest rate-related business 3,374 5,152 

currency-related business 59 191 

Other business 442 638 

Total 3,875 5,981
   
   
   

 

Trading liabilities of € 3,614 million (previous year: € 5,391 million) 
have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

Information on collateral transferred is presented in Note 63. 

 

 
 

42. PROVISIONS 

PROVISIONS 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Provisions for pension obligations and 
similar obligations 1,103 1,152 

Other provisions     

Provisions for personnel expenses 24 39 

Provisions in the lending business 67 110 

Provisions for restructuring  45 85 

Provisions for litigation risks and costs 98 34 

Other provisions 101 101 

Total 1,438 1,521
   
   
   

 
 
Provisions of € 1,167 million (previous year: € 1,249 million) have a 
residual maturity of more than one year. 

Provisions with a maturity of less than one year mainly relate to Provi-
sions for restructuring, Provisions in the lending business as well as 
provisions for litigation risks. Further information regarding Provi-
sions in the lending business can be found in Note 26. 

Provisions for personnel expenses largely include outstanding variable 
performance-related remuneration, as well as long-service bonus 
payments (see note 7.III. 5. Other provisions). The expected work-
force development was taken as a basis for the amount of the provi-
sions for long-service bonuses. Depending on the actual development 
of the workforce, the actual amount used may vary from the amount 
set up as a provision.  

As far as provisions in the lending business are concerned, the uncer-
tainties are due, in particular, to the development of the credit quality 
of the borrowers. For details, please refer to the explanations set out in 
the Forecast for loan loss provisions section of the Forecast, Opportu-
nities and Risks Report in the Management Report.  

Provisions for restructuring in the amount of € 25 million (previous 
year: € 54 million) relate to personnel expenses and € 20 million 
(previous year: € 31 million) to operating expenses. The provisions 
were set up primarily in connection with restructuring programmes 
from 2014 and 2016. The amount of the provisions was estimated on 
the basis of the expected utilisation of the restructuring programmes. 
Depending on the actual utilisation of the restructuring programmes, 
the amount set up as a provision may vary from the amount utilised. 

Other provisions mainly include interest on tax liabilities, provisions 
for onerous contracts as well as an expected back payment from the 
tax audit. The actual amount may differ from the provisions set up 
depending on the outcome of the company tax audit.  

HSH Nordbank has set up provisions as at the balance sheet date for 
litigation risks and costs. To determine for which claim the possibility 
of a loss is likely, and in order to estimate the amount of the potential 
payment obligations, HSH Nordbank takes a variety of factors into 
account. These include, among other things, the type of claim and the 
underlying facts of the case, the status of the individual proceedings, 
(provisional) decisions made by courts and arbitration bodies, the 
experience of HSH Nordbank and third parties in comparable cases 
(insofar as they are known to the Bank), prior settlement negotiations, 
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as well as the expert opinions and assessments of the Bank’s internal 
and external legal advisors and other professionals. 

A major portion of the provisions for litigation risks relates to the legal 
proceedings mentioned below. The individual provision amounts are 
not set out in detail in order not to influence the outcome of the re-
spective proceedings. The current status of the proceedings and the 
expected outcome of the proceedings are taken into account for ac-
counting purposes. Depending on the actual outcome of the proceed-
ings, the actual amounts may vary from the amounts set up as a provi-
sion. 

Since 2005, HSH Nordbank AG has been involved in legal proceed-
ings with a Turkish shipping group and up to now had to pay a total 
amount of € 54 million US dollar in the year 2013 due to decisions of 
Turkish courts. The plaintiffs have filed suits asserting further claims 
for damages due to a loss of profit and due to third-party liabilities in 
connection with collateral realisation measures of the Bank in respect 
of a loan. 

In addition, HSH Nordbank AG is being sued by a previous borrower 
for the payment of € 197 million plus interest. The plaintiff is asserting 
various claims, in particular claims for the payment of damages and 
resulting from unjust enrichment in connection with measures taken 
by the Bank in respect of a problem loan. Various legal disputes have 
already been conducted in the past on essential partial aspects of the 
case on which this claim is based and the Bank had won these cases, 
brought before various courts, with the exception of relatively small 
amounts. 

Furthermore, claims are also being brought against the Bank in  
actions in connection with different legal opinions on contractual 
interpretation for certain financial instruments on the liabilities side. 

Changes in pension provisions are presented in Note 43. 

 

 
Other provisions changed as follows: 
 
CHANGES IN OTHER PROVISIONS 
   

(€ m) 
 
2017 

For personnel 
expenses 

In the lending 
business 

For 
restructuring 

For litigation 
risks and 

costs Other Total

As at 1 January 2017 39 110 85 34 101 369

Additions 15 46 2 70 58 191 

Reversals 6 83 9 4 25 127 

Other changes – – – – – – 

Reclassifications – 19 – – 19 – – – 38 

Changes in exchange rates – – 4 – 1 – – 1 – 6 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – – – – 

Utilisation in the financial year 5 2 13 2 32 54 

As at 31 December 2017 24 67 45 98 101 335
   
       
   

 
 
Reclassifications were mainly made from Provisions to Provisions for 
pension obligations in the amount of € 13 million and to Liabilities in 
the amount of € 25 million. 
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CHANGES IN OTHER PROVISIONS 
    

(€ m) 
 
2016 

For personnel 
expenses 

In the lending 
business 

For 
restructuring 

For litigation 
risks and 

costs Other Total 

As at 1 January 2016 43 107 94 37 185 466

Additions 25 75 69 6 57 232 

Reversals 2 67 4 2 22 97 

Other changes – – – – 18 18 

Reclassifications – – – 52 – – 62 – 114 

Changes in exchange rates – – – – 2 2 

Changes in the scope of consolidation – – – – – 1 – 1 

Utilisation in the financial year 27 5 22 7 76 137 

As at 31 December 2016 39 110 85 34 101 369
    
       
    

In the previous year, reclassifications were made from Provisions to 
Provisions for pension obligations in the amount of € 24 million, to 
Liabilities in the amount of € 28 million and to Liabilities from dis-
posal groups in the amount of € 62 million. 

The other changes are attributable to the extension of the scope of 
consolidation due to the initial consolidation of a subsidiary that was 
previously considered immaterial. 

Provisions in the lending business are composed of the following items: 

PROVISIONS IN THE LENDING BUSINESS 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Specific loan loss provisions for     

Contingent liabilities 10 25 

Irrevocable loan commitments 29 40 

Other credit risks 21 2 

Total 60 67

Portfolio loan loss provisions for     

Contingent liabilities 1 33 

Irrevocable loan commitments 6 10 

Total 7 43

Total 67 110
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43. PENSION OBLIGATIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS 

In recognising and measuring direct benefit pension plans, the net 
present value of the obligations is reduced by the fair value of the plan 
assets.  

PROVISIONS FOR PENSION OBLIGATIONS AND SIMILAR 

OBLIGATIONS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Net present value of obligations, wholly or 
partly financed through funds 15 11 

Net present value of obligations not 
financed through funds 1,097 1,150 

Net present value of pension 
obligations and similar obligations  1,112 1,161

Fair value of plan assets 9 9 

Pension plan net liability (provisions 
for pension obligations and similar 
obligations)  1,103 1,152
  
   
  

 
 
The net present value of defined benefit pension obligations has 
changed as follows: 

CHANGES IN NET PRESENT VALUE 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Net present value as at 1 January  1,161 1,059 

Actuarial losses/gains (–) – –

due to changed financial 
assumptions – 38 125 

due to experience-based adjustments – 8 – 36 

Interest expense 18 23 

Current service cost 12 11 

Benefits paid – 46 – 46 

Reclassifications 13 25 

Net present value  
as at 31 December 1,112 1,161
  
   
 

 
Early retirement arrangements were negotiated as part of the restruc-
turing and associated reduction in staff and the corresponding provi-
sions were transferred from restructuring to pension provisions. 

The fair value of plan assets has changed as follows: 

CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Fair value of plan assets  
as at 1 January 9 8

Actuarial gains – 1 

Fair value of plan assets  
as at 31 December 9 9

 
   

 

 
 
The change in actuarial gains and losses is mainly attributable to a rise 
in the discount rate. 

The total actuarial gains for the financial year before deferred taxes 
amounted to € 46 million (previous year: € – 89 million). Allowing 
for deferred taxes, this results in a profit of € 28 million (previous 
year: € – 60 million), which is recognised in Other comprehensive 
income and disclosed in retained earnings on an accumulated basis. 
As at 31 December 2017, the balance of actuarial gains/losses in 
retained earnings before tax amounted to € – 196 million (previous 
year: € – 242 million) before tax and € – 138 million (previous year:  
€ – 166 million) after tax. 

BREAKDOWN OF PLAN ASSETS 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Qualified insurance policies 8 8 

Debentures and other fixed-interest 
securities 1 1 

Total 9 9
 

    
 

 
The debentures and other fixed-interest securities included in the plan 
assets are traded on an active market. 

Expenses of € 30 million were incurred for defined benefit pension 
plans in the 2017 reporting year (previous year: € 34 million). 

Pension obligations represent future amounts to be paid and are 
uncertain both as to the amount and the date they fall due. Future 
fluctuations in the present value of the pension obligations can result 
particularly from a change in the actuarial assumptions such as the 
discount rate and life expectancy.  

An increase or decrease in the actuarial assumptions (see Note 6) 
would have had the following impact on the present value of pension 
obligations as at 31 December 2017: 
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SENSITIVITY OF PENSION OBLIGATIONS 
    

(€ m) Increase Decrease 

2017    

Discount rate (+/– 0.25 %) – 40 49 

Inflation trend1) (+/– 0.25 %) 39 – 36 

Life expectancy (+ 1 year) 47 – 
    
      
    

 
SENSITIVITY OF PENSION OBLIGATIONS 
    

(€ m) Increase Decrease 

2016     

Discount rate (+/– 0.25 %) – 47 50 

Inflation trend1) (+/– 0.25 %) 41 – 39 

Life expectancy (+ 1 year) 50  

      

1) A variation in the inflation trend affects the salary trend. An assumption regarding future salary levels has a

direct influence on future pension levels because of the fully dynamic pension commitments. The salary and

pension trends were therefore not separately varied. 

  

 

The average duration of the pension obligations determined as at 
31 December 2017 was used as the basis for the sensitivity calculations. 
The impact of the major assumptions on the present value of the 
pension obligations is presented. As the sensitivity analyses are based 
on the average duration of the expected pension obligations and 
expected payment dates are therefore not taken into account, the 
figures represent only approximate values. Furthermore, where a 
change in an actuarial assumption is analysed, the other assumptions 
are kept constant. 

HSH Nordbank expects to make payments of € 52 million to benefici-
aries under defined benefit pension plan commitments for the 2018 
financial year (previous year: € 48 million).  

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 
18.0 years as at 31 December 2017 (previous year: 18.3 years). 

Expenses for defined contribution plans were € 16 million in the 2017 
reporting period (previous year: € 17 million). Payments to statutory 
pension schemes in the amount of € 14 million (previous year: 
€ 15 million) are included in this figure. 

 

44. LIABILITIES RELATING TO DISPOSAL GROUPS 

LIABILITIES RELATING TO DISPOSAL GROUPS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Provisions 44 63 

Other liabilities 2 2 

Deferred tax liabilities 1 – 

Total 47 65
  
   
  

 

All of the liabilities included in this item, both as at 31 December 
2017 and as at 31 December 2016, are attributable to the disposal 
groups Aviation II (provisions) and the disposal group comprising 
the assets and liabilities of the FSL Group (see Note 33).

  

45. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 

INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Current tax liabilities     

Income tax liabilities to tax authorities – 28 

Provisions for income taxes 103 59 

Total 103 87
   
   
   

 
 

Liabilities to tax authorities in the previous year included liabilities on 
income taxes due to domestic and foreign tax authorities. 

Provisions for income taxes include tax liabilities for which no legally 
binding tax assessment notice has been received as at the balance 
sheet date. 
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46. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

For temporary differences in the tax bases of the following items in 
the statement of financial position deferred tax liabilities were created. 

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Assets    

Loans and advances to customers 90 87 

Credit derivative under the second loss 
guarantee 296 45 

Financial investments 338 249 

Trading assets – 9 

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives 84 161 

Asset-side adjustment item from portfolio 
fair value hedges 82 128 

Property, plant and equipment – 45 

Intangible assets 1 – 

Other assets 1 – 

Liabilities   –

Liabilities to banks 28 25 

Liabilities to customers 55 – 

Securitised liabilities 4 – 

Other liabilities  68 255 

Total 1,047 1,004

Netting off deferred tax assets – 1,047 – 997 

Total – 7
  
   
  

 

The rise in deferred tax liabilities before netting is mainly attributable 
to the change in temporary differences relating to the credit derivative 
under the second loss guarantee, financial assets, positive fair value of 
hedging derivatives, positive adjustment items from the portfolio fair 
value hedge and liabilities to customers. 

€ 7 million of the total change is attributable to reductions recognised 
directly in equity relating to financial investments. 

Deferred tax liabilities of € 2 million (previous year: € 2 million) 
associated with investments in subsidiaries (so-called outside basis 
differences) were not recognised in accordance with IAS 12.39, as 
realisation is not probable. 

There were no timing differences as at the reporting date for which 
deferred tax liabilities had not been recognised. 
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47. OTHER LIABILITIES 

OTHER LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Collateral provided for liabilities 
assumed 519 657 

Liabilities for invoices outstanding 45 52 

Outstanding payments for  
the second loss guarantee  33 45 

Deferred income 13 18 

Liabilities for restructuring 12 28 

Personnel liabilities 8 9 

Other tax liabilities 7 18 

Other 21 18 

Total 658 845
  
   
  

 
 

Other liabilities in the amount of € 530 million (previous year: 
€ 668 million) have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

The collateral provided for liabilities assumed serves to hedge leasing 
transactions of our customers with third parties. 

€ 638 million of the liabilities reported here relate to financial instru-
ments (previous year: € 812 million). 

 

 

 

48. SUBORDINATED CAPITAL 

HSH Nordbank discloses subordinated liabilities, silent participations 
and profit participation capital under this item. 

SUBORDINATED CAPITAL 
   

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Subordinated liabilities 1,060 2,110 

Maturing in less than two years 4 1,028 

Silent participations 1,192 1,412 

Profit participation capital – 14 

Maturing in less than two years – 14 

Total 2,252 3,536
    
   
   

 

Subordinated capital of € 2,248 million (previous year: € 2,411 million) 
have a residual maturity of more than one year. 

The difference between the carrying amount of the liabilities catego-
rised as DFV and their par value, which corresponds to the contractu-
ally agreed repayment amount at the due date, amounted to 
€ 0 million as at 31 December 2017 (previous year: € – 4 million). 

Hybrid financial instruments included under Subordinated capital 
include silent participations and profit participation capital. The 
carrying amount of these hybrid financial instruments was deter-
mined based on assumptions (see Note 7.I.E). In addition to Hybrid 
financial instruments disclosed here, Hybrid financial instruments are 
also disclosed in the line item Securitised liabilities (cf. Note 39). A 
revaluation of the cash flow from hybrid financial instruments led to a 
reduction in the carrying amounts of these financial instruments as at 
31 December 2017. 
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49. EQUITY 

EQUITY 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Share capital 3,018 3,018 

Capital reserve 75 75 

Retained earnings 1,701 1,617 

of which: cumulative gains and losses 
arising on the revaluation of net 
defined benefit liabilities recognised 
in OCI – 196 – 242 

of which: deferred taxes on 
cumulative gains and losses arising 
on the revaluation of net defined 
benefit liabilities recognised in OCI 58 76 

Revaluation reserve 117 127 

thereof: from fair value measurement 
AfS (after taxes) 109 127 

thereof: credit risk-induced changes in 
the value of liabilities designated at 
FV (after taxes) 8 – 

Currency conversion reserve 2 60 

Consolidated income/loss  – 535 67 

Total before non-controlling 
interests 4,378 4,964

Non-controlling interests – 5 – 14 

Total 4,373 4,950
  
   
  

 

Share capital 

The share capital of HSH Nordbank AG is divided into 301,822,453 
registered shares each representing a notional of € 10.00 of share 
capital. All the issued shares have been fully paid up. 

As at the reporting date, HSH Beteiligungs Management GmbH, 
Hamburg, was the largest shareholder with 94.90 % of the voting 
rights. HSH Finanzfonds AöR – Gemeinsame Anstalt der Freien und 
Hansestadt Hamburg und des Landes Schleswig-Holstein – holds an 
interest of 68.03 %, the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg, incl. the 
interest held indirectly via HGV Hamburger Gesellschaft für Ver-
mögens- und Beteiligungs Management mbH holds an interest of 
11.30 %, the Federal State of Schleswig-Holstein holds an interest of 
10.02 % and Sparkassen- und Giroverband für Schleswig-Holstein 
holds an interest of 5.55 % in HSH Nordbank AG, with all of these 
interests being held indirectly via HSH Beteiligungs Management 
GmbH. As at 31 December 2017, the nine groups of investors advised 
by J.C. Flowers & Co LLC held 5.10 % of the voting rights. The owner-
ship structure has not changed compared to the previous year. 

HSH Beteiligungs Management GmbH, with its registered offices in 
Hamburg, notified us in June 2016 in accordance with Section 20 
(1)/(4) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) that it directly 
owns more than one-quarter of the shares of HSH Nordbank AG, and 
at the same time owns a majority interest within the meaning of Sec-
tion 16 (1) AktG. 

Neither HSH Nordbank AG nor any company dependent on it or 
majority-owned companies hold treasury stock. There are no cross-
shareholdings as defined by Section 19 AktG. 

CHANGES IN ORDINARY SHARES 
 

(Number of shares) 2017 2016 

Number at the beginning of the year 301,822,453 301,822,453 

Number at the end  
of the year 301,822,453 301,822,453

 
   

 

 

Retained earnings and dividends 

The item Retained earnings mainly shows amounts allocated from 
previous year profits and the profits of the current year. There are no 
statutory reserves or legal reserves within the meaning of Section 150 
(2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

Retained earnings include amounts of € 4,919 million (previous year: 
€ 4,919 million) transferred from the capital reserve to disclose a 
break-even result on the balance sheet offset loss carryforwards of 
HSH Nordbank AG. 

The retained earnings include income from own issues bought back in 
2017 in an amount of € 1 million (previous year: € 0 million). This 
relates to the pro-rata credit risk-induced effects of own issues desig-
nated at fair value through other comprehensive income that were 
previously shown in the revaluation reserve. This is due to the exercise 
of the option in accordance with IFRS 9.7.1.2. With regard to the 
exercise of the option, please refer to the comments on the first-time 
application of IFRS 9 in Note 1. 

As was the case for the previous financial year 2016, no dividend 
payments were made for previous years during the current financial 
year 2017. 

Capital reserve 

In the previous year, an amount of € 100 million was released from 
capital reserves to offset the losses of HSH Nordbank AG brought 
forward from 2015. 
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Revaluation reserve 

The effects of the measurement of AfS financial instruments disclosed 
at fair value directly in equity are recorded in the revaluation reserve. 

The effects of credit risk-induced changes in the value of liabilities 
designated at fair value are also reported in the revaluation reserve. 

The changes in value associated with deferred taxes shown in the 
revaluation reserve are also presented in the revaluation reserve pur-
suant to IAS 12.61A. 

Currency conversion reserve 

Assets and liabilities in financial statements of subsidiaries in foreign 
currencies are translated at the reporting date exchange rate in prepar-
ing the Group financial statements, while average rates for the report-
ing period are used to translate expenses and income. Equity is trans-
lated at historical rates, with the exception of revaluation reserves in 
Group financial statements reported in foreign currencies, which are 
translated at the reporting date exchange rate. 

Any differences arising from this method of translation compared to 
complete translation at the reporting date exchange rate are reported 
in this Equity item. 

Capital management 

The capital management of HSH Nordbank aims to comply with 
regulatory minimum capital ratios. In addition to these minimum 
requirements, capital management is used as the basis for complying 
with the capital ratios planned and is designed to ensure that the 
Bank’s capital base meets the risk-bearing capacity requirements. The 
common equity Tier 1 capital ratio is the key parameter for capital 
management. 

The regulatory capitalisation is in accordance with the provisions of 
the European Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) in conjunction 
with the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP). 
HSH Nordbank determines the capital requirements for counterparty 
risk in accordance with the approach permitted by the Federal Finan-
cial Supervisory Authority based on internal ratings (Advanced IRBA) 
and based on the CSA (standard approach). The capital base is re-
ported to the regulatory authorities quarterly. The minimum ratios 
required under supervisory law were complied with on each reporting 
date in the course of the year under review. 

REGULATORY FIGURES1) 
    

(in %) 2017 2016 

Tier 1 capital ratio 23.2 18.5 

Overall capital ratio 31.4  24.2 

CET1 ratio 18.7  13.9 
  

1)Values before adoption of the Group financial statements of HSH Nordbank.  

    

 
 
The regulatory capital commitment was monitored closely both at 
Bank and division level in the course of the financial year. 
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SEGMENT REPORTING 

50. SEGMENT REPORT 

        

(€ m / %)                               Corporate Clients Real Estate Shipping Treasury & Markets Core Bank) 

  
31.12. 
2017 

31.12.
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12.
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12.
2016 

31.12. 
2017 

31.12. 
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12.
2016 

Net interest income 130 159 148 170 69 89 426 262 773 680 

Net commission income 49 56 13 16 14 10 1 – 1 77 81 

Result from hedging – – – – – – – – – – 

Net trading income 39 36 24 32 8 29 83 89 154 186 

Net income from financial 
investments1) – – – – – – 1 51 86 51 85 

Total income 218 251 185 218 91 127 561 436 1,055 1,032

Loan loss provisions incl. credit 
derivative under the second loss 
guarantee2) – 53 – 5 2 – 63 52 1 – 13 47 

Administrative expenses – 124 – 149 – 54 – 57 – 40 – 53 – 84 – 99 – 302 – 358 

Other operating income 9 4 3 – 1 2 2 2 – 3 16 2 

Expenses for bank levy and 
deposit guarantee fund – 6 – 7 – 8 – 10 – 4 – 6 – 10 – 8 – 28 – 31 

Net income before 
restructuring and 
privatisation 44 94 128 150 112 122 470 326 754 692

Net income from restructuring and 
privatisation – – – – – – – – – – 

Expenses for government 
guarantees – 3 – 5 – 1 – 2 – 18 – 18 – – – 22 – 25 

Net income before taxes 41 89 127 148 94 104 470 326 732 667

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 55 % 58 % 29 % 26 % 43 % 41 % 15 % 23 % 28 % 35 % 

Return on equity before tax 3 % 7 % 13 % 19 % 25 % 24 % 67 % 42 % 21 % 21 % 

Average equity 1,460 1,228 972 780 378 434 701 780 3,511 3,222 
     
             
        

 
         

(€ bn) 31.12. 
2017 

31.12.
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12.
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12.
2016 

31.12. 
2017 

31.12. 
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12.
2016 

Segment assets 12 12 10 11 5 6 21 19 48 48
      

1) Including net income from financial investments accounted for under the equity method. 
2)  Consolidation of the Loan loss provisions in the lending business and Hedging effect of credit derivative under the second loss guarantee. 
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(€ m / %) Core Bank Non-Core Bank Other and Consolidation3) Group 

  
31.12.
2017

31.12 
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12.
2016 

31.12.
2017

31.12. 
2016 

31.12. 
2017 

31.12.
2016 

Net interest income 773 680 – 9 15 415 – 88 1,179 607 

Net commission income 77 81 20 20 – 32 – 14 65 87 

 – – – – – 18 – 4 – 18 – 4 

Net trading income 154 186 84 – 53 16 – 45 254 88 

Net income from financial 
investments1) 51 85 – 23 54 64 4 92 143 

Total income 1,055 1,032 72 36 445 – 147 1,572 921

Loan loss provisions in the 
lending business incl. credit 
derivative under the second 
loss guarantee2) 13 47 – 1,295 106 6 3 – 1,276 156 

Administrative expenses – 302 – 358 – 202 – 299 – 11 23 – 515 – 634 

Other operating income 16 2 – 22 62 28 – 6 22 58 

Expenses for bank levy and 
deposit guarantee fund – 28 – 31 – 9 – 15 – 4 – 10 – 41 – 56 

Net income before 
restructuring and 
privatisation 754 692 – 1,456 – 110 464 – 137 – 238 445

Net income from restructuring 
and privatisation – – – – – 66 – 110 – 66 – 110 

Expenses for government 
guarantees – 22 – 25 – 127 – 189 – – – 149 – 214 

Net income before taxes 732 667 – 1,583 – 299 398 – 247 – 453 121

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 28 % 35 % – – – – 32 % 65 % 

Return on equity before tax 21 % 21 % – – – – – 10 % 2 % 

Average equity 3,511 3,222 866 1,433 285 263 4,662 4,918 
     
       -  
      

 

      

(€ bn) 31.12.

2017

31.12. 

2016 

31.12.

2017

31.12. 

2016 

31.12.

2017

31.12. 

2016 

31.12. 

2017 

31.12. 

2016 

Segment assets 48 48 12 22 10 14 70 84
      

1)Including Net income from financial investments accounted for under the equity method.    
2)Consolidation of the Loan loss provisions in the lending business and Hedging effect of credit derivative under the second loss guarantee. 
3)Consolidation includes the effect from different accounting.     
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(€ m / %)                               2017 2016 

  Other 

Consolida-

tion3) 

Total Other 

and 

Consolidation Other  Consolidation3) 

Total Other and 

Consolidation 

Net interest income 391 24 415 – 18 – 70 – 88 

Net commission income – 27 – 5 – 32 – 6 – 8 – 14 

Result from hedging – – 18 – 18 – – 4 – 4 

Net trading income 5 11 16 14 – 59 – 45 

Net income from financial investments1) 66 – 2 64  4 4 

Total income 435 10 445 – 10 – 137 – 147

Loan loss provisions in the lending business incl. 
credit derivative under the second loss guarantee2) 1 5 6 – 1 4 3 

Administrative expenses – 10 – 1 – 11 23 – 23 

Other operating income 28 – 28 – 5 – 1 – 6 

Expenses for bank levy and deposit guarantee fund – 7 3 – – 4 – 10 – – 10 

Net income before restructuring and 
privatisation 447 17 464 – 3 – 134 – 137

Net income from restructuring and privatisation – – 66 – 66 – – 110 – 110 

Expenses for government guarantees – – – – – – 

Net income before taxes 447 – 49 398 – 3 – 244 – 247

Cost/income ratio (CIR) – – – – – – 

Return on equity before tax – – – – – – 

Average equity 284 1 285 264 – 1 263 
   
       
   

 
   

(€ bn) 2017 2016 

Segment assets  10 – 10 14 – 14
   

1)Including Net income from financial investments accounted for under the equity method.   
2)Consolidation of the Loan loss provisions in the lending business and Hedging effect of credit derivative under the second loss guarantee. 
3)Consolidation includes the effect from different accounting.   

   

 

Segment reporting is in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 8. The 
Group has five segments subject to a reporting requirement: four in 
the Core Bank, and the Non-Core Bank. The Core Bank segments 
result from the Bank’s internal organisational structure which is based 
on product and customer groups and which corresponds to the de-
limitation for internal Group management purposes. The formation 
of the segments is intended to achieve the greatest possible homoge-
neity of customer groups with regard to a focused loan financing 
product range as well as other products and services. 

HSH Nordbank’s Core Bank consists of the segments Real Estate, 
Shipping, Corporate Clients and Treasury & Markets. The business 
activities of the Real Estate, Shipping and Corporate Clients customer 
departments focus on offering financing solutions in the lending 
business. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Real Estate segment includes business 
with real estate clients, while the Shipping segment includes the busi-
ness with shipping clients. The strategic focus of the Corporate Clients 
segment primarily lies on the Logistics & Infrastructure, Energy & 

Utilities, Healthcare, Commerce & Food and Industry & Services 
business fields. Another key area is the advising of wealthy private 
clients, institutions and non-profit organisations with regard to asset 
management. The Treasury & Markets segment supports the cus-
tomer departments in their business by providing a tailored range of 
capital market-oriented product solutions and within the framework 
of syndications. At the same time, support is provided to the savings 
banks and institutional clients in the areas of issuance and deposits. 
This segment is also responsible for the central management of the 
liquidity and market price risks relating to the Bank’s position and the 
Bank’s function as an issuer.  

In 2017, the funding books used to manage securities issued by 
HSH Nordbank were bundled in the Treasury & Markets segment for 
the purposes of segment reporting. The transfer of the funding books 
from the sphere of the non-reportable segments (Other) to the Treas-
ury & Markets segment is designed, within the context of internal 
control, to strengthen the Bank’s issue function and improve govern-
ance.  
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The amount reported for the previous year in the segment reporting 
has been adjusted accordingly. 

The Non-Core Bank includes credit and capital market transactions 
that are not continued in the Core Bank. These are overall bank posi-
tions for which the Overall Management Board is responsible. The 
focus is on reducing the risk potential whilst minimising the effect on 
income. The Special Credit Management business unit is responsible 
for loan restructuring and workout and, as a result, also for the active 
winding down of the portfolio of impaired loan commitments. 

The expenses for the bank levy and deposit guarantee fund have been 
allocated to the segments based on the adjusted balance sheet volume.  

Loan loss provisions are shown in the segments in which they origi-
nated. For the loan loss provisions set up for the individual segments, 
the hedging effect of the second loss guarantee including the hedging 
effect of the credit derivative under the second loss guarantee is also 
shown in the corresponding segments, insofar as the loan exposures 
in question are hedged using the second loss guarantee. The signifi-
cant change year-on-year is due to the full utilisation of the guarantee. 
As a result, the loan loss provisions incurred in the reporting year 
were no longer compensated for in full. Up until the full utilisation of 
the guarantee, the Core Bank was allocated a compensatory effect in 
accordance with the assignment of the individual loan exposures to 
the Core Bank, insofar as the loan exposures were hedged using the 
second loss guarantee. Since the full utilisation of the guarantee, the 
changes in the compensatory effect of the second loss guarantee are 
allocated to the Non-Core Bank in order to simplify matters. Up until 
the time of full utilisation, the Non-Core Bank accounted for a share 
of 98 %.  

By way of derogation from this principle, the guarantee fees are allo-
cated to the segments based on the regulatory equity capital require-
ments for the guaranteed portfolio. Insofar as the guarantee fees 
would have been allocated based on the compensation effect in the 
reporting year, then the Core Bank would have had € 22 million 
(previous year: € 20 million) less to bear in guarantee fees, and the 
Non-Core Bank would have had to bear a higher amount accordingly.  

The Other column shows the contributions made by segments not 
subject to a reporting requirement and the contributions made by 
other business activities. These include the administration and service 
divisions and the Transaction Banking product division, which offers 
tailor-made services in the fields of payment transactions, account 
management and foreign trade for the customer departments, insofar 
as these activities were not allocated to the segments subject to a 
reporting requirement as part of the business management of the 
Bank.  

The Consolidation column contains effects from different accounting 
methods between the parameters reported internally and the presen-
tation in the Group financial statements. The reconciliation effects 
included are shown separately in the table above pursuant to 
IFRS 8.28 and are explained in further detail below. 

Net interest income for the purpose of internal reporting to manage-
ment is calculated in accordance with the Fund Transfer Pricing 
(FTP). The planned investment and financing profit is distributed 
among the business segments on the basis of economic capital com-
mitted. The transformation contribution is allocated to the segments 
on the basis of receivables. Only the results from the liquidity man-
agement of the banking book (liquidity account) are distributed 
among the segments.  

Reconciliation effects relating to Net interest income in the amount of 
€ 24 million are due largely to valuation differences. These are largely 
the result of the use of internal transactions within the framework of 
internal interest rate and liquidity management/the consideration of 
imputed interest rate margins (fund transfer pricing, FTP) instead of 
gross interest in the lending business. Further reconciliation effects 
result, in particular, from the use of what are, in some cases, different 
calculation and amortisation methods within the context of internal 
reporting. In addition, in the internal management system, the meas-
urement results of the hedging derivatives in hedge accounting are 
only shown in Net interest income upon the disposal of AfS, LaR and 
LIA positions, whereas under the IFRS hedge accounting regulations, 
the hedge adjustments are also continuously amortised within Net 
interest income.  

The consolidation effects relating to Net trading income in the 
amount of € 11 million (net) include, in particular, differences result-
ing from the recognition and measurement of capital market transac-
tions between the internal management system and IFRS accounting, 
as well as from different posting methods for foreign currency trans-
actions (in the amount of approx. € 29 million). Further differences 
result from the hedging of certain financial instruments that are in-
cluded in the portfolio fair value hedge in full in the internal recogni-
tion of the interest rate hedge transaction, whereas under the IFRS, 
they are not, or are only partly, included in the portfolio fair value 
hedge (in the amount of around € – 36 million); moreover net trading 
income of individual subsidiaries in the scope of consolidation are not 
included in the internal management system (in the amount of 
around € 19 million).  
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In addition, net income from restructuring and privatisation is also 
shown in full under Consolidation as an item for reconciliation with 
the internally managed values. 

The business activities of HSH Nordbank lie predominantly in loan 
financing in Germany. As a result, there is no need to publish geo-
graphical information in accordance with IFRS 8.33. 

The cost/income ratio (CIR) and return on equity (RoE) are not 
shown in the segment report for the Non-Core Bank segment. In the 
case of the Non-Core Bank, the segment involves business areas which 
are not strategic and are currently being wound down. This segment is 
not managed on the basis of these ratios. 

Total income recognised in the segments is exclusively generated from 
business conducted with external customers. 

The allocation key for the allocation of the average reported equity 
capital to the segments is the regulatory capital commitment due to its 
management relevance.  

The CIR is calculated as the ratio of Administrative expenses to Total 
income plus Other operating income. Return on equity is the ratio of 
net income before taxes to average equity capital.  

See Note 13 for comments on companies consolidated under the 
equity method recognised as part of Net income from financial in-
vestments. 
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NOTES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

51. CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
     

(€ m) 
 
2017 LaR AfS DFV HfT LIA 

No 
IAS 39 

category Total

Assets           

Cash reserve 6,519 106 – – – – 6,625 

Loans and advances to banks 3,759 79 – – – – 3,838 

Loans and advances to customers 37,798 45 1,255 – – – 39,098 

Receivables under finance leases – – – – – 76 76 

Credit derivative under the 
second loss guarantee  – – – 1,014 – – 1,014 

Positive fair value of hedging 
derivatives – – – – – 264 264 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge – – – – – 255 255 

Trading assets – – – 3,641 – – 3,641 

Financial investments 560 12,475 612 – – – 13,647 

Non-current assets held for sale 
and disposal groups 26 – – – – – 26 

Other assets 35 – – – – – 35 

Total assets 48,697 12,705 1,867 4,655 – 595 68,519

                

Liabilities           

Liabilities to banks – – 118 – 8,153 – 8,271 

Liabilities to customers – – 819 – 35,386 – 36,205 

Securitised liabilities – – 1,627 – 10,817 – 12,444 

Negative fair values of hedging 
derivatives – – – – – 163 163 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge – – – – – 553 553 

Trading liabilities – – – 3,875 – – 3,875 

Liabilities relating to disposal 
groups – – – – 2 – 2 

Subordinated capital – – –  2,252 – 2,252 

Other liabilities – – – – 638 – 638 

Total liabilities – – 2,564 3,875 57,248 716 64,403
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CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
   

(€ m) 
 
2016 LaR AfS DFV HfT LIA 

No IAS 39 
category Total 

Assets          

Cash reserve 3,373 118 – – – – 3,491 

Loans and advances to banks 4,108 84 – – – – 4,192 

Loans and advances to customers 49,430 61 1,321 – – – 50,812 

Receivables under finance leases – – – – – 98 98 

Credit derivative under the 
second loss guarantee  – – – 199 – – 199 

Positive fair value of hedging 
derivatives – – – – – 508 508 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge – – – – – 403 403 

Trading assets – – – 5,433 – – 5,433 

Financial investments 1,498 12,441 1,554 – – – 15,493 

Non-current assets held for sale 
and disposal groups 1,140 19 – – – – 1,159 

Other assets 50 – – – – – 50 

Total assets 59,599 12,723 2,875 5,632 – 1,009 81,838

                

Liabilities          

Liabilities to banks – – 120 – 9,381 – 9,501 

Liabilities to customers – – 1,331 – 38,841 – 40,172 

Securitised liabilities – – 2,256 – 14,368 – 16,624 

Negative fair values of hedging 
derivatives – – – – – 290 290 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge – – – – – 786 786 

Trading liabilities – – – 5,981 – – 5,981 

Liabilities relating to disposal 
groups – – – – 2 – 2 

Subordinated capital – – 87 – 3,449 – 3,536 

Other liabilities – – – – 812 – 812 

Total liabilities – – 3,794 5,981 66,853 1,076 77,704
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52. RECLASSIFICATION UNDER IAS 39 (REV. 2008) 

HSH Nordbank exercised the option of reclassifying assets under 
IAS 39 (rev. 2008) as LaR where they meet the relevant requirements, 
were not intended for short-term sale at the time of reclassification 
and are due to be held for the foreseeable future. The assets were 
reclassified in 2008 and 2009 due to the global financial market crisis 
and the consequences it has had on the measurement of securities 
portfolios. The reclassifications were performed in accordance with 
IAS 39.50D or IAS 39.50E respectively. 

The reclassification as LaR measures fair value at the time of reclassifi-
cation at cost or amortised cost, respectively. At the time of reclassifi-
cation an effective interest rate was determined which is used for 
subsequent 

measurement of the amortised acquisition cost. For reclassification of 
financial instruments from AfS to LaR the revaluation reserve recog-
nised up to the point of reclassification is reversed through Net interest 
income on a pro rata temporis basis in accordance with IAS 39.54 a). 

The financial instruments reclassified in 2008 fell due in 2015, mean-
ing that they are not to be reported. 

The reclassifications of assets in the second quarter of 2009 are shown 
in the table below: 

 
 
    

(€ m)  2017 2016 

 

Carrying 

amount as 

at the time of 

reclassification 

Carrying 

amount Fair value 

Carrying 

amount Fair value 

Reclassified from AfS to LaR  6,336 356 433 623 733 

Total financial assets reclassified as LaR 6,336 356 433 623 733
   
      
   

 

The effective interest rate applied in the case of financial instruments 
in the AfS category was between 0.87 % and 5.00 %. Anticipated re-
payments amounted to € 6,465 million. 

The decrease in the carrying amounts and fair values of all reclassified 
financial instruments is due to extensive changes in holdings. Finan-
cial instruments that have been disposed of or fallen due since reclas-
sification had a carrying amount of € 6,074 million in the AfS category 
at the time of the reclassification. The sales were carried out following 
the realignment of HSH Nordbank and were neither planned nor 
anticipated at the time of the restructuring. 

Shown below is the impact the holdings reclassified to date that are 
still in the portfolio would have had on the income statement and 

revaluation reserve if they had not been reclassified. For financial 
instruments reclassified from AfS in the 2009 financial year, the valua-
tion result in the revaluation reserve for the current reporting period 
would have been € 20 million (previous year: € 12 million). 

The actual impact of the holdings reclassified to date that are still in 
the portfolio on the income statement of the current reporting period 
are shown below. In the reporting period, the statement of income 
includes Net interest income of € 9 million (previous year: 
€ 18 million), Net trading income of € – 2 million (previous year: 
€ 10 million) and Net income from financial investments of 
€ 53 million (previous year: € 73 million). 
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53. RESIDUAL MATURITY BREAKDOWN OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

When determining the residual maturities of financial liabilities for 
purposes of presenting liquidity risk, the contractually agreed matur-
ity dates of non-discounted cash flows are used as the basis. 

 

     

(€ m) 
2017 

Payable on 
demand 

Up to 3 
months 

3 months to 
1 year 

1 year to  
5 years Over 5 years Total

Liabilities        

Liabilities to banks 639 2,802 1,058 2,225 1,832 8,556 

Liabilities to customers 10,986 10,739 4,717 6,956 4,768 38,166 

Securitised liabilities 1 1,252 2,642 6,764 3,213 13,872 

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives – 23 41 134 16 214 

Trading liabilities 8 343 500 1,698 1,654 4,203 

thereof: derivatives 8 343 500 1,698 1,654 4,203 

Liabilities relating to disposal groups – – 3 – – 3 

Other liabilities 9 59 56 523 6 653 

Subordinated capital – 1 13 229 2,800 3,043 

Contingent liabilities 1,862 – – – – 1,862 

Irrevocable loan commitments 6,367 – – – – 6,367 

Total  19,872 15,219 9,030 18,529 14,289 76,939
   
       
   

 
   

(€ m)  
2016 

Payable on 
demand 

Up to 3 
months 

3 months to 
1 year 

1 year to  
5 years Over 5 years Total 

Liabilities        

Liabilities to banks 1,681 1,213 827 4,169 1,873 9,763 

Liabilities to customers 12,374 10,240 6,490 6,848 6,889 42,841 

Securitised liabilities – 517 3,017 10,109 4,610 18,253 

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives – 44 54 261 42 401 

Trading liabilities 6 603 936 2,795 2,637 6,977 

thereof: derivatives 6 603 936 2,795 2,637 6,977 

Liabilities relating to disposal groups – – 2 – – 2 

Other liabilities 4 80 89 661 6 840 

Subordinated capital – 936 99 380 3,497 4,912 

Contingent liabilities 2,189 – – – – 2,189 

Irrevocable loan commitments 6,654 – – – – 6,654 

Total  22,908 13,633 11,514 25,223 19,554 92,832
   
       
   

 
 
Interest rate swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps and equity 
swaps are presented on the basis of their future net payment obliga-
tions. Other derivatives are assigned to maturity bands by overall 
maturity at their carrying amount. 

Liquidity management is described in detail in the Risk report section 
of the Group management report. 
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54. DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE IN ACCORDANCE WITH IFRS 7 AND IFRS 13 

I. Fair values of financial instruments 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed 
by classes of financial instruments and compared with the respective 
carrying amount below after allowing for loan loss provisions:  

 

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

ASSETS 
        

(€ m) 2017 2016 

 
Carrying 
amount Fair value Difference

Carrying 
amount Fair value Difference 

Held for Trading (HfT)             

Trading assets 3,641 3,641 – 5,433 5,433 – 

Credit derivative under the second loss 
guarantee  1,014 1,014 – 199 199 – 

Designated at fair Value (DFV)             

Loans and advances to customers 1,255 1,255 – 1,321 1,321 – 

Financial investments 612 612 – 1,554 1,554 – 

Available for Sale (AfS)   –   – 

Cash reserve 106 106   118 118   

Loans and advances to banks 79 79 – 84 84 – 

Loans and advances to customers 45 45 – 61 61 – 

Financial investments1) 12,475 12,718 243 12,441 12,603 162 

of which equity instruments measured at cost – –  203 –  

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal 
groups – –   19 19   

Loans and receivables (LaR)             

Cash reserve 6,519 6,519 – 3,373 3,373 – 

Loans and advances to banks 3,758 3,764 6 4,107 4,122 15 

Loans and advances to customers 33,305 33,519 214 42,952 43,086 134 

Financial investments 560 640 80 1,498 1,563 65 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal 
groups 26 26 – 907 910 3 

Other assets 35 35 – 50 50 – 

No IAS 39 category             

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives 264 264 – 508 508 – 

Receivables under finance leases 76 76 – 98 98 – 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge 255 – – 255 403 – – 403 

Total assets 64,025 64,313 288 75,126 75,102 – 24
    

1) The difference between the carrying amount and fair value of financial investments classified as AfS amounts to € 243 million. This amount is offset by the separately reported reconciling item from the portfolio fair value hedge 

in the amount of € 255 million, € 243 million of which is attributable to AfS financial investments. It corresponds to the effective portion of the hedging relationship recognised through profit or loss and is therefore not included 

in the carrying amount. 
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The effective portions of the hedging relationship recognised through 
profit or loss are disclosed in the Value adjustments from the portfolio 
fair value hedge item, of which € 243 million is accounted for by 
financial investments classified as available for sale (AfS) (previous 
year: € 365 million) and € 12 million (previous year: € 38 million) by 
loans and advances to banks and customers classified as LaR. 

 

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

LIABILITIES 
     

(€ m) 2017 2016 

 
Carrying 
amount Fair value Difference

Carrying 
amount Fair value Difference 

Held for Trading (HfT)             

Trading liabilities 3,875 3,875 – 5,981 5,981 – 

Designated at fair Value (DFV)             

Liabilities to banks 118 118 – 120 120 – 

Liabilities to customers 819 819 – 1,331 1,331 – 

Securitised liabilities 1,627 1,627 – 2,256 2,256 – 

Subordinated capital – – – 87 87 – 

Other liabilities (LIA)             

Liabilities to banks 8,153 8,054 – 99 9,381 9,387 6 

Liabilities to customers 35,386 36,194 808 38,841 39,891 1,050 

Securitised liabilities 10,817 10,786 – 31 14,368 14,138 – 230 

Liabilities relating to disposal groups 2 2 – 2 2 – 

Other liabilities 638 638 – 812 812 – 

Subordinated capital 2,252 2,203 – 49 3,449 2,948 – 501 

No IAS 39 category             

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives 163 163 – 290 290 – 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge 553 – – 553 786 – – 786 

Total liabilities 64,403 64,479 76 77,704 77,243 – 461
   
       
   

 

The carrying amounts of loans and advances to banks and loans and 
advances to customers classified as LaR are shown less the reported 
loan loss provisions, since fair value also reflects possible impairments. 
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II. Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments 

measured at fair value 

Assets and liabilities show the following breakdown by level in the fair 
value hierarchy under IFRS 13. For assets and liabilities recognised 
and measured at fair value, the fair values are broken down by class of 
financial instrument in the three levels in the hierarchy. 

 

HIERARCHY LEVELS, ASSETS 
      

(€ m) Assets recognised at fair value  

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type       

Cash reserve         

AfS – 106 – 106 

of which debt instruments – 106 – 106 

Loans and advances to banks         

AfS – 36 43 79 

of which debt instruments – 36 43 79 

Loans and advances to customers         

AfS – – 45 45 

of which debt instruments – – 45 45 

DFV – 54 1,201 1,255 

of which debt instruments – 54 1,201 1,255 

Credit derivative under the second loss guarantee  – – 1,014 1,014 

of which credit derivatives – – 1,014 1,014 

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives – 264 – 264 

of which interest rate derivatives – 264 – 264 

Trading assets (HfT) 81 3,212 348 3,641 

of which debt instruments 81 120 7 208 

of which interest rate derivatives – 2,775 61 2,836 

of which cross-currency interest rate derivatives – 156 – 156 

of which currency derivatives – 71 1 72 

of which credit derivatives – 13 – 13 

of which other derivatives – 14 43 57 

of which structured derivatives – 51 236 287 

of which other trading portfolios – 12 – 12 

Financial investments (excluding equity instruments measured at cost)         

AfS1) 11,322 1,068 85 12,475 

of which debt instruments 11,307 1,067 – 12,374 

of which equity and near-equity instruments 15 1 85 101 

DFV – 124 488 612 

of which debt instruments – 124 487 611 

of which equity and near-equity instruments – – 1 1 

Total  11,403 4,864 3,224 19,491
      

1) The difference between the total AfS financial investments in the asset hierarchy table and the fair value disclosures in Section I is attributable to effects in the item Value adjustments from the portfolio fair value hedge in the 

amount of € 243 million. These effects are not disclosed in the hierarchy table.  
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HIERARCHY LEVELS, ASSETS 
    

(€ m) Assets recognised at fair value  

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type      

Cash reserve         

AfS – 118 – 118 

of which debt instruments – 118 – 118 

Loans and advances to banks         

AfS – 40 44 84 

of which debt instruments – 40 44 84 

Loans and advances to customers         

AfS – – 61 61 

of which debt instruments – – 61 61 

DFV – 48 1,273 1,321 

of which debt instruments – 48 1,273 1,321 

Credit derivative under the second loss guarantee – – 199 199 

of which credit derivatives – – 199 199 

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives – 508 – 508 

of which interest rate derivatives – 508 – 508 

Trading assets (HfT) 161 4,826 446 5,433 

of which debt instruments 161 307 9 477 

of which interest rate derivatives – 4,001 96 4,097 

of which cross-currency interest rate derivatives – 244 – 244 

of which currency derivatives – 108 29 137 

of which credit derivatives – 27 – 27 

of which other derivatives – 12 51 63 

of which structured derivatives – 114 261 375 

of which other trading portfolios – 13 – 13 

Financial investments (excl. equity instruments measured at cost) –    

AfS1) 9,968 2,241 29 12,238 

of which debt instruments 9,913 2,239 –  12,152 

of which equity and near-equity instruments 55 2 29 86 

DFV – 1,009 545 1,554 

of which debt instruments – 1,008 544 1,552 

of which contractually linked instruments – 1 – 1 

of which equity and near-equity instruments – – 1 1 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups –    

AfS – 19 – 19 

of which equity and near-equity instruments – 19 – 19 

Total  10,129 8,809 2,597 21,535
    

1) The difference between the total AfS financial investments in the asset hierarchy table and the fair value disclosures in Section I is attributable to effects in the item Value adjustments from the portfolio fair value hedge in the 

amount of € 365 million. These effects are not disclosed in the hierarchy table.  
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HIERARCHY LEVELS, LIABILITIES 
   

(€ m) Liabilities recognised at fair value 

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities to banks         

DFV – 11 107 118 

of which debt instruments – 11 107 118 

Liabilities to customers         

DFV – 302 517 819 

of which debt instruments – 302 517 819 

Securitised liabilities         

DFV – 1,230 397 1,627 

of which debt instruments – 1,230 397 1,627 

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives – 163 – 163 

of which interest rate derivatives – 163 – 163 

Trading assets (HfT) – 3,134 741 3,875 

of which interest rate derivatives – 2,780 485 3,265 

of which cross-currency interest rate derivatives – 110 – 110 

of which currency derivatives – 59 – 59 

of which other derivatives – – 43 43 

of which structured derivatives – 185 213 398 

Total – 4,840 1,762 6,602
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HIERARCHY LEVELS, LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) Liabilities recognised at fair value 

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Liabilities to banks         

DFV – 11 109 120 

of which debt instruments – 11 109 120 

Liabilities to customers         

DFV – 313 1,018 1,331 

of which debt instruments – 313 1,018 1,331 

Securitised liabilities         

DFV – 1,762 494 2,256 

of which debt instruments – 1,762 494 2,256 

Negative fair values of hedging derivatives – 290 – 290 

of which interest rate derivatives – 290 – 290 

Trading assets (HfT) – 4,982 999 5,981 

of which interest rate derivatives – 4,171 583 4,754 

of which cross-currency interest rate derivatives – 396 – 396 

of which currency derivatives – 152 40 192 

of which other derivatives – – 51 51 

of which structured derivatives – 263 325 588 

Subordinated capital         

DFV – 87 – 87 

of which debt instruments – 87 – 87 

Total – 7,445 2,620 10,065
  
     
  

 

Of the financial instruments allocated to level 3, € 1,871 million of 
assets (previous year: € 2,101 million) and € 1,384 million of liabilities 
(previous year: € 2,068 million) are in economic hedging relationships 
(at micro level), so that existing uncertainties and risk positions due to 
unobservable inputs offset each other at the level hedging relation-
ships (at micro level) involved. 
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In the period under review financial instruments measured at fair 
value were transferred from one hierarchy level to another. These 

transfers are shown below together with the carrying amounts at the 
time of transfer for each class of financial instruments. 

 
TRANSFER, ASSETS 
    

(€ m)  
2017 

Transfer to 

level 1 

Transfer from 

level 1 

Transfer to 

level 2 

Transfer from 

level 2 

Transfer to 

level 3 

Transfer from 

level 3 

Trading assets (HfT) 39 – 27 27 – 79 40 – 

of which debt instruments 39 – 27 27 – 39 – – 

of which interest rate derivatives – – – – 14 14 – 

of which structured derivatives – – – – 26 26 – 

Financial investments  
(excl. equity instruments measured at cost)             

AfS 5,744 – 4,218 4,218 – 5,744 – – 

of which debt instruments 5,744 – 4,218 4,218 – 5,744 – – 

Total 5,783 – 4,245 4,245 – 5,823 40 –
    
       
    

 

TRANSFER, ASSETS 
    

(€ m)  
2016 

Transfer to 
level 1 

Transfer from 
level 1 

Transfer to 
level 2 

Transfer from 
level 2 

Transfer to 
level 3 

Transfer from 
level 3 

Trading assets (HfT) 223 – 86 87 – 223 – – 1 

of which debt instruments 223 – 86 86 – 223 – – 

Financial investments  
(excl. equity instruments measured at cost)             

AfS 3,770 – 1,853 1,864 – 3,770 – – 11 

of which debt instruments 3,770 – 1,853 1,864 – 3,770 – – 11 

Total 3,993 – 1,939 1,951 – 3,993 – – 12
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TRANSFER, LIABILITIES 
      

(€ m)  
2017 

Transfer to 

level 1 

Transfer from 

level 1 

Transfer to 

level 2 

Transfer from 

level 2 

Transfer to 

level 3 

Transfer from 

level 3 

Amounts owed to customers – – – – – – 

DFV – – – – 6 6 – 

of which debt instruments – – – – 6 6 – 

Trading assets (HfT) – – – – 31 31 – 

of which interest rate derivatives – – – – 5 5 – 

of which structured derivatives – – – – 26 26 – 

Total – – – – 37 37 –
   
       
   

 
 
There were no liability transfers in the reporting year. 
 
IFRS 13 and IDW RS HFA 47 specify the principles to be applied in 
determining the fair value. They also include the guidelines for assign-
ing input factors to the fair value hierarchy levels. HSH Nordbank uses 
prices obtained from pricing services such as Bloomberg or Reuters to 
measure interest-bearing securities, for which the OTC market is the 
relevant market. Average prices determined on the basis of binding 
offers or transaction-based prices are level 2 input factors within the 
meaning of IFRS 13 and IDW RS HFA 47. Interest-bearing securities 
were accordingly transferred from level 1 to level 2 or vice versa in the 
reporting period – depending on the prices used for measurement.  

There were reclassifications from level 2 to level 3 within the context 
of model validations. 

The following shows the reconciliation for all assets and liabilities 
recognised at fair value and assigned to level 3 in the fair value hierar-
chy. The data is presented by class of financial instrument from the 
start to the end of the period. The table takes into account all move-
ments of assets and liabilities which were or are allocated to level 3 
during the reporting period. 

Income relating to liability items is shown with a negative sign and 
expenses are shown without a sign in the reconciliations below. 
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RECONCILIATION, ASSETS 
   

(€ m) 
 

Change in balance affecting 
income 

2017 1 January 2017 

 

 

 

 

Realised net 

income (income 

statement) 

Net income not 

recognised in 

profit or loss 

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type      

Loans and advances to banks       

AfS 44 – 2 1 

of which debt instruments 44 – 2 1 

Loans and advances to customers       

AfS 61 – 9 – 

of which debt instruments 61 – 9 – 

DFV 1,273 – 58 – 

of which debt instruments 1,273 – 58 – 

Credit derivative second loss guarantee (HfT) 199 815 – 

of which credit derivatives 199 815 – 

Trading assets (HfT) 446 – 126 – 

of which debt instruments 9 – – 

of which interest rate derivatives 96 – 49 – 

of which currency derivatives 29 – 19 – 

of which other derivatives 51 – 8 – 

of which structured derivatives 261 – 50 – 

Financial investments (excluding equity instruments measured at cost)       

AfS 29 – 54 8 

of which equity and near-equity instruments 29 – 54 8 

DFV 545 – 32 – 

of which debt instruments 544 – 32 – 

of which equity and near-equity instruments 1 – – 

Total 2,597 534 9 
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Quantitative change 
 in balance Transfers     

Purchases Sales Settlements From level 3 To level 3 
Reclas-

sification 
Exchange 

rate changes 
31 Decem
ber 2017

Net income
from 

assets 
held 
as at 

31 December 
2017 

               

                  – 

  – – – – – – – 43 – 2 

  – – – – – – – 43 – 2 

                    

  – – – – – – – 7 45 – 9 

  – – – – – – – 7 45 – 9 

  – – 11 – – – – – 3 1,201 – 58 

  – – 11 – – – – – 3 1,201 – 58 

  – – – – – – – 1,014 815 

  – – – – – – – 1,014 815 

  8 – 20 – – 40 – – 348 – 16 

   7 – 9 – – – – –  7 – 

  – – – – 14 – – 61 – 14 

  1 – 10 – – – – – 1 – 

  – – – – – – – 43 – 8 

  – – 1 – – 26 – – 236 6 

                    

  – – 26 – – – 132 – 4 85 – 54 

  – – 26 – – – 132 – 4 85 – 54 

  – – – 23 – – – – 2 488 1 

  – – – 23 – – – – 2 487 1 

  – – – – – – – 1 – 

 8 – 57 – 23 – 40 132 – 16 3,224 677
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RECONCILIATION, ASSETS 
   

(€ m) 
 

Change in balance  
affecting income 

2016 1 January 2016 

 

 

Realisednet 

income (income 

statement) 

Net income not 

recognised in 

profit or loss 

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type      

Loans and advances to banks       

AfS 44 – – 1 

of which debt instruments 44 – – 1 

Loans and advances to customers       

AfS 104 – – 5 

of which debt instruments 104 – – 5 

DFV 1,254 47 – 

of which debt instruments 1,254 47 – 

Credit derivative second loss guarantee (HfT) 663 – 464 – 

of which credit derivatives 663 – 464 – 

Trading assets (HfT) 496 – 62 – 

of which debt instruments – – – 

of which interest rate derivatives 150 – 55 – 

of which currency derivatives 29 – – 

of which other derivatives 17 34 – 

of which structured derivatives 300 – 41 – 

Financial investments (excluding equity instruments measured at cost)       

AfS 159 – 1 

of which debt instruments 16 – – 

of which equity and near-equity instruments 143 – 1 

DFV 546 24 – 

of which debt instruments 544 24 – 

of which equity and near-equity instruments 2 – – 

Total 3,266 – 455 – 5 
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  Quantitative change 
 in balance Transfers     

  Purchases Sales Settlements From level 3 To level 3 Reclassification 

Exchange rate 

changes 

31 December 

2016 

Net income 

from assets held 

as at 

31 December 

2016 

               

                  – 

  – – – – – – 1 44 – 

  – – – – – – 1 44 – 

                  – 

  – – – 39 – – – 1 61 – 

  – – – 39 – – – 1 61 – 

  – – 29 – – – – 1 1,273 42 

  – – 29 – – – – 1 1,273 42 

 – – – – – – – 199 – 464 

  – – – – – – – 199 – 464 

  9 – – – 1 – – 4 446 – 16 

  9 – – – – – – 9 – 

  – – – – – – 1 96 – 43 

  – – – – – – – 29 – 

  – – – – 1 – – 1 51 34 

  – – – – – – 2 261 – 7 

                    

  – – 120 – 5 – 11 – – 5 29 – 

  – – – 5 – 11 – – – – – 

  – – 120 – – – – 5 29 – 

  – – 1 – 28 – – – 4 545 26 

  – – – 28 – – – 4 544 26 

  – – 1 – – – – – 1 – 

 9 – 150 – 72 – 12 – – 16 2,597 – 412
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RECONCILIATION, LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 
 

Change in balance 
 affecting income 

2017 
1 January

2017 

 

 

Realisednet income  

(income statement) 

Net income not 

recognised in

 profit or loss 

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type     

Liabilities to banks       

DFV 109 – 2 – 

of which debt instruments 109 – 2 – 

Liabilities to customers       

DFV 1,018 – 40 3 

of which debt instruments 1,018 – 40 3 

Securitised liabilities       

DFV 494 – 19 6 

of which debt instruments 494 – 19 6 

Trading assets (HfT) 999 – 260 – 

of which interest rate derivatives 583 – 98 – 

of which currency derivatives 40 – 29 – 

of which other derivatives 51 – 8 – 

of which structured derivatives 325 – 125 – 

Total 2,620 – 321 9
  
     
  

 

  



GROUP EXPLANATORY NOTES     GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 203
 

 

 
     

Quantitative change 
 in balance Transfers     

Purchases Sales 

New 

business Settlements From level 3 To level 3 Reclassification 

Exchange 

ratechanges 

31 

December 

2017 

Net income 

from assets 

held as at

 31 December 

2017 

              

                    

– – – – – – – – 107 2 

– – – – – – – – 107 2 

                    

18 – 10 – – 476 – 6 – – 2 517 15 

18 – 10 – – 476 – 6 – – 2 517 15 

                    

– 27 5 – – 40 – – – – 22 397 18 

– 27 5 – – 40 – – – – 22 397 18 

– – 29 – – – 31 – – 741 91 

– – 5 – – – 5 – – 485 92 

– – 11 – – – – – – – – 

– – – – – – – – 43 8 

– – 13 – – – 26 – – 213 – 9 

– 9 – 34 – – 516 – 37 – – 24 1,762 126
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RECONCILIATION, LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 
 

Change in balance  
affecting income 

2016 
1 January 

2016 

 
 

Realised net 
income(income 

statement) 

Net income not 
recognised in 
profit or loss 

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type     

Liabilities to banks       

DFV 120 – 6 – 

of which debt instruments 120 – 6 – 

Liabilities to customers       

DFV 1,166 – 45 – 

of which debt instruments 1,166 – 45 – 

Securitised liabilities       

DFV 644 – 39 – 

of which debt instruments 644 – 39 – 

Trading assets (HfT) 885 112 – 

of which interest rate derivatives 541 42 – 

of which currency derivatives 40 – – 

of which other derivatives 16 34 – 

of which structured derivatives 288 36 – 

Total 2,815 22 –
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Quantitative change 
 in balance Transfers     

Purchases Sales 

New  

business Settlements From level 3 To level 3 Reclassification 

Exchange rate 

changes 

31 

December 

2016 

Net income 

from assets 

held as at 

31 December 

2016 

                 

                      

  5 – – – 10 – – – – 109 7 

  5 – – – 10 – – – – 109 7 

                      

  58 – 7 – – 155 – – – 1 2 1,018 67 

  58 – 7 – – 155 – – – 1 2 1,018 67 

                      

  – 6 – 12 – 144 – – – 27 494 6 

  – 6 – 12 – 144 – – – 27 494 6 

  – – – – – – – 2 999 – 164 

  – – – – – – – – 583 – 48 

  – – – – – – – – 40 – 

  – – – – – – – 1 51 – 34 

  – – – – – – – 1 325 – 82 

  57 – 7 12 – 309 – – – 1 31 2,620 – 84
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The following tables show the items containing realised and unreal-
ised gains and losses in the income statement and equity (statement of 
comprehensive income). 

 

 
 

NET INCOME ITEMS FROM RECONCILIATION, ASSETS 
   

(€ m)  
Realised/unrealised net income (income statement) 

2017 
Net interest 

income 
Net trading 

income 

Net income 
from 

financial 
investments 

Hedging 
effect of 

credit 
derivative 

second loss 
guarantee Total

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type       

Loans and advances to banks           

AfS – 2 – – – – 2 

of which debt instruments – 2 – – – – 2 

Loans and advances to customers           

AfS – – – 9 – – 9 

of which debt instruments – – – 9 – – 9 

DFV – – 58 – – – 58 

of which debt instruments – – 58 – – – 58 

Credit derivative second loss guarantee (HfT) – – – 815 815 

of which credit derivatives – – – 815 815 

Trading assets (HfT) – 49 – 77 – – – 126 

of which interest rate derivatives – 49 – – – – 49 

of which currency derivatives – – 19 – – – 19 

of which other derivatives – – 8 – – – 8 

of which structured derivatives   – 50     – 50 

Financial investments (excluding equity instruments measured at cost) – – – – – 

AfS – – – 54 – – 54 

of which equity and near-equity instruments – – – 54 – – 54 

DFV – – 32 – – – 32 

of which debt instruments – – 32 – – – 32 

Total – 51 – 167 – 63 815 534
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Other net income 
for the period 

 
Net income from assets still held as at 31 December 2017 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Net interest 
income 

Net trading 
income 

Net income from 
financial 

investments 

 
 

Hedging effect of 
credit derivative 

second loss 
guarantee Total 

Other net income 
for the period 

             

                

  1 – 2 – – – – 2 1 

  1 – 2 – – – – 2 1 

                

  – – – – 9 – – 9 – 

  – – – – 9 – – 9 – 

  – – – 58 – – – 58 – 

  – – – 58 – – – 58 – 

  – – – – 815 815 – 

  – – – – 815 815 – 

  – 2 – 18 – – – 16 – 

  – – – 14 – – – 14 – 

  – – – – – – – 

  – – – 8 – – – 8 – 

   2 4 – – 6 – 

  – – –  –  – 

  8 – – – 54 – – 54 8 

  8 – – – 54 – – 54 8 

  – 2 – 1 – – 1 – 

  – 2 – 1 – – 1 – 

  9 2 – 77 – 63 815 677 9
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NET INCOME ITEMS FROM RECONCILIATION, ASSETS 
  

(€ m)  
 

Realised/unrealised net income (income statement) 

2016 
Net interest 

income 
Net trading 

income 

Net income 
from 

financial 
investments 

Hedging 
effect of 

credit 
derivative 

second loss 
guarantee Total 

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type       

Loans and advances to banks           

AfS – – – – – 

of which debt instruments – – – – – 

Loans and advances to customers – – – – – 

AfS – – – – – 

 of which debt instruments – – – – – 

DFV – 1 48 – – 47 

of which debt instruments – 1 48 – – 47 

Credit derivative second loss guarantee (HfT) – – – – 464 – 464 

of which credit derivatives – – – – 464 – 464 

Trading assets (HfT) – 10 – 52 – – – 62 

of which interest rate derivatives – 5 – 50 – – – 55 

of which other derivatives – 5 39 – – 34 

of which structured derivatives – – 41 – – – 41 

Financial investments (excluding equity instruments measured at cost)           

AfS – – – – – 

of which debt instruments – – – – – 

of which equity and near-equity instruments – – – – – 

DFV – 1 25 – – 24 

of which debt instruments – 1 25 – – 24 

Total – 12 21 – – 464 – 455
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  Other net 
income for the 

period 
 

Net income from assets still held as at 31 December 2016 

  
Revaluation 

reserve 
Net interest 

income 
Net trading 

income 

Net income 
from financial 

investments 

 
Hedging 

effect of credit 
derivative 

second loss 
guarantee Total 

Other net 
income for the 

period 

 
           

                

  – 1 – – – – – – 1 

  – 1 – – – – – – 1 

                

  – 5 – – – – – – 7 

  – 5 – – – – – – 7 

  – – 42 – – 42 – 

  – – 42 – – 42 – 

  – – – – – 464 – 464 – 

  – – – – – 464 – 464 – 

  – 4 – 20 – – – 16 – 

  – 1 – 44 – – – 43 – 

  – – 34 – – 34 – 

  – 3 – 10 – – – 7 – 

                

  1 – – – – – – 2 

  – – – – – – – 1 

  1 – – – – – – 1 

  – – 26 – – 26 – 

  – – 26 – – 26 – 

  – 5 4 48 – – 464 – 412 – 10
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NET INCOME ITEMS FROM RECONCILIATION, LIABILITIES 
     

(€ m) 

Realised/unrealised net income (income statement) 

Other net 
income 
for the 
period Net income from liabilities still held as at 31 December 2017 

2017 
Net interest 

income 

Net 

trading 

income 

Net 

income 

from 

financial 

investments Total 

Revaluation 

reserve 

Net interest 

income 

Net 

trading 

income 

Net 

income 

from 

financial 

investments Total 

Other net 

income for 

the period 

Balance sheet 
item/category/ 
instrument type                

Liabilities to banks                     

DFV – 2 – 2 – – 2 – 2 – 

of which debt 
instruments – 2 – 2 – – 2 – 2 – 

Liabilities to customers                     

DFV – 6 46 – 40 – 3 – 15 – 15 – 2 

of which debt 
instruments – 6 46 – 40 – 3 – 15 – 15 – 2 

Securitised liabilities                     

DFV – 19 – 19 – 6 – 18 – 18 – 6 

of which debt 
instruments – 19 – 19 – 6 – 18 – 18 – 6 

Trading liabilities (HfT) 23 237 – 260 – 2 89 – 91 – 

of which interest 
rate derivatives 3 95 – 98 – 2 90 – 92 – 

of which currency 
derivatives – 29 – 29 – – – – – – 

of which other 
derivatives – 8 – 8 – – 8 – 8 – 

of which 
structured 
derivatives 20 105 – 125 – – – 9 – – 9 – 

Total 17 304 – 321 – 9 2 124 – 126 – 8
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NET INCOME ITEMS FROM RECONCILIATION, LIABILITIES 
      

(€ m) 

Realised/unrealised net income (income statement) 

Other net 
income 
for the 
period Net income from liabilities still held as at 31 December 2016 

2016 

Net 

interest 

income 

Net 

trading 

income 

Net 

income 

from 

financial 

investments Total 

Revaluation 

reserve 

Net 

interest 

income 

Net 

trading 

income 

Net 

income 

from 

financial 

investments Total 

Other net 

income for 

the period 

Balance sheet 
item/category/ 
instrument type              

Liabilities to banks                     

DFV – 6 – 6 – – 7 – 7 – 

of which debt 
instruments – 6 – 6 – – 7 – 7 – 

Liabilities to customers                     

DFV 5 40 – 45 – – 1 68 – 67 – 

of which debt 
instruments 5 40 – 45 – – 1 68 – 67 – 

Securitised liabilities                     

DFV 1 38 – 39 – – 6 – 6 – 

of which debt 
instruments 1 38 – 39 – – 6 – 6 – 

Trading liabilities (HfT) 5 – 117 – – 112 – – 3 – 161 – – 164 – 

of which interest 
rate derivatives 2 – 44 – – 42 – – – 48 – – 48 – 

of which other 
derivatives – – 34 – – 34 – – – 34 – – 34 – 

of which 
structured 
derivatives 3 – 39 – – 36 – – 3 – 79 – – 82 – 

Total 11 – 33 – – 22 – – 4 – 80 – – 84 –
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III. Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments not 

measured at fair value 

The following tables show the distribution of fair values by asset and 
liability class to the individual levels of the fair value hierarchy as 
defined under IFRS 13 for financial instruments not measured at fair 
value on the balance sheet. 

 

 
HIERARCHY LEVELS, ASSETS 
      

(€ m) Assets not recognised at fair value  

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type       

Cash reserve (LaR) – 6,519 – 6,519 

Loans and advances to banks (LaR) – 3,676 88 3,764 

of which debt instruments – 3,676 88 3,764 

Payable on demand – 349 – 349 

Other receivables – 3,327 88 3,415 

Loans and advances to customers (LaR) – 2,955 30,564 33,519 

of which debt instruments – 2,955 30,564 33,519 

Retail customers – 14 643 657 

Corporate clients – 1,369 28,629 29,998 

Public authorities – 1,572 1,292 2,864 

Financial investments (LaR) 21 602 17 640 

of which debt instruments 21 519 17 557 

of which contractually linked instruments – 83 – 83 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups (LaR) – 14 12 26 

of which debt instruments – 14 12 26 

 of which securitisation instruments – – – – 

 of which equity and near-equity instruments – – – – 

Other assets (LaR) – 35 – 35 

of which debt instruments – 35 – 35 

Total  21 13,801 30,681 44,503
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HIERARCHY LEVELS, ASSETS 
    

(€ m) Assets not recognised at fair value  

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Balance sheet item/ category/ instrument type      

Cash reserve (LaR) – 3,373 – 3,373 

Loans and advances to banks (LaR)   4,070 52 4,122 

of which debt instruments – 4,070 52 4,122 

Payable on demand – 2,969 – 2,969 

Other receivables – 1,101 52 1,153 

Loans and advances to customers (LaR)   6,226 36,860 43,086 

of which debt instruments – 6,226 36,860 43,086 

Retail customers – 32 953 985 

Corporate clients – 2,379 35,407 37,786 

Public authorities – 3,815 500 4,315 

Financial investments (LaR) 40 956 567 1,563 

of which debt instruments 40 791 15 846 

of which contractually linked instruments – 165 552 717 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups (LaR) – 7 903 910 

of which debt instruments – 7 903 910 

Other assets (LaR) – 50 – 50 

of which debt instruments – 50 – 50 

Total  40 14,682 38,382 53,104
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HIERARCHY LEVELS, LIABILITIES 
   

(€ m) Liabilities not recognised at fair value 

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities to banks (LIA) – 7,570 484 8,054 

of which debt instruments – 7,570 484 8,054 

Liabilities to customers (LIA) – 35,734 460 36,194 

of which debt instruments – 35,734 460 36,194 

Securitised liabilities (LIA) – 10,786 – 10,786 

of which debt instruments – 10,159 – 10,159 

of which contractually linked instruments – 627 – 627 

Liabilities from disposal groups (LIA) – – 2 2 

of which debt instruments – – 2 2 

Subordinated capital (LIA) – 1,399 804 2,203 

of which debt instruments – 1,399 804 2,203 

Other liabilities (LIA) – 638 – 638 

of which debt instruments – 638 – 638 

Total – 56,127 1,750 57,877
   
     
   

 

HIERARCHY LEVELS, LIABILITIES 
   

(€ m) Liabilities not recognised at fair value 

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Liabilities to banks (LIA) – 8,155 1,232 9,387 

of which debt instruments – 8,155 1,232 9,387 

Liabilities to customers (LIA) – 39,233 658 39,891 

of which debt instruments – 39,233 658 39,891 

Securitised liabilities (LIA) – 14,138 – 14,138 

of which debt instruments – 13,144 – 13,144 

of which contractually linked instruments – 994 – 994 

Liabilities from disposal groups (LIA) – – 2 2 

of which debt instruments – – 2 2 

Subordinated capital (LIA) – 2,862 86 2,948 

of which debt instruments – 2,862 86 2,948 

Other liabilities (LIA) – 812 – 812 

of which debt instruments – 812 – 812 

Total – 65,200 1,978 67,178
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IV. Information on significant unobservable inputs 

Quantitative information on significant unobservable 

inputs  

The following overview contains quantitative information on signifi-
cant unobservable inputs.  
 
FAIR VALUE 
    

(€ m) 
 
2017   Assets Liabilities 

Measure-
ment 

procedures 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs (level 3) Margin 

(Weighted) 
average 
margin 

Loans and advances  

to banks AfS 
Debt 

instruments 43 – DCF method Spread (bps) 54 54 

Loans and advances  

to customers AfS 
Debt 

instruments 45 – 
DCF method 

Price Spread (bps)Price 700 700 

 DFV 
Debt 

instruments 1,201 – 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

          
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 29 % – 33 % – 10 % 

        Price Price 25 – 83 68 

Credit derivative 
under the second loss 
guarantee HfT 

Credit 
derivatives 1,014 – DCF method Expected cash flow  –  – 

Trading assets/trading 
liabilities HfT 

Debt 
instruments 7 – DCF method Spread (bps) 175 – 200 199 

  
Interest rate 
derivatives 61 485 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

          
Interest rate 

volatility 5 % – 23 % 12 % 

          
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 29 % – 33 % – 10 % 

  
Currency 

derivatives 1 – 

Option 
pricing 
model FX correlation 44 % – 64 % 54 % 

  
Other 

derivatives 43 43 

Option 
pricing 
model 

Shares  
FX correlation – 45 % – 25 % – 5 % 

  
Structured 
derivatives 236 213 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

          
Interest rate 

volatility 5 % – 23 % 12 % 

          
Interest rate 
correlation – 73 % – 21 % 21 % 

          
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 29 % – 33 % – 10 % 

          FX correlation 44 % – 64 % 54 % 
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FAIR VALUE 
      

(€ m) 
 
2017   Assets Liabilities 

Measure-
ment 

procedures 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs (level 3) Margin 

(Weighted) 
average 
margin 

Financial investments AfS 

Equity and 
near-equity 
instruments 85 – Price Price 1 – 12,000 1600 

          
DCF 

method Spread (bps) 20 20 

            Capital costs 6 % – 10 % 8 % 

  DFV 
Debt 

instruments 487 – 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

            
Interest rate 

volatility 5 % – 23 % 12 % 

    

Equity and 
near-equity 
instruments 1 – Price Price 5 5 

Liabilities to banks DFV 
Debt 

instruments – 107 

Option 
pricing 
model 

Interest rate 
volatility 5 % – 23 % 12 % 

            
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 29 % – 33 % – 10 % 

Liabilities to customers DFV 
Debt 

instruments – 517 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

            
Interest rate 

volatility 5 % – 23 % 12 % 

            
Interest rate 
correlation – 73 % – 21 % 21 % 

            
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 29 % – 33 % – 10 % 

Securitised liabilities DFV 
Debt 

instruments – 397 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

            
Interest rate 

volatility 5 % – 23 % 12 % 

            FX correlation 44 % – 64 % 54 % 

            
Shares  

FX correlation – 45 % – 25 % – 5 % 

          Price Price 52 – 83 62 

   3,224 1,762  
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 FAIR VALUE 
    

(€ m) 
 
2016   Assets Liabilities 

Measure-
ment 

procedures 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs (level 3) Margin 

(Weighted) 
average 
margin 

Loans and advances to 
banks AfS 

Debt 
instruments 44 – DCF method Spread (bps) 54 54 

Loans and advances to 
customers AfS 

Debt 
instruments 61 – 

DCF method 
Price Spread (bps)Price 700 700 

 DFV 
Debt 

instruments 1,273 – 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

    –     
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 32 % – 16 % – 16 % 

        Price Price 37 – 87 73 

Credit derivative 
under the second loss 
guarantee HfT 

Credit 
derivatives 199 – DCF method Expected cash flow  –  – 

Trading assets/trading 
liabilities HfT 

Debt 
instruments 9 – Price Price 100 100 

  
Interest rate 
derivatives 96 583 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

          
Interest rate 

volatility 19 % – 77 % 31 % 

          
Interest rate 
correlation 

– 51 % –
 100 % 23 % 

          
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 32 % – 16 % – 16 % 

  
Currency 

derivatives 29 40 

Option 
pricing 
model FX correlation 35 % – 66 % 49 % 

  
Other 

derivatives 51 51 

Option 
pricing 
model 

Shares  
FX correlation – 30 % – 44 % – 1 % 

  
Structured 
derivatives 261 325 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

          
Interest rate 

volatility 19 % – 77 % 31 % 

          
Interest rate 
correlation 

– 51 % –
 100 % 23 % 

          
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 32 % – 16 % – 16 % 

          FX correlation 35 % – 66 % 49 % 
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FAIR VALUE 
      

(€ m) 
 
2016   Assets Liabilities 

Measure-
ment 

procedures 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs (level 3) Margin 

(Weighted) 
average 
margin 

Financial investments AfS 

Equity and 
near-equity 
instruments 29 – Price Price 1 – 14,000 279 

  DFV 
Debt 

instruments 544 – 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

            
Interest rate 

volatility 19 % – 77 % 31 % 

          Price Price 7 7 

    

Equity and 
near-equity 
instruments 1 – Price Price 1 – 100 94 

Liabilities to banks DFV 
Debt 

instruments – 109 

Option 
pricing 
model 

Interest rate 
volatility 19 % – 77 % 31 % 

            
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 32 % – 16 % – 16 % 

Liabilities to customers DFV 
Debt 

instruments – 1,018 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

            
Interest rate 

volatility 19 % – 77 % 31 % 

            
Interest rate 
correlation 

– 51 % –
 100 % 23 % 

            
Interest rate  

FX correlation – 32 % – 16 % – 16 % 

Securitised liabilities DFV 
Debt 

instruments – 494 

Option 
pricing 
model Mean reversion 0 % – 10 % 2 % 

            
Interest rate 

volatility 19 % – 77 % 31 % 

            FX correlation 35 % – 66 % 49 % 

            
Shares  

FX correlation – 30 % – 44 % – 1 % 

          Price Price 62 62 

   2,597 2,620  
      
         
      

 

The correlation and volatility ranges shown for derivatives cover 
derivatives with different types of underlying, tenors and exercise 
prices. 

The overview also includes financial instruments, whose change in 
value resulting from inputs unobservable in the market does not give 
rise to any P&L effect due to economic hedging relationships (at the 
micro level). Changes in value attributable to the respective relevant 
inputs are offset for these financial instruments by the changes in 
value of the hedging derivatives.  
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Sensitivities of fair values in relation to unobservable 

inputs  

The following describes how the fair values of financial instruments 
can change as a result of fluctuations in significant unobservable 
inputs. 

Correlation 

Correlation can represent an important unobservable input for the 
measurement of derivatives. It is a measure of the degree to which two 
reference values move in relation to each other. Correlation is an 
important input for the model-based determination of the fair value 
of derivatives with more than one underlying. Financial instruments 
of this type include, for example, derivatives with several currencies 
(“FX basket”) or several shares as the underlyings (“equity basket” 
derivatives). Currency correlations describe the relationship between 
changes in value of several currencies. Share correlations express the 
relationship between yields on different shares. A high degree of 
correlation means that there is a high relationship between the 
changes in value of the respective underlyings.  

Depending on the type of derivative changes in correlation can have a 
positive or negative effect on the fair value. For example, in the case of 
a “best of two” derivative, an increase in the correlation between two 
underlyings results in a decrease of the fair value of the derivative 
from the perspective of the purchaser. 

Volatility 

Volatility can also represent an important unobservable input for the 
measurement of options. It expresses how strongly the value of the 
underlying fluctuates over time. The amount of volatility depends on 
the type of the underlying, its tenor and the exercise price agreed for 
the option.  

The fair value of options typically increases if volatility increases. The 
sensitivity of the fair value of options to changes in volatility can vary 
considerably. For example, the sensitivity of the fair value to changes 
in volatility is comparatively high, if the price of the underlying is 
close to the agreed exercise price (“at-the-money”). By contrast, sensi-
tivity to changes in volatility is lower, if the price of the underlying is 
far from the exercise price (“far out-of-the-money” or “far in-the-
money”). 

Price 

Prices can represent an important unobservable input for the meas-
urement of financial instruments. These prices represent pricing 
information of third parties within the meaning of IFRS 13.93(d) 
sentence 4, whereby the Bank does not produce any quantitative, 
unobservable input factors for measuring the fair value of the respec-
tive financial instrument. More detailed quantitative information on 
these input factors is not required therefore. The fair value increases, if 
the price increases, and it falls, if the price declines. 

Reciprocal effects between unobservable inputs  

Reciprocal effects between unobservable inputs can exist in principle. 
If several unobservable inputs are used in determining fair value, the 
range of the possible characteristics for another unobservable input 
can be restricted or increased by the characteristic used for one of the 
relevant unobservable inputs.  

Effects of unobservable inputs  

If the measurement of a financial instrument is based partly on unob-
servable inputs, the fair value determined is the best estimated value 
in accordance with a discretionary decision made by the Bank. How-
ever, it remains subjective in that there may be alternative input selec-
tion options that cannot be refuted by observable market data. For 
many of the financial instruments included (such as derivatives) the 
unobservable inputs only represent a subset of the total inputs  
required for the measurement. The remaining inputs are observable 
inputs. 

An alternative choice of inputs for the unobservable inputs depending 
on the limits of a possible range would have had the effect on the fair 
value of the financial instruments in question as set out in the follow-
ing tables. Advantageous and disadvantageous changes to fair value 
arise as a result of the recalculation of fair values based on possible 
alternative values to the relevant unobservable inputs. In doing so, 
interest rate volatilities were changed by +/– 5 %, all correlations by 
+/– 20 % (capped at +/– 100 %), mean reversion by +/– 0.5 % and 
spreads by +/– 50 bp. 
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a) Financial instruments for which there are no economic hedging 
relationships in place (at the micro level): 

 

 
FAIR VALUE CHANGES LEVEL 3 
     

(€ m)   2017 2016 

   
advanta-

geous
disadvanta-

geous advantageous 
dis-

advantageous 

Loans and advances to customers AfS Debt instruments 1 1 3 3 

Credit derivative under the  
second loss guarantee HfT Credit derivatives 3 3 9 10 

Trading assets/trading liabilities HfT 
Interest rate 
derivatives 8 8 1 1 

    Other derivatives – – 1 1 

    
Structured 
derivatives 4 4 2 2 

Financial investments AfS 
Equity and near-

equity instruments 4 4 1 1 

      20 20 17 18

thereof measured in profit or loss     15 15 13 14 

thereof not measured in profit of loss     5 5 4 4 
     
          
        

 
 
There are no hedging derivatives in place for the financial instruments 
included in the above table that fully hedge the risk relating to changes 
in fair value caused by changes in unobservable inputs. However, there 
may be hedging derivatives in place that approximately hedge the 
changes in value. 
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b) Financial instruments for which there are economic hedging rela-
tionships in place (at the micro level): 

 

 
FAIR VALUE CHANGES LEVEL 3 
   

(€ m)   2017 2016 

   
advanta-

geous
disadvanta-

geous advantageous 
dis-

advantageous 

Loans and advances to customers DFV Debt instruments 1 1 2 2 

Trading assets/trading liabilities HfT 
Interest rate 
derivatives 1 1 1 1 

    
Structured 
derivatives 2 2 2 2 

Liabilities to banks  DFV Debt instruments 1 1 1 1 

Liabilities to customers DFV Debt instruments – – 1 1 

Securitised liabilities DFV Debt instruments 1 1 1 1 

    6 6 8 8

thereof measured in profit or loss     6 6 8 8 

thereof not measured in profit of loss     – – – – 
   
          
     

 

There are hedging derivatives in place for the financial instruments 
included in the above table that hedge the risk relating to changes in 
fair value caused by changes in unobservable inputs. The changes in 
value shown would not be reflected in the income statement as they 
are offset by changes in fair value of the hedging derivatives. 

V. Day One Profit and Loss 

The day one profit and loss reserve developed as follows: 
    

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Holdings as at 1 January 13 22 

Additions not recognised in profit or loss 1 2 

Reversals recognised in profit or loss 12 11 

Holdings as at 31 December 2 13
  
      
    

 

The day one profit and loss reserve is solely attributable to financial 
instruments classified as HfT. 

VI. Equity instruments measured at cost 

Fair values are calculated for equity instruments which are not listed. 
The portfolio of shares and other non-interest bearing securities 
measured at cost amounts to € 0 million (previous year: € 125 million). 
Equity capital instruments accounted for at cost that relate to interests 
in affiliated companies and equity holdings in non-affiliated companies 
amount to € 0 million (previous year: € 78 million).  

In the year under review, equity instruments classified as AfS not 
measured at fair value with a carrying amount of € 43 million (previ-
ous year € 26 million) were disposed of. This did not result in any 
income, as was the case in the previous year. 
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55. OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are netted and disclosed as a 
net amount on the balance sheet, if there is a legal entitlement to do so 
at the current point in time. Furthermore, it is intended to settle the 
claims on a net basis or to settle the associated liability at the time the 
asset concerned is realised. 

Set out below are the financial instruments on the balance sheet that 
were netted as at the reporting date as well as financial instruments, 
which are subject to a legally enforceable global netting agreement, 
irrespective of whether the financial instruments concerned are actu-
ally netted on the face of the balance sheet. ISDA master agreements 
and the Master Agreement for Financial Derivative Transactions 
(DRV) are the master agreements customarily used by 
HSH Nordbank for OTC transactions. These only provide for the 
netting of reciprocal claims and obligations in the event of the termi-

nation of all individual transactions under a master agreement that is 
based on specific events and therefore do not permit netting of the 
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet. HSH Nordbank has entered 
into clearing agreements with brokers for certain OTC derivatives 
enabling the Bank to access central counterparties (clearing houses). 
The contractual arrangements for these transactions include a legal 
right to set off financial assets and financial liabilities that can be 
enforced legally at any time and thereby result in the offsetting of 
positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments 
and of collateral provided and received in accordance with IAS 32.42. 

The fair value of the collateral received or provided in this connection 
is also given in this table. This includes cash collateral as well as finan-
cial instruments received or provided as collateral. 

 
FINANCIAL ASSETS 
    

(€ m) 
 
 
 
2017 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Gross 
carrying 

amount from 
netting Net amount 

Gross 
amount, 
netting 

criteria not 
met 

Collateral 
received 

Net amount 
after 

collateral 

Loans and advances to banks  1,492 –  1,492 –  1,432  60 

Loans and advances to customers  505 –  505 –  424  81 

Derivatives 4,206 945 3,261 2,068 326 867 
    
       
    

 

In the year under review the netted amounts disclosed under Loans 
and advances to banks and Loans and advances to customers relate to 
genuine repo transactions. 

Of the net amount of derivatives disclosed on the balance sheet posi-
tive fair value of hedging derivatives accounts for € 264 million and 
Trading assets for € 2,997 million. 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
    

(€ m) 
 
 
 
2017 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Gross 
carrying 

amount from 
netting Net amount 

Gross 
amount, 
netting 

criteria not 
met 

Collateral 
provided 

Net amount 
after 

collateral 

Liabilities to banks 572 20 552 – 543 9 

Liabilities to customers 460 250  210 –  199  11 

Derivatives 4,697 675 4,022 2,068 1,856 98 
    
       
    

 

In the year under review the netted amounts disclosed under liabilities 
to banks and liabilities to customers relate to genuine repo transac-
tions. 

Of the net amount of derivatives disclosed on the balance sheet nega-
tive market values of hedging derivatives account for € 163 million 
and Trading liabilities for € 3,859 million. 
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FINANCIAL ASSETS 
   

(€ m)  
 
 
 
2016 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Gross 
carrying 

amount from 
netting Net amount 

Gross 
amount, 
netting 

criteria not 
met 

Collateral 
received 

Net amount 
after 

collateral 

Loans and advances to banks 1 – 1 – – 1 

Loans and advances to customers 109 106 3 – – 3 

Derivatives 5,574 741 4,833 3,280 333 1,220 
   
       
   

 

In the previous year, the netted amounts disclosed under Loans and 
advances to banks and Loans and advances to customers exclusively 
concern current accounts. 

Of the net amount of derivatives disclosed on the balance sheet posi-
tive fair value of hedging derivatives accounts for € 506 million and 
Trading assets for € 4,327 million. 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
   

(€ m)  
 
 
 
2016 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Gross 
carrying 

amount from 
netting Net amount 

Gross 
amount, 
netting 

criteria not 
met 

Collateral 
provided 

Net amount 
after 

collateral 

Liabilities to banks 1,216 28 1,188 – 812 376 

Liabilities to customers 338 70 268 – 25 243 

Derivatives 7,005 749 6,256 3,280 2,816 160 
   
       
   

 

In the previous year, the netted amounts disclosed under Liabilities to 
banks and Liabilities to customers exclusively resulted from current 
account transactions. 

Of the net amount of derivatives disclosed on the balance sheet nega-
tive market values of hedging derivatives account for € 290 million 
and Trading liabilities for € 5,966 million. 
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56. FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS ENTERED INTO WITH SELECTED STATES 

The following tables contain overviews of HSH Nordbank’s exposure 
in European states where an increased economic risk is assumed. 
They present the risk directly attributable to the listed countries. 

 

 
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS LAR 
        

(€ m) Gross carrying amount Specific loan loss provisions Fair value 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Portugal 174 193 6 7 195 190

Public sector 127 171 – – 155 176 

Corporates/Other 47 22 6 7 40 14 

Italy 569 595 289 100 288 480

Public sector 19 23 – – 20 24 

Banks 3 – – – 3 – 

Corporates/Other 547 572 289 100 265 456 

Greece 912 1,442 261 268 653 1,100

Corporates/Other 912 1,442 261 268 653 1,100 

Russia 29 44 – – 29 44

Corporates/Other 29 44   – 29 44 

Spain 960 1,244 233 108 736 1,152

Public sector 79 151 – – 90 159 

Corporates/Other 881 1,093 233 108 646 993 

Cyprus 418 1,144 40 524 381 519

Corporates/Other 418 1,144 40 524 381 519 

Croatia 93 99 – – 93 101

Corporates/Other 93 99 – – 93 101 

Turkey 232 389 80 7 152 344

Banks 59 10 – – 58 10 

Corporates/Other 173 379 80 7 94 334 

Total 3,387 5,150 909 1,014 2,527 3,930
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FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS ALLOCATED TO THE HOLDING CATEGORY 
        

(€ m) HfT Hedge DFV AfS 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Portugal – – – – 54 49 – –

Public sector – – – – 54 49 – – 

Italy 9 6 – – – 402 – –

Public sector – – – – – 402 – – 

Corporates/Other 9 6 – – – – – – 

Greece 4 9 – – – – – –

Corporates/Other 4 9 – – – – – – 

Russia 18 31 – – – – – –

Banks 1 2 – – – – – – 

Corporates/Other 17 29 – – – – – – 

Spain 64 75 5 10 – – – –

Banks 32 37 5 10 – – – – 

Corporates/Other 32 38 – – – –   – 

Cyprus 1 1 – – – – – –

Corporates/Other 1 1 – – – – – – 

Croatia 1 1 – – – – – –

Corporates/Other 1 1 – – – – – – 

Total 97 123 5 10 54 451 – –
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57. CREDIT RISK ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

I. Credit quality of financial instruments which are 

neither impaired nor overdue 

The table below gives information on the credit quality of financial 
instruments which were neither impaired nor overdue as of the re-
porting date. The table provides a breakdown of the financial instru-
ments by category and rating class of the respective counterparty.  

 

CREDIT QUALITY 
    

(€ m) 1(AAA) to 1(AA+) 1(AA) to 1(A–) 2 to 5 6 to 9 

  2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Held for Trading (HfT)                 

Trading assets 1,165 778 801 870 1,202 2,818 328 418 

Credit derivative under the 
second loss guarantee 1,014 199 – – – – – – 

Designated at Fair Value (DFV)                 

Loans and advances to 
customers 1,180 1,234 – – – – – – 

Financial investments  98 127 416 603  98 822 – – 

Available for Sale (AfS)                 

Cash reserve 106 118 – – – – – – 

Loans and advances to 
banks – 43 – – 79 41 – – 

Loans and advances to 
customers – – – – – – – – 

Financial investments  9,181 9,194  2,730 2,211 496 779 – 33 

Non-current assets held for 
sale and disposal groups – 15 – 3 – 1 – – 

Loans and Receivables (LaR)                 

Cash reserve  6,519 3,373 – – – – – – 

Loans and advances to 
banks 1,242 1,463 1,127 1,440  1,315 1,167 – 27 

Loans and advances to 
customers 2,778 4,227 4,614 4,646 10,648 12,459 9,301 10,533 

Financial investments 106 527 129 251 56 149 269 350 

Non-current assets held for 
sale and disposal groups – – – 7 – 9 26 1 

Other assets – – – – – – – – 

No IAS 39 category                 

Positive fair value of 
hedging derivatives  61 202 74 148  129 151 – 7 

Receivables under finance 
leases  7 11 12 12 27 33 24 27 

Value adjustments from the 
portfolio fair value hedge – 59 160  71 118 125 120 – 5 

Total 23,516 21,671 9,974 10,309 14,175 18,549 9,948 11,401
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CREDIT QUALITY 
   

(€ m) 10 to 12 13 to 15 16 to 18 

  2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Held for Trading (HfT)             

Trading assets – 27 109 250 36 272 

Credit derivative under the  
second loss guarantee – – – – – – 

Designated at Fair Value (DFV)             

Loans and advances to customers – 49 75 16 – 22 

Financial investments – – – 1 – 1 

Available for Sale (AfS)             

Cash reserve – – – – – – 

Loans and advances to banks – – – – – – 

Loans and advances to customers – – – – – – 

Financial investments – 5 – 127 – – 

Loans and Receivables (LaR)             

Cash reserve – – – – – – 

Loans and advances to banks 75 11 – – – – 

Loans and advances to customers 1,450 1,934 1,236 3,184 148 680 

Financial investments  – – 49 – 36 

Non-current assets held for  
sale and disposal groups – 7 – 6 – 254 

Other assets 35 – – 50 – – 

No IAS 39 category             

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives – – – – – – 

Receivables under finance leases 4 5 2 8 – 2 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge – – – – – – 

Total 1,564 2,038 1,422 3,691 184 1,267
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II. Carrying amounts of overdue but unimpaired 

financial assets 

The table below shows the financial assets which were overdue but 
unimpaired as of the reporting date. The assets are broken down by 
category. Categories not shown have no overdue assets. 

 

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF OVERDUE BUT UNIMPAIRED FINANCIAL ASSETS 
    

(€ m) Overdue < 3 months Overdue 3 to 6 months Overdue 6 to 12 months Overdue > 12 months 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Loans and Receivables (LaR)                 

Loans and advances to 
customers 231 859 51 643 214 185 314 395 

of which hedged by the 
second loss guarantee 28 631 29 498 192 99 288 338 

Total 231 859 51 643 214 185 314 395
    
         
    

 

Payments of € 6 million (previous year: € 4 million) on transactions 
with a carrying amount volume of € 110 million (previous year: 
€ 96 million) were received up to ten days after the reporting date of 
31 December 2017. Payments are regarded as being in arrears when 
they are one day overdue. 

The overdue, unimpaired credit portfolio is secured with collateral in 
the form of real estate liens, ship mortgages, aircraft mortgages, as-
signments and transfers of ownership by way of security. The transfers 
by way of security mainly comprise physical assets. 
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III. Impaired financial assets 

The table below shows all impaired financial assets as of the reporting 
date. The financial assets are broken down by category. 

 

IMPAIRED FINANCIAL ASSETS 
   

(€ m) Gross carrying amount of 
impaired financial assets Impairment 

Carrying amount of financial 
assets after impairment 

  2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Loans and Receivables (LaR)             

Loans and advances to banks – – – – – – 

Loans and advances to customers 6,813 9,685 4,354 6,103 2,459 3,582 

Financial investments1) – 302 – 166 – 136 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal 
groups – 856 – 233 – 623 

Available for Sale (AfS)             

Loans and advances to customers 82 90 38 29 44 61 

Financial investments1) 208 236 140 144 68 92 

Total 7,103 11,169 4,532 6,675 2,571 4,494
   

1) Financial investments classified as LaR and AfS are shown net in the statement of financial position, i.e., at their carrying amounts less impairment. 

   

 

The impaired credit portfolio is secured with collateral in the form of 
real estate liens, ship mortgages, aircraft mortgages, assignments and 
transfers of ownership by way of security. The transfers by way of 
security mainly comprise physical assets. 

€ 5,415 million (previous year: € 9,634 million) of the total carrying 
amount of impaired financial assets of € 7,071 million (previous year: 
€ 11,169 million) is hedged by the second loss guarantee, of which 
€ 5,415 million is attributable to Loans and advances to customers 
(previous year: € 8,637 million), € 0 million to Financial investments 
in the LaR and AfS holding categories (previous year: € 163 million) 
as well as € 0 million to Non-current assets held for sale and disposal 
groups (previous year: € 834 million). 

€ 9 million (previous year: € 0 million) of the abovementioned total 
carrying amount of impaired financial assets is hedged by the syn-
thetic securitisation transaction “Horizon”. The impaired assets are 
attributable entirely to Loans and advances to customers. 

Further information regarding the guarantees received can be found 
in Note 3. 

 

IV. Credit risk exposure 

With the exception of Loans and advances to banks and customers, 
credit risk exposure in accordance with IFRS 7.36 (a) as at the report-
ing date corresponds to the carrying amount of financial assets as 
presented in Note 51 as well as off-balance sheet liabilities as presented 
in Note 60. 

In the case of Loans and advances to banks and customers, the credit 
risk exposure corresponds to the carrying amount after loan loss 
provisions as presented in Note 26. The maximum default risk of the 
loans and advances designated at fair value (DFV) is not reduced by 
associated credit derivatives. 

Collateral and other risk-reducing agreements are not reflected in 
these amounts. 

  



230 HSH NORDBANK 2017 

 

 

V. Collateral received 

A) Collateral values of financial assets reducing default 

risk 

The following information quantifies the extent to which the collateral 
retained and other loan collateralisation reduce the maximum default 
risk for financial instruments. The amount of risk reduction from the 
value of each form of collateral is indicated for each class of financial 
instruments. 

The value of collateral received is determined directly on the basis of 
the objective market value, provided that such a value can be deter-
mined. The reliability of the collateral value is ensured by the fact that 
it is recognised as risk-reducing only up to the level of the applicable 
collateral-specific recovery ratio. 

The following table shows the respective carrying amount for each 
class of financial instrument as well as the collateral value that reduces 
default risk. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND ASSOCIATED COLLATERAL 
   

(€ m)  Value of collateral received 

2017 
Carrying 
amount

Real estate 
and 

registered 
liens

Sureties and 
guarantees 

Other 
collateral

HfT         

Trading assets 3,641 329 26 422 

Credit derivative under the second loss guarantee  1,014 – – – 

DFV         

Loans and advances to customers 1,255 – – – 

Financial investments 612 – – – 

AfS         

Cash reserve 106 – – – 

Loans and advances to banks 79 – – – 

Loans and advances to customers  45 – – – 

Financial investments 12,475 – – – 

LaR         

Cash reserve 6,519 – – – 

Loans and advances to banks 3,759 9 22 68 

Loans and advances to customers 37,798 13,778 584 1,428 

Financial investments 560 – – – 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups 26 12 – – 

Other assets 35 – – – 

No IAS 39 category         

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives 264 – – – 

Value adjustments from the portfolio fair value hedge 255 – – – 

Receivables under finance leases 76 – – – 

Contingent liabilities 1,862 101 7 142 

Irrevocable loan commitments 6,367 840 64 152 

Total assets 76,748 15,069 703 2,212
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND ASSOCIATED COLLATERAL 
  

(€ m)  Value of collateral received 

2016 
Carrying 

amount 

Real estate 
and 

registered 
liens 

Sureties and 
guarantees 

Other 
collateral 

HfT         

Trading assets 5,433 398 23 516 

Credit derivative under the second loss guarantee  199 – – – 

DFV         

Loans and advances to customers 1,321 – – – 

Financial investments 1,554 – – – 

AfS         

Cash reserve 118 – – – 

Loans and advances to banks 84 – – – 

Loans and advances to customers 61 – – – 

Financial investments 12,441 – – – 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups 19 – – – 

LaR         

Cash reserve 3,373 – – – 

Loans and advances to banks 4,108 10 27 34 

Loans and advances to customers 49,430 16,301 742 1,659 

Financial investments 1,498 – – – 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups 1,140 465 78 8 

Other assets 50 1 – 1 

No IAS 39 category         

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives 508 – – – 

Value adjustments from the portfolio fair value hedge 403 – – – 

Receivables under finance leases 98 – – – 

Contingent liabilities 2,189 145 21 136 

Irrevocable loan commitments 6,654 602 65 197 

Total assets 90,681 17,922 956 2,551
  
     
  

 
 

Above and beyond the collateral values shown in the table above, a 
sub-portfolio is secured by means of the guarantee facility provided by 
the Federal State of Schleswig-Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic 
City of Hamburg to HSH Nordbank AG and certain subsidiaries via 
HSH Finanzfonds AöR at the beginning of the realignment of the 
Bank (see Note 3). The same applies with regard to the protection 
provided by a synthetic securitisation transaction via the SPV “Hori-
zon 2016 S.A.” as part of a guarantee granted in 2016. Ultimately, 
reference is made to Note 3 II. 

B) Thereof collateral received for which there are no 

restrictions on disposal or realisation even if there is 

no default in payment 

HSH Nordbank has received collateral from counterparties with a 
total fair value of € 405 million (previous year: € 415 million). The 
collateral received is split up as follows: € 405 million (previous year: 
€ 353 million) relate to OTC derivatives and structured transactions.  

The Group did not receive any collateral within the framework of 
genuine repo transactions where it acted as the lender (previous year: 
€ 62 million). This includes cash collateral in the amount of 
€ 405 million (previous year: € 320 million). Collateral received was 
not resold or pledged (previous year: € 34 million). There are no 
restrictions on disposal or realisation. HSH Nordbank was obliged to 
return all collateral resold or pledged to the guarantor without excep-
tion.  

HSH Nordbank carries out securities repurchase and lending transac-
tions as well as tri-party repo transactions under standard master 
agreements with selected counterparties. The same conditions and 
collateralisation methods apply as for collateral transferred and re-
ceived. 
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C) Other collateral received 

In the reporting period no assets were recognised from the realisation 
of collateral (previous year: € 0 million).  

For further information regarding the guarantees received (incl. the 
cash collateral received in connection with the synthetic securitisation 
transaction ), reference is made to the comments in Note 3 II. 

For information on the collateral transferred please refer to Note 63. 

 

 
 
58. RESTRUCTURED OR MODIFIED LOANS 

The following table shows the gross carrying amounts of loans and 
loan commitments that have been restructured or whose contractual 
terms and conditions have been modified in order to place the debtor 

in a position to continue to service or resume servicing its capital debt 
despite financial difficulties. 

 
FORBEARANCE EXPOSURE 
     

(€ m) Core Bank Non-Core Bank  

2017 
Rating class 

1– 15 
Rating class 

16– 18 
Rating class 

1– 15 
Rating class  

16– 18 Total

Loans and Receivables (LaR) 1,180 894 521 5,434 8,029 

Loans and advances to customers 1,180 894 521 5,434 8,029 

Irrevocable and revocable loan commitments 76 48 13 32 169 

Total 1,256 942 534 5.466 8,198
   
      
   

 

FORBEARANCE EXPOSURE 
     

(€ m) Core Bank Non-Core Bank  

2016 
Rating class 

1– 15 
Rating class 

16– 18 
Rating class 

1– 15 
Rating class  

16– 18 Total 

Loans and Receivables (LaR) 1,804 677 801 10,238 13,521 

Loans and advances to customers 1,804 677 801 9,676 12,958 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups – – – 563 563 

Irrevocable and revocable loan commitments 75 23 33 422 552 

Total 1,878 700 834 10,660 14,073
   
      
   

Loan loss provisions in the amount of € 3,934 million (previous year: 
€ 5,098 million) were already created for the volume of receivables 
stated here to which forbearance measures have been applied. The 

cover for the forbearance exposure by the second loss guarantee is 
about 77 % (previous year: about 83 %). 
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59. INFORMATION ON UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES 

I. Interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries 

HSH Nordbank maintains business relationships with unconsolidated 
structured entities, within the meaning of an interest pursuant to 
IFRS 12, if HSH Nordbank is exposed to variable returns based on 
equity, debt instruments, derivatives, guarantees, etc. 

These unconsolidated structured entities relate to ABS conduits, 
securitisation and refinancing vehicles, investment funds and other 
structured entities.  

HSH Nordbank has a business relationship within the meaning of an 
interest with a total of 38 unconsolidated structured entities (previous 
year: 136). The following table shows the accumulated total assets of 
the unconsolidated structured entities with which HSH Nordbank 
maintains a business relationship within the meaning of an interest: 

 
INFORMATION ON THE SIZE OF UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 
  

(€ m) Number Total assets 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

ABS investments 5 105 211 32,210 

Investment funds 14 13 2,411 2,071 

Securitisation and refinancing vehicles 15 14 672 845 

Other 4 4 281 172 

Total  38 136 3,575 35,298
  
     
  

 
 
During the fourth quarter of 2017 a major proportion of ABS invest-
ments was sold as part of reducing the non-strategic portfolio.  

The function of refinancing and securitisation vehicles is to issue 
securities. These companies are involved in the (revolving) purchase 
and securitisation of receivables, including refinancing with investors. 
They are mainly financed through issuing debentures. These include 
ABS conduits used by HSH Nordbank for the purpose of risk diversi-
fication. ABS conduits are financed through the issuing of debt securi-
ties. These investments in ABS conduits are also secured with collat-
eral. These companies undertake the (revolving) purchase and secu-
ritisation of loan receivables including refinancing with investors. 

The main corporate purposes of investment funds are to finance 
assets, participate in non-listed companies and hold shares in real 
estate funds. The main activities of such investment funds are to carry 
out research for analysing markets, make decisions on investment and 
disinvestment in order to adjust portfolios and to attract investors. 
Investment funds raise their funds by the issuing of equity and debt 
instruments. The investment funds are funds launched by third par-
ties, to which HSH Nordbank mainly grants loans. 

II. Risks from interests in unconsolidated structured 

entities 

The following information concerning risk refers not just to the cur-
rent reporting period but also to risks which result from business 
relationships with unconsolidated structured entities in earlier report-
ing periods.  

The risks from unconsolidated structured entities are presented in the 
form of the maximum potential loss which may arise from these 
business relationships based on an interest within the meaning of 
IFRS 12. HSH Nordbank discloses the carrying amounts of these 
transactions as a maximum potential loss. In the case of irrevocable 
loan commitments and contingent liabilities, the carrying amount 
matches the par value.  

There are no credit derivatives relating to unconsolidated structured 
entities as of the balance sheet date. 
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The following table shows the IFRS carrying amounts of exposures 
involving unconsolidated structured entities as of 31 December 2017 

broken down into the items of financial position. 

 
TYPE OF BUSINESS RELATION 
   

(€ m)  
 
2017 Investment funds ABS 

Refinancing and  
securitisation

vehicles 
Other structured 

entities Total

Loans and advances to customers 143 – 171 80 394 

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives – – – – – 

Trading assets 1 – 42 91 134 

Financial investments 1 – 160 – 161 

Total assets 145 – 373 171 689

Liabilities to customers 3 – 271 7 281 

Total equity and liabilities 3 – 271 7 281
    
      
   

    

(€ m)  
 
2016 Investment funds ABS 

Refinancing and 
securitisation

vehicles 
Other structured 

entities Total 

Loans and advances to customers 148 – 185 7 340 

Positive fair value of hedging derivatives 1 – – – 1 

Trading assets 1 – 43 88 132 

Financial investments – 671 227 – 898 

Total assets 150 671 455 95 1,371

Liabilities to customers 36 – 250 11 297 

Total equity and liabilities 36 – 250 11 297
    
      
   

 

The above table contains the loans, debentures, deposits and deriva-
tives in respect of unconsolidated structured entities.  

In addition, there are maximum potential losses from irrevocable loan 
commitments amounting to € 3 million (previous year: € 0 million), 
€ 1 million of which result from investment funds (previous year: 
€ 0 million) and € 0 million from securitisation and refinancing vehi-
cles (previous year: € 0 million). 

There are no business relationship risks based on an interest in uncon-
solidated structured entities as defined in IFRS 12, B26 that exceed the 
maximum potential loss, such as contractual terms under which 
HSH Nordbank would have to grant financial support, liquidity ar-
rangements, guarantees extended or support provided by 
HSH Nordbank in the event of difficulties in refinancing unconsoli-
dated structured entities. 

Furthermore, HSH Nordbank has not entered into any loss-transfer 
agreements with unconsolidated structured entities. Mainly net inter-
est income for granting loans and commission income were generated 
from business relationships with unconsolidated structured entities 
based on an interest within the meaning of IFRS 12. 

III. Sponsoring  

HSH Nordbank has sponsor relationships within the meaning of 
IFRS 12 if HSH Nordbank is exposed to variable return flows, al-
though there is no business relationship in the form of an interest 
within the meaning of IFRS 12. HSH Nordbank is a sponsor if it was 
involved in establishing an unconsolidated structured entity, if it 
stands to gain the main profit from the entity or is the main collateral 
taker, if HSH Nordbank provides implicit guarantees or if the name of 
HSH Nordbank is part of the name of the structured entity or of the 
products issued by such entity. 

Details of sponsored entities are only shown, if they are not already 
included in the disclosures under II, (Risks from interests in uncon-
solidated structured entities). This requirement is satisfied in the case 
of two structured entities. These companies were sponsored by 
HSH Nordbank, but there is no interest within the meaning of 
IFRS 12. 

During the reporting period HSH Nordbank sponsored a public fund, 
HSH Nordbank was involved in the establishment of this fund and 
provided the advisory investment committee during the reporting 
year. HSH Nordbank received an immaterial consultancy fee for this 
service. 
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HSH Nordbank has also been sponsoring a securitisation vehicle since 
December 2016. The transaction is based on the transfer of default 
risks. HSH Nordbank was involved in the establishment process and 
transferred default risks relating to a mezzanine tranche to the struc-
tured entity in the amount of € 235 million by way of a financial guar-
antee. Further information on this transaction can be found in Note 3. 

IV. Provision of support 

During the current reporting period HSH Nordbank has not sup-
ported any unconsolidated structured entity financially or in any 
other way without a contractual commitment to do so. 
HSH Nordbank has also no intention of granting financial support to 
any unconsolidated structured entity or helping to procure financial 
support from third parties. 

 

 
60. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND IRREVOCABLE LOAN COMMITMENTS 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Contingent liabilities from guarantees 
and warranty agreements     

Loan guarantees 189 169 

Letters of credit 314 358 

Other guarantees 1,359 1,662 

Total 1,862 2,189
  
   
  

 
 
IRREVOCABLE LOAN COMMITMENTS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Irrevocable loan commitments for     

Open account loans to banks – 1 

Open account loans to customers 6,198 6,496 

Guarantees 94 63 

Other 75 94 

Total 6,367 6,654
  
   
  

 
 

Information on collateral transferred is presented in Note 63. 

An out-of-court settlement including reciprocal claims was developed 
in order to bring to an end legal disputes with former Management 
Board members. The settlement is not yet legally binding. 
HSH Nordbank AG expects the agreement to result, in net terms, in 
payment claims against the opposing parties. Provisions have been set 
up for the claims of the opposing parties.  

The claims of HSH Nordbank constitute contingent assets. To avoid 
jeopardising the as yet unconcluded settlement process,  the Bank has 
opted not to make any further disclosures. 

In addition to the values shown in the table, there are other contingent 
liabilities arising from litigation in an amount of € 32 million (previ-
ous year: € 32 million). To determine for which claim the possibility of 
a loss is likely, or is less likely but still cannot be ruled out, and in order 
to estimate the amount of the potential payment obligations, 
HSH Nordbank takes a variety of factors into account. These include, 
among other things, the type of claim and the underlying facts of the 
case, the status of the individual proceedings, (provisional) decisions 
made by courts and arbitration bodies, the experience of 
HSH Nordbank and third parties in comparable cases (insofar as they 
are known to the Bank), prior settlement negotiations, as well as the 
expert opinions and assessments of the Bank’s internal and external 
legal advisors and other professionals. 

Please also refer to Note 42 and explanations set out in the Manage-
ment of legal risks section in the Risk Report of the Management 
Report with respect to existing uncertainties regarding risks arising 
from legal disputes. 

There are contingent liabilities with regard to tax risks in connection 
with the tax audits that are ongoing at present. In particular, there is 
uncertainty surrounding how the tax authorities will interpret current 
trends in the court decisions made by the fiscal courts on various tax-
related issues. The Bank, however, deems its legal positions to be 
correct, meaning that there is no need to set up corresponding provi-
sions in this regard. 

Please refer to the explanations set out in the Forecast of loan loss 
provisions section of the Forecast, Opportunities and Risks Report in 
the Management Report with regard to uncertainties relating to the 
determination of loan loss provisions.  

The fair value or irrevocable loan commitments with a nominal vol-
ume of € 6,367 million (previous year: € 6,654 million) comes to 
€ 14 million as at the balance sheet date (previous year: € 12 million).  

With regard to future premium expense for the synthetic securitisa-
tion transaction, we refer to our statements in Note 3 II. 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

61. REPORT ON BUSINESS IN DERIVATIVES 

Derivative financial instruments are used to a considerable degree in 
order to hedge risk efficiently, to take advantage of market opportuni-
ties and to cover special customer financing needs. The derivatives 
business of HSH Nordbank is predominantly transacted with banks 
based in OECD countries. 

Positive and negative fair values are presented on the basis of gross 
values before offsetting in accordance with IAS 32.42. 
 

I. Volumes 

 
DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS WITH INTEREST RATE RISKS 
    

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Interest rate swaps 123,800 147,582 3,490 4,455 3,663 5,070 

FRAs – – – – – – 

Swaptions             

Long positions 2,053 2,847 72 149 15 24 

Short positions 2,660 3,564 7 2 114 217 

Caps, floors 10,948 7,738 28 40 43 27 

Exchange-traded contracts 219 2,892 – – – – 

Other forward interest rate transactions 591 324 15 16 35 33 

Total 140,271 164,947 3,612 4,662 3,870 5,371
    
       
    

 

DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS WITH INTEREST RATE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS 
    

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 10,529 15,417 156 244 110 396 

Total 10,529 15,417 156 244 110 396
    
       
    

 

DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS WITH FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS 
    

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Forward exchange transactions 7,232 11,468 58 80 53 132 

Currency options             

Long positions 235 579 14 57 – – 

Short positions 213 785 – – 6 59 

Total 7,680 12,832 72 137 59 191
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DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUITY AND OTHER PRICE RISKS 
   

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Equity options             

Long positions 113 81 43 52 – – 

Short positions 96 60 – – 43 51 

Exchange-traded contracts 78 6 – – – – 

Equity/index-based swaps 80 84 14 11 – – 

Commodity-based transactions – – – – – – 

Total 367 231 57 63 43 51
   
       
   

 

CREDIT DERIVATIVES 
   

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Guarantor position 58 96 1 1 – – 

Collateral taker position 56 170 11 26 – – 

Total 114 266 12 27 – –
   
       
   

 

CREDIT DERIVATIVE SECOND LOSS GUARANTEE 
   

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Collateral taker position 1,019 1,107 1,014 199 – – 

Total 1,019 1,107 1,014 199 – –
   
       
   

 

DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS WITH STRUCTURED PRODUCTS 
   

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Structured products 3,912 5,355 289 376 395 587 

Total 3,912 5,355 289 376 395 587
   
       
   

 

DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS IN FAIR VALUE HEDGE ACCOUNTING 
   

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Fair value hedges             

Interest rate swaps 22,942 25,208 431 683 236 423 

Total 22,942 25,208 431 683 236 423
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II. Counterparty classification 

 
COUNTERPARTY CLASSIFICATION 
    

(€ m) Nominal values Positive market values Negative market values 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

OECD banks 81,234 119,271 1,918 3,012 3,163 4,981 

Non-OECD banks 96 88 2 3 1 – 

Non-banks1) 99,587 99,084 2,473 2,895 1,167 1,573 

Public authorities 5,977 6,920 1,250 481 382 465 

Total 186,894 225,363 5,643 6,391 4,713 7,019
    

1)  Including exchange-traded contracts 

    

 

III. Maturities 

 
MATURITIES 
      

(€ m) 
Positive market value of 

derivatives 

Positive market value of 
derivatives from fair value 

hedging 
Negative market value of 

derivatives 

Negative market value of 
derivatives from fair value 

hedging 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Residual maturity                 

Up to 3 months 174 129 – – 154 236 – – 

3 months to 1 year 153 378 19 35 152 375 8 6 

1 year to 5 years 922 1,237 182 375 1,057 1,700 147 251 

Over 5 years 3,964 3,964 230 273 3,114 4,285 81 166 

Total 5,213 5,708 431 683 4,477 6,596 236 423
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62. LEASE RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES 

Operating leases where HSH Nordbank acts as a lessee serve the 
purpose of leasing technical facilities and equipment required to 
operate IT networks, among other purposes. In addition, 
HSH Nordbank is a lessee of real estate and motor vehicles. 

In operating leases HSH Nordbank acts as lessor for aircraft and real 
estate. 

In the case of finance leases on the US market HSH Nordbank acts as 
lessor under sale-and-lease-back leasing arrangements to finance 
photovoltaic installations. 

I. Lessee under operating leases 

 
MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Minimum lease payments due    

Up to 1 year 30 31 

1 year to 5 years 80 62 

More than 5 years – 5 

Total 110 98
  
   
  

 
 
Out of the minimum lease payments to be paid, multi-element ar-
rangements that include both leasing and service payments account 
for: € 28 million (previous year: € 30 million) for up to one year and 
€ 78 million (previous year: € 60 million) for one year to five years.  
 
EXPENSES FOR LEASE PAYMENTS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Expenses for     

Minimum lease payments 30 32 

Total 30 32
  
   
  

 
 
The expenses for minimum lease payments in the reporting year 
include € 27 million (previous year: € 31 million) that is attributable to 
multi-element arrangements that include both leasing and service 
payments. 
 
Expenses on assets used under operating leases are disclosed in Ad-
ministrative expenses (cf. Note 15). 

II. Lessor under operating leases 

 
MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS TO BE EXPECTED UNDER 

OPERATING LEASES 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Minimum lease payments to be received      

Up to 1 year 8 21 

1 year to 5 years 27 39 

More than 5 years 11 16 

Total 46 76
 

   
 

 
 
Income from conditional leasing payments was neither recorded in 
the reporting period nor in the previous year. 

III. Lessor under finance leases 

 
FINANCE LEASES 

 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Outstanding lease payments 51 71 

+ Guaranteed residual values 14 15 

= Minimum lease payments 65 86 

+ Non-guaranteed residual values 17 19 

= Gross investment 82 105 

– Unearned finance income 6 7 

= Net investment 76 98 

– Net present value of non-guaranteed 
residual values 12 13 

= Net present value of  
minimum lease payments 64 85
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The gross investments amount and the net present value of the mini-
mum lease payments break down by maturity as follows. 

 

BREAKDOWN OF RESIDUAL MATURITIES 
   

(€ m) Gross investments in the 
lease 

Net present value of the 
minimum lease payments 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Minimum lease payments to be received         

Up to 1 year 8 12 6 11 

1 year to 5 years 30 37 27 33 

More than 5 years 44 56 31 41 

Total 82 105 64 85
  
     
   

 
 
Income from conditional lease payments was neither recorded during 
the year nor in the previous year. 
 
 
 
63. DISCLOSURES ON COLLATERAL TRANSFERRED AND FINANCIAL ASSETS TRANSFERRED WITH RETENTION 

OF RIGHTS AND/OR OBLIGATIONS 

I. Collateral transferred 

As at 31 December 2017 HSH Nordbank had transferred assets as 
collateral which do not meet the requirements of derecognition under 
IAS 39. The assets transferred as collateral continue to be recognised 
in the Group statement of financial position as the interest rate risk, 
credit risk and other material risks as well as the prospects of apprecia-
tion and interest income largely reside with HSH Nordbank. 

The following table mainly shows the collateral used to collateralise 
OTC derivative transactions and funds raised at central banks and 
other credit institutions. Notes on repurchase agreements are sepa-
rately disclosed below. A small amount of collateral has been trans-
ferred in the course of securities lending business. 

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF TRANSFERRED COLLATERAL 
    

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Loans and advances 7,690 8,555 

Loans and advances to banks 2,254 3,218 

Loans and advances to customers 5,436 5,337 

Trading assets/Financial investments 341 10 

Non-current assets held for sale and 
disposal groups – 100 

Total 8,031 8,665
    
      
    

 

Money market borrowing generally involves pledging and transferring 
securities lodged with the European Central Bank. Promissory notes 
and other receivables from lending are not pledged to the European 
Central Bank or other banks, but are assigned without this being 
disclosed. It is not possible to resell or pledge in the interim. 

In addition, HSH Nordbank concludes repurchase agreements under 
repo master agreements both on a national and international scale. 
The associated liabilities are recognised under Liabilities to banks or 
Liabilities to customers. At the end of the reporting period, the carry-
ing amount of the securities transferred as collateral in the framework 
of repo transactions was € 1,284 million (previous year: € 949 million). 
The fair value amounts to € 1,284 million (previous year: 
€ 899 million). The corresponding liabilities are recognised in the 
amount of € 1,692 million (previous year: € 833 million) with the fair 
value corresponding to the carrying amount. Taking account of the 
netting of receivables and liabilities with our business partners, a net 
position of € – 408 million  arose from the fair values of the assets 
transferred and the associated liabilities (previous year: € 66 million). 
Collateral transferred under repo transactions can be resold or re-
pledged. 

Repo and securities lending transactions are monitored by measuring 
transactions on a daily basis. If there is a shortfall in collateral the 
counterparty may require HSH Nordbank to provide additional 
securities to increase collateral. Where HSH Nordbank has provided 
collateral and the market situation changes such that the cover pro-
vided is excessive, it is entitled to require the counterparty to release 
collateral. The collateral provided is subject to a full transfer of rights, 
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i.e. the party receiving collateral may act like an owner and in particu-
lar may transfer or pledge such collateral. In the case of securities 
collateral, securities of the same type and quality (‘the same sort’) 
must be delivered or returned unencumbered. Where collateral has 
been provided in the form of securities, it may not be returned in cash. 

With regard to further collateral provided in the form of securities 
(under the “Financial investments” balance sheet item), reference is 
made to Note 3 II. 

The above conditions and collateral modalities apply to tri-party repo 
transactions between HSH Nordbank and its counterparties accord-
ingly. The transactions are executed via a tri-party agent. 

II. Financial assets transferred with retention of rights 

and/or obligations 

HSH Nordbank has transferred assets to third parties outside the 
Group that meet the conditions for full derecognition. The rights and 
obligations retained under these transfers were of an overall immate-
rial nature. The risks become transparent by recognition of provisions 
and/or recording of contingent liabilities. There is a hypothetical 
repurchase option relating to the sale of an equity holding, which the 
Bank, however, can only exercise based on the occurrence of certain 
biometric events. The option has a time value of € 0; it entails no risk. 

 
 
 

64. TRUST TRANSACTIONS 

The table below shows the volume of trust transactions not recognised in the statement of financial position. 

TRUST TRANSACTIONS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Loans and advances to customers 4 5 

Trust assets 4 5

Liabilities to customers 4 5 

Trust liabilities 4 5
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65. RELATED PARTIES 

HSH Nordbank does business with related parties and companies.  

These include HSH Beteiligungs Management GmbH, Hamburg; as 
the direct parent company and, at the same time, the top-level parent 
company of HSH Nordbank AG, which prepares Group financial 
statements, HSH Finanzfonds AöR as the top-level parent company of 
the Group, hsh portfoliomanagement AöR, as well as the Federal State 
of Schleswig-Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg, 
which each hold a stake of 50 % in the two aforementioned companies. 
Furthermore, business relations exist with subsidiaries which are 
controlled but not included in the Group financial statements for 
reasons of materiality, associates, joint ventures, individuals in key 
positions and their relatives and companies controlled by these indi-
viduals. Individuals in key positions comprise exclusively the  
members of the Management and Supervisory Boards of 
HSH Nordbank AG. 

In the course of the normal business operations transactions are 
entered into at arm’s length with companies and parties that are re-
lated parties. These transactions include loans, call and fixed-term 
deposits, derivatives and securities transactions. 

I. The parent company and companies with joint 

management or significant influence on the 

company 

For transactions with HSH Beteiligungs Management GmbH and 
HSH Finanzfonds AöR as well as with the Federal State of Schleswig-
Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg, which each 
participate in HSH Finanzfonds AöR at 50 %, the Bank makes use of 
IAS 24.25. Accordingly, HSH Nordbank is exempt from the disclosure 
requirement regarding public authorities, unless transactions are 
involved that have a significant impact on the Group financial state-
ments. 

The guarantee amount with regard to the guarantee facility provided 
by the Federal State of Schleswig-Holstein and the Free and Hanseatic 
City of Hamburg to HSH Nordbank AG and certain subsidiaries via 
HSH Finanzfonds AöR is identified as a significant transaction within 
the meaning of IAS 24. Please refer to Notes 3 and 19 for more details. 

In addition, a loan portfolio was sold to the resolution institution (hsh 
portfoliomanagement AöR) formed by the federal states of Hamburg 
and Schleswig-Holstein as part of the implementation of the EU 
Commission’s decision of 2 May 2016. 

With effect from 30 June 2016, HSH Nordbank AG transferred a portfo-
lio of non-performing shipping loans with a volume of €5 billion (re-
porting date: 31 December 2015) to hsh portfoliomanagement AöR, 
which belongs to the federal states. 

Within this context, the Bank received the market price set by the EU 
Commission of € 2.4 billion from hsh portfoliomanagement AöR. The 
losses of € 2.6 billion incurred were settled as part of the loss settle-
ment under the guarantee. The transaction involved first of all trans-
ferring a portfolio of transactions from HSH Nordbank AG to hsh 
portfoliomanagement AöR by way of a cash sub-participation relating 
to the loans with a contractual trust agreement, including a cash flow 
pass through arrangement (known as a “synthetic transfer”). On 
19 May 2017, following this synthetic transfer, the in rem transfer is 
performed by way of partial universal succession as part of a spin-off 
pursuant to Section 123 (3) of the German Transformation of Com-
panies Act (UmwG). In addition, parts of the credit portfolio were 
transferred to  hsh portfoliomanagement AöR by way of singular 
succession.  

In 2016, for certain current accounts and derivatives in connection 
with the above-mentioned loan portfolio a “guarantee and standstill 
agreement” was concluded between HSH Nordbank AG and hsh 
portfoliomanagement AöR. The “guarantee and standstill agreement” 
gave hsh portfoliomanagement AöR the option of making a decision 
on the assumption of current accounts and derivatives in connection 
with the abovementioned loan portfolio at a later date (purchase 
option). In return, any increases in risk at HSH Nordbank AG in the 
meantime were to be largely assumed and secured by hsh portfolio-
management AöR. hsh portfoliomanagement AöR made use of its 
right under the guarantee and standstill agreement with regard to the 
current accounts with effect from 31 December 2016 and declared 
that it would not be exercising its purchase option.  

During the 2017 reporting period, HSH Nordbank AG and hsh port-
foliomanagement AöR entered into new sales negotiations for the 
purpose of transferring part of the originally envisaged current ac-
counts; these negotiations were concluded in March 2018, following 
which the transfer is due to take place in 2018. The exercise of the call 
option by hsh portfoliomanagement AöR for part of the derivatives 
resulted in the transfer of a small number of derivatives during 2017. 

Other contractual service relationships are in place between hsh port-
foliomanagement AöR und der HSH Nordbank AG, e.g. the servicing 
of the loans transferred and the provision of IT systems paid for at 
normal market terms. 
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II. Subsidiaries 

The transactions with unconsolidated subsidiaries are shown below: 

SUBSIDIARIES - ASSETS 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Loans and advances to customers 10 24 

Loan loss provisions – – 11 

Financial assets – 1 

Total  10 14
  
    
  

 

SUBSIDIARIES - LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Liabilities to customers – 2 

Other liabilities 1 1 

Total  1 3
  
   
  

 

SUBSIDIARIES - INCOME STATEMENT 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Net interest income 1 1 

Loan loss provisions in the lending 
business – 10 

Other operating income 4 4 

Total  5 15
  
   
  

 

III. Associates 

The following table shows the transactions with associates: 

No asset transactions took place with associated companies during the 
year under review or the previous year. 

ASSOCIATES - LIABILITIES 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Liabilities to customers – 1 

Total  – 1
  
   
  

 

ASSOCIATES - INCOME STATEMENT 
  

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Net income from financial investments – – 2 

Total  – – 2
  
   
  

 

IV. Joint ventures 

The following tables show the transactions with joint ventures: 

JOINT VENTURES - ASSETS 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Loans and advances to customers 16 178 

Trading assets – 13 

Total  16 191
 

   
 

 

JOINT VENTURES - LIABILITIES 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Liabilities to customers 15 25 

Total  15 25
 

   
 

 

JOINT VENTURES - INCOME STATEMENT 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Net interest income – 1 

Net trading income 1 – 4 

Total  1 – 3
 

   
 

 

Irrevocable loan commitments to joint ventures amount to € 0 million 
(previous year: € 326 million). 

V. Other related parties and companies 

The following transactions had been entered into with individuals in 
key positions at HSH Nordbank AG and their close relatives or com-
panies controlled by these individuals as at the balance sheet date:  

ASSETS 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Loans and advances to customers – – 

Total – –
 

   
 

 

LIABILITIES 
 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Liabilities to customers 1 1 

Total  1 1
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VI. Remuneration of persons in key management 

positions 

The remuneration paid to the Management Board of 
HSH Nordbank AG is still limited to € 500,000 per year under the 
guarantee agreement (total fixed remuneration) as long as 
HSH Nordbank AG is not capable of making dividend distributions. 
Remuneration payable for secondary employment undertaken by the 
Management Board at the request of the Supervisory Board is set off 
against the remuneration entitlement set out in the employment 
contract. Furthermore, each board member receives a pension contri-
bution in the amount of 20 % of the annual fixed income, as well as 
reasonable benefits in kind. 

Any variable remuneration extending beyond this is currently exclud-
ed under the terms of the guarantee agreement. The Management 

Board waived a premium for successful privatisation that was possible 
under the EU decision of 2 May 2016. 

There are no other long-term incentives, such as share option schemes. 

It is planned to revise the Management Board remuneration system 
after removal of the current restrictions, adapt it to match the legal 
and regulatory requirements and include a variable remuneration 
component. 

 
The following table shows the remuneration of persons in key man-
agement positions. Remuneration of the Supervisory Board consists 
of additions to provisions for the activities of the Supervisory Board 
carried out during the financial year excluding value-added tax. 

 
REMUNERATION OF PERSONS IN KEY MANAGEMENT POSITIONS 
    

(€ k) Management Board Supervisory Board Total 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Short-term benefits 2,148 2,424 468 477 2,616 2,901 

Termination benefits – 1,004 – – – 1,004 

Post-employment benefits 400 600 – – 400 600 

Total remuneration 2,548 4,028 468 477 3,016 4,505
   
        
    

 
 
VII. Additional disclosures under Section 315e HGB 

HSH Nordbank is obliged to provide additional disclosures in its 
Group financial statements under Section 315e HGB. Several differ-
ences compared to the IFRS disclosures should be borne in mind in 
this regard: termination benefits payable are not included in the total 
remuneration of the active members of the Management Board. This 
remuneration is disclosed instead under total remuneration payable to 
former members of the Management Board. 

REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE BODIES 
  

(€ k) 2017 2016 

Total remuneration of all active 
members of executive bodies  

Management Board 2,548 3,024 

Supervisory Board 468 477 

Total 3,016 3,501

Total remuneration of former 
members of executive bodies 
and their surviving dependants    

Management Board 2,787 3,708 
   
    
  

 

As at 31 December 2017, a total amount of €k 56,115 (previous year: 
€k 57,833) was shown in provisions for pension obligations relating to 
former members of the Management Board and their surviving de-
pendants.  

As was the case in the previous year, there were no advances, loans 
and other liabilities to members of the Management Board as at 
31 December 2017. For members of the Supervisory Board they 
amounted to €k 54 (previous year: €k 150). In the 2017 reporting year 
no new loans were granted to members of the Supervisory Board. 

The loans granted to members of the Supervisory Board relate to real 
estate financings. Loans to members of the Supervisory Board were 
granted with maturities from variable to final maturity in 2019. Loans 
to members of the Supervisory Board were at arm`s length conditions 
with an interest rate of 3 %. 

Collateral for loans is in the form of land charges for real estate financ-
ing. Repayments of loans by members of the Supervisory Board to-
talled €k 96 in total in 2017 (previous year: €k 319). 
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VIII. Disclosure of Supervisory Board remuneration  

The members of the Supervisory Board receive remuneration for their 
service during a financial year in an amount determined by the An-
nual General Meeting of the following year. The remuneration for the 
Supervisory Board for the 2016 financial year was therefore paid in 
the 2017 reporting period. Appropriate provisions have been recog-
nised in the 2017 Annual Accounts for the 2017 reporting year.  

The remuneration system is based on the requirements of the German 
Corporate Governance Code and is organised as follows after the 
resolution of the Annual General Meeting of HSH Nordbank AG on 
23 May 2014 and applies to the term of office of the Supervisory 
Board that has started on 23 May 2014:  

REMUNERATION SYSTEM 
  

(€) 

Executive body Function 

Fixed 

component  

Attend-

ance fee 

Supervisory Board Chair 25,000 250 

  Deputy Chair 18,000 250 

  Member 11,000 250 

Risk Committee Chair 15,000 250 

  Member 7,000 250 

Executive Committee Chair 15,000 250 

  Member 7,000 250 

Audit Committee Chair 15,000 250 

  Member 7,000 250 

Remuneration Monitoring 
Committee Chair 12,000 250 

 Member 5,000 250 
   
     
    

 

The Mediation Committee to be formed under the German Code-
termination Act of 1976 (Mitbestimmungsgesetz) does not receive any 
separate remuneration. Members of the Supervisory Board are also 
reimbursed for any value-added tax payable and for their expenses.  

€k 564 of the amount provided for in the 2016 financial year (€k 
567, thereof VAT: €k 91) were paid out to the members of the Supervi-
sory Board in the reporting period. This includes €k 87 of value-
added tax.  

€k 557 have been provided for activities of the Supervisory Board in 
the year under review (thereof value-added tax: €k 89), which will be 
disbursed after the Annual General Meeting provided a correspond-
ing resolution is passed by the Annual General Meeting 2018. Remu-
neration (excl. VAT) is expected to be distributed among the members 
of the Supervisory Board as follows: 
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(in €) Fixed remuneration Attendance fee Total 

Members of the Supervisory Board 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Dr Thomas Mirow, 
Chair 59,000 59,000 6,000 7,250 65,000 66,250 

Olaf Behm, Deputy Chair 44,000 44,000 6,500 8,000 50,500 52,000 

Stefanie Arp1) 15,682 18,000 3,000 2,750 18,682 20,750 

Sabine-Almut Auerbach2) – 2,712 – 500 – 3,212 

Peter Axmann 18,000 18,000 3,250 3,000 21,250 21,000 

Simone Graf 30,000 30,000 5,250 7,250 35,250 37,250 

Silke Grimm 16,000 16,000 2,250 2,000 18,250 18,000 

Cornelia Hintz3) 11,000 6,841 2,500 1,500 13,500 8,341 

Stefan Jütte  26,000 26,000 3,500 3,250 29,500 29,250 

Dr Rainer Klemmt-Nissen 30,000 30,000 5,750 7,250 35,750 37,250 

Rieka Meetz-Schawaller 18,000 18,000 3,500 3,750 21,500 21,750 

Bert Michels4) 2,049 – 250 – 2,299 – 

Dr David Morgan5) 18,000 25,000 1,750 5,250 19,750 30,250 

Dr Philipp Nimmermann 37,000 30,000 5,500 6,500 42,500 36,500 

Stefan Schlatermund 18,000 18,000 3,750 3,500 21,750 21,500 

Klaus-Dieter Schwettscher  11,000 11,000 2,500 2,250 13,500 13,250 

Elke Weber-Braun 26,000 26,000 3,500 3,500 29,500 29,500 

Jörg Wohlers 25,000 25,000 4,500 5,750 29,500 30,750 

Total 404,731 403,553 63,250 73,250 467,981 476,803
     

1) until 14 November 2017 
2) until 31 March 2016 
3) from 18 May 2016 
4) from 14 November 2017 

 5) Amounts before deduction of Supervisory Council tax and solidarity surcharge 

    

 

The members of the Supervisory Board have again not provided any 
advisory or brokerage services or any other personal services to the 

Bank in the year 2017. Accordingly no additional remunerations were 
granted. 
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66. OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS 

The transactions listed below include payment obligations under 
pending contracts or continuing obligations that cannot be recognised 
in the balance sheet as well as other financial obligations that could 
have a material effect on the future financial position of 
HSH Nordbank. 

There are shareholder liabilities of less than € 1 million for out-
standing payments on subscribed nominal capital that have not yet 
been called in, as in the previous year. 

A new calculation methodology for determining target volumes in the 
guarantee scheme was approved as part of the implementation of the 
German Law on Deposit Insurance (EinSiG) that came into effect on 
3 July 2015. The target amount to be calculated annually on the basis 
of the data as at 31 December of the previous year is to be raised by 
the member institutions by 3 July 2024 (build-up phase). The annual 
premium required for this is determined by 31 May of the current 
year by the German Savings Banks Association (DSGV) as the asso-
ciation responsible for the guarantee scheme. The premium is  
collected before 30 September of each year. HSH Nordbank AG con-
tributed 30 % of its premium obligation (€ 6 million, previous year: 
€ 4 million) as an irrevocable payment obligation. Special or addi-
tional contributions over and above those already paid may be levied, 
for instance, as part of a compensation case where support is provided. 
The obligation to pay contributions until 2024 and any special or 
additional contributions represent a risk with regard to 
HSH Nordbank AG's financial position. 

With the transposition of the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive 
(BRRD) into German law a new legal basis for determining the bank 
levy came into force as at 1 January 2015. The target amount of the 
EU-wide Single Resolution Fund (SRF) is to be achieved by 1 January 
2024 through contributions paid by European banks. The current levy 
is determined by the supervisory authorities as at 31 May of each year 
and is payable by 30 June. Subsequent assessments are not provided 
for. 

Obligations amounting to € 105 million (previous year: € 89 million) 
result from leasing agreements for IT services. 

Long-term rental agreements for office space result in annual obliga-
tions of approximately € 1 million (previous year: € 5 million). 

Under a sale of an equity holding the Bank has undertaken to pur-
chase fund units at the market price up to a nominal amount of 
€ 8 million (previous year: € 8 million). 

In a decision dated 24 June 2016, BVV Versicherungsverein des 
Bankgewerbes a.G. and BVV Versorgungskasse des Bankgewerbes 
e.V.  reached a decision to reduce the pension payments to employ-
ees. In the decision of 1 November 2016, the Management Board of 
HSH Nordbank AG reached a resolution to make additional contri-
butions for old-age pensions to BVV Versorgungskasse des Bank-
gewerbes e.V. in order to maintain the original benefit amount based 
on the individual pension commitments for these employees and to 
prevent any pension gaps. Under this voluntary commitment, as in 
the previous year additional annual contributions of less than 
€ 1 million are expected. In this situation the estimated payments to 
BVV Versorgungskasse des Bankgewerbes e.V. come to € 2 million 
(previous year: € 2 million). 

As part of its former guarantor function the Bank also has a general 
liability towards Deka Bank Deutsche Girozentrale together with 
other former shareholders. It applies to liabilities entered into until 
18 July 2001 regardless of their term. 

For information on premium obligations resulting from the provision 
of guarantee facilities (second loss guarantee and synthetic securitisa-
tion transaction), we refer to our comments in Note 3. 

There is no material other financial obligations apart from those listed 
above. 
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67. LIST OF SHAREHOLDERS 

The following information is based on German commercial law. 
 

 
 

CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES WITH A SHARE OF VOTING RIGHTS OF THE BANK OF MORE THAN 50 % 
      

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

1 Avia Management S.à.r.l., Luxembourg, Luxembourg  100.00 100.00 EUR – 16,591.15 10,241.88 

2 BINNENALSTER-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg 100.00 100.00 EUR 261,810.02 – 7,931.13 

3 Bu Wi Beteiligungsholding GmbH, Hamburg 100.00 100.00 EUR 18,980.04 1,092.08 

4 CAPCELLENCE Dritte Fondsbeteiligung GmbH, Hamburg1) 100.00 100.00 EUR 6,447,604.90 1,078,745.96 

5 CAPCELLENCE Erste Fondsbeteiligung GmbH, Hamburg1) 100.00 100.00 EUR 875,245.13 173,515.05 

6 CAPCELLENCE Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg1) 100.00 100.00 EUR 111,969,111.75 5,328,794.48 

7 Capcellence Vintage Year 06/07 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG, 
Hamburg1) 

83.33 99.91 EUR 119,931.09 1,750.16 

8 Capcellence Vintage Year 07/08 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG, 
Hamburg1) 

90.91 99.99 EUR 906,332.53 918,304.58 

9 CAPCELLENCE Vintage Year 11 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG, 
Hamburg1) 

83.33 99.99 EUR 4,864,568.60 117,781.76 

10 CAPCELLENCE Vintage Year 13 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG, 
Hamburg1) 

90.91 99.47 EUR 1,050,920.78 108,152.65 

11 CAPCELLENCE Vintage Year 16 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG, 
Hamburg1) 

83.33 99.99 EUR 15,276,780.00 – 347,031.65 

12 CAPCELLENCE Zweite Fondsbeteiligung GmbH, Hamburg1) 100.00 100.00 EUR 4,969,406.32 1,715,603.48 

13 Chasms Navigation Limited, Douglas, Isle of Man16) 100.00 100.00 USD – 12,691,856.00 – 35,995,987.00 

14 Cregneash Navigation Limited, Douglas, Isle of Man16) 100.00 100.00 USD – 12,640,977.00 – 36,842,992.00 

15 Curragh Navigation Limited, Douglas, Isle of Man16) 100.00 100.00 USD – 20,342,908.00 – 47,634,414.00 

16 FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd., Singapore, Singapore1) 100.00 100.00 USD 792,573.00 982,222.00 

17 FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd., Singapore, Singapore1) 100.00 100.00 USD – 13,119,359.00 – 10,454,757.00 

18 FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd., Singapore, Singapore1) 100.00 100.00 USD 994,737.00 290,623.00 

19 GODAN GmbH, Hamburg 100.00 100.00 EUR – 1,193,578.03 – 68,738.53 

20 HSH Auffang- und Holdinggesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Hamburg  100.00 100.00 EUR 1,958,365.58 – 39,597,753.52 

21 HSH Care+Clean GmbH, Hamburg1) 4) 51.00 51.00 EUR 25,000.00 – 4,512.33 

22 HSH Facility Management GmbH, Hamburg2) 100.00 100.00 EUR 205,600.00 6,451,827.30 

23 HSH Gastro+Event GmbH, Hamburg1) 4) 100.00 100.00 EUR 25,000.00 791,895.28 

24 HSH Move+More GmbH, Kiel1) 4) 51.00 51.00 EUR 25,000.00 323,453.36 

25 HSH N Finance (Guernsey) Limited, St. Peter Port, Guernsey 100.00 100.00 EUR 486,467.00 52,396.00 

26 HSH N Funding II, George Town, Cayman Islands 56.33 100.00 USD 654,305,988.00 36,276,800.00 

27 HSH Nordbank Securities S.A., Luxembourg, Luxembourg 100.00 100.00 EUR 201,004,327.84 2,381,598.00 

28 HSH N Residual Value Ltd., Hamilton, Bermuda 100.00 100.00 USD 3,915,732.00 339,668.00 

29 HSH Private Equity GmbH, Hamburg2) 100.00 100.00 EUR 550,000.00 – 1,817,346.83 

30 Ilex Integra GmbH, Hamburg1)  100.00 100.00 EUR – 23,241,426.21 – 2,265,426.20 

31 ISM Agency, LLC, New York, USA1) 100.00 100.00 USD 6) 6) 

32 Mooragh Navigation Limited, Douglas, Isle of Man16) 100.00 100.00 USD – 22,527,311.00 – 45,050,925.00 
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Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

33 Neptune Finance Partner S.à.r.l., Luxembourg, Luxembourg  100.00 100.00 USD 73,894.70 0.00 

34 Neptune Finance Partner II S.à.r.l., Luxembourg, Luxembourg13) 100.00 100.00 USD 62,763.63 0.00 

35 RESPARCS Funding Limited Partnership I, Hong Kong, Hong Kong1) 0.01 100.00 USD – 8,534,938.00 – 1,294,326.00 

36 RESPARCS Funding II Limited Partnership, St. Helier, Jersey1) 0.01 100.00 EUR – 346,251,935.00 217,422.00 

37 Soderick Navigation Limited, Douglas, Isle of Man16) 100.00 100.00 USD – 13,037,951.00 – 36,074,966.00 

38 2200 Victory LLC, Dover (Kent County), USA 100.00 100.00 USD 50,208,605.00 – 521,121.00 
  
       
   

 

CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES WITH A SHARE OF VOTING RIGHTS OF THE BANK OF 50 % OR LESS 

– of which subsidiaries due to a principal-agent relationship 
      

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

39 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Five Limited, Dublin, Ireland1) 49.00 49.00 USD 4,910,713.00 22,008,813.00 

40 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Seven Limited, Dublin, Ireland1) 49.00 49.00 USD 377,198.00 – 3,484,891.00 

41 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Six Limited, Dublin, Ireland1) 49.00 49.00 USD 16,538.00 10,158,437.00 

42 Next Generation Aircraft Finance 2 S.à.r.l.,Findel, Luxembourg1) 49.00 49.00 EUR – 9,434,111.00 – 239,838.00 

43 Next Generation Aircraft Finance 3 S.à.r.l., Findel, Luxembourg1) 49.00 49.00 EUR – 10,672,196.00 – 241.00 

44 RDM Limited, George Town, Cayman Islands 0.00 0.00 USD – 191,905,272.00 – 14,711,043.00 
     
              
      

 

– of which subsidiaries due to contractual rights 
      

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in respective 

currency 

45 Adessa Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co.  
Vermietungs KG, Mainz 

0.00 0.00 EUR – 438,524.45 45,261.35 

46 Castellum ABF S.A., Luxembourg, Luxembourg 0.00 0.00 EUR 22,253.00 0.00 

47 GmbH Altstadt Grundstücksgesellschaft, Mainz1) 50.00 50.00 EUR – 519,005.46 – 453,805.30 

48 Life Insurance Fund Elite LLC, New York, USA 0.00 0.00 USD 6) 6) 

49 Life Insurance Fund Elite Trust, Minneapolis, USA 0.00 0.00 USD 6) 6) 

50 OCEAN Funding 2013 GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 0.00 0.00 EUR 28,811.93 1,328.94 

51 Senior Assured Investment S.A., Luxembourg, Luxembourg 0.00 0.00 EUR 31,000.00 0.00 

52 Senior Preferred Investments S.A., Luxembourg, Luxembourg 0.00 0.00 EUR 31,000.00 0.00 

53 Stratus ABF S.A., Luxembourg, Luxembourg  0.00 0.00 EUR 31,002.00 0.00 
      
              
      

 

ASSOCIATES NO LONGER CONSOLIDATED UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD DUE TO THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE SHARES AS NON-

CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (IFRS 5) 
      

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

54 First Ship Lease Trust, Singapore, Singapore1) 24.82 24.82 USD 247,454,000.00 – 30,995,000.00 
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UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES WITH A SHARE OF VOTING RIGHTS OF THE BANK OF MORE THEN 50 % 
      

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

55 Asian Capital Investment Opportunities Limited,  
Hong Kong, Hong Kong1) 

51.00 51.00 USD 115.00 0.00 

56 Aviation Leasing OpCo France III, Paris, France1) 100.00 100.00 EUR – 338,764.00 – 198,445.00 

57 Aviation Leasing OpCo France IV, Paris, France1) 100.00 100.00 EUR – 61,818.00 – 22,672.00 

58 CAPCELLENCE Vintage Year 16 Beteiligungen GmbH, Hamburg1) 100.00 100.00 EUR 257,608.93 – 4,148.18 

59 European Capital Investment Opportunities Limited,  
St. Helier, Jersey1) 

51.00 51.00 EUR 328.00 218.00 

60 HSH N Structured Situations Limited, St. Helier, Jersey7) 100.00 100.00 USD 351,241.00 10,805.00 

61 NORDIC BLUE CONTAINER V LIMITED, Majuro, Marshall Islands 100.00 100.00   6) 6) 

62 PERIMEDES GmbH, Hamburg 100.00 100.00 EUR 28,483.61 2,230.08 
      
              
      

 
 
UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES WITH A SHARE OF VOTING RIGHTS OF THE BANK OF 50 % OR LESS 

– of which subsidiaries due to a principal-agent relationship 
      

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

63 AGV Irish Equipment Leasing No. 7 Limited, Dublin, Ireland1) 49.00 49.00 USD 41,796.00 – 35,008.00 

64 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Ten Limited, Dublin, Ireland1) 8) 49.00 49.00 USD – 6,521,915.00 – 2,858,784.00 

65 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Three Limited, Dublin, Ireland1) 11) 49.00 49.00 USD – 15,046,554.00 – 1,175,030.00 

66 TEAL FUNDING NO 1 LTD, Dublin, Ireland10) 0.00 0.00 GBP – 42,435.00 0.00 
      
              
      

 
 
– of which subsidiaries due to contractual rights 
      

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

67 Lyceum Capital Fund 2000 (Number Five) GmbH & Co. KG, 
Stuttgart1)  

80.00 0.00 EUR – 240,902.29 0.00 
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UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURES 
   

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

68 AGV Irish Equipment Leasing No. 4 Limited, Dublin, Ireland11)14) 100.00 100.00 USD 500.00 – 17,382.00 

69 Fosse Way Shipping Limited, London, Great Britain15) 58.85 58.85 EUR – 20,504,132.00 – 164,193.00 

70 Infrastructure Holding S.à.r.l., Luxembourg, Luxembourg11) 0.00 0.00 EUR 12,500.00 0.00 

71 Lagan Viking Limited, Hong Kong, Hong Kong15)  58.85 58.85 EUR – 16,216,032.00 – 78,464.00 

72 Mersey Viking Limited, Hong Kong, Hong Kong15) 58.85 58.85 EUR – 15,842,721.00 – 132,621.00 

73 Watling Street Shipping Limited, London, Great Britain15)  58.85 58.85 EUR – 36,857,222.00 – 144,749.00 
   
       
   

 
 
UNCONSOLIDATED ASSOCIATES 
   

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

74 FSP CAPCELLENCE Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg1) 100.00 40.00 EUR 15,000,493.84 – 171,506.86 

75 Global Format GmbH & Co. KG, Munich 28.57 28.57 EUR 1,991,526.98 170,098.26 

76 HGA New Office Campus-Kronberg GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg  56.44 56.44 EUR 11,122,855.95 793,635.61 

77 KAIACA LLC, New York, USA15) 55.30 55.30 USD 20,112.12 0.00 

78 4Wheels Management GmbH, Düsseldorf1) 12) 68.75 40.00 EUR 6,203,896.79 320,426.03 
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EQUITY HOLDINGS IN NON-AFFILIATED COMPANIES 
   

Serial. 

no. Name/Place Share 

Voting 

rights 

Currency 

code 

Equity capital in 

respective currency 

Income/loss in 

respective currency 

79 AKA Ausfuhrkredit-Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main 1.33 1.33 EUR 231,752,103.15 22,885,000.00 

80 Aprel Shipping (MI) Inc., Majuro, Marshall Islands  15.00 15.00 USD 8,364,000.00 4,291,000.00 

81 Arzel Shipping (MI) Inc., Majuro, Marshall Islands 15.00 15.00 USD 3,523,000.00 3,972,000.00 

82 BRINKHOF Holding Deutschland GmbH, Erfurt1) 100.00 0.00 EUR 5) 5) 

83 CapVis Equity III L.P., St. Helier, Jersey1) 2.50 0.00 EUR 330,702,444.00 121,046,857.00 

84 
CVC European Equity Partners V (A) L.P., St. Helier, Jersey1) 

0.45 0.00 EUR 2,957,430,366.0
0 

72,152,377.00 

85 Deutsche WertpapierService Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main 2.51 2.51 EUR 180,187,783.45 8,724,744.89 

86 EDD AG (formerly Börse Düsseldorf AG), Düsseldorf 0.89 0.89 EUR 32,244,559.01 – 542,351.26 

87 EURO Kartensysteme GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 2.82 2.82 EUR 11,635,404.22 172,979.08 

88 GB Deutschland Fund GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg1) 4.69 0.00 EUR 14,036,312.97 277,601.15 

89 GLB GmbH & Co. OHG, Frankfurt am Main 15.77 15.77 EUR 6,235,539.93 494,038.34 

90 GLB-Verwaltungs-GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 15.80 15.80 EUR 51,742.97 1,990.81 

91 Hamburgische Grundbesitz und Anlage GmbH & Co. Objekte 
Hamburg und Potsdam KG, Hamburg 

5.15 5.16 EUR 9,842,394.16 1,080,534.31 

92 HAMMONIA Schiffsholding AG (formerly HCI Hammonia Shipping 
AG), Hamburg 

6.60 6.60 EUR 2,285,268.02 – 11,231,986.10 

93 HGA Objekt Frankfurt GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg 5.97 5.97 EUR 52,696,461.66 36,624,547.52 

94 HGA Objekt München GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg 5.23 5.23 EUR 18,934,865.30 7,557,306.77 

95 HGA Objekt Stuttgart GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg 7.25 7.26 EUR 10,089,147.27 633,303.33 

96 HGA Objekte Hamburg und Hannover GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg 5.10 5.09 EUR 8,747,109.32 10,914,722.72 

97 Hines European Development Fund Limited Partnership, Wilmington, 
USA1) 

9.90 9.90 EUR 63,440,000.00 – 2,806,000.00 

98 Liquiditäts-Konsortialbank GmbH i.L., Frankfurt am Main9) 1.68 1.68 EUR 230,536,114.28 – 5,996,151.33 

99 Next Commerce Accelerator Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, 
Hamburg 

16.39 16.39 EUR 3) 3) 

100 Next Commerce Accelerator GmbH, Hamburg 16.67 16.67 EUR 3) 3) 

101 RSU Rating Service Unit GmbH & Co KG, München 13.60 13.60 EUR 14,946,085.78 1,825,230.73 

102 Scan Energy, Frederikshavn, Denmark 7.61 7.61 EUR 5) 5) 

103 Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication 
(S.W.I.F.T. SCRL), La Hulpe, Belgium 

0.04 0.04 EUR 415,332.00 26,219.00 

104 True Sale International GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 7.69 7.69 EUR 4,808,895.86 179,702.41 

105 UNI-ASIA GROUP LIMITED, Singapore, Singapore 2.66 2.66 USD 110,286,000.00 1,196,000.00 

106 Vofü-Fonds I Hamburgische Grundbesitz und Anlage GmbH & Co. 
KG, Hamburg 

5.10 5.09 EUR – 895,289.44 824,696.46 

      

1) Indirect holding. 

2) A profit transfer agreement with the company is in place. 

3) No information available due to newly established company. 

4) There is a profit transfer agreement with HSH Facility Management GmbH. 

5) No information available due to insolvency of the company. 

6) No data available. 

7) Only data as at 31 December 2010 is available. 

8) Only data as at 31 December 2014 is available. 

9) Only data as at 2 November 2015 is available. 

10) Only data as at 30 November 2015 is available. 

11) Only data as at 31 December 2015 is available. 

12) Only data as at 31 July 2016 is available. 

13) Only data as at 9 December 2016 is available. 

14) Joint control was explicitly agreed by contract, therefore the company is not a subsidiary despite a voting majority. 

15) This is not a subsidiary due to the requirement for a qualified voting majority for important decisions. 
16) The shares are held via a trustee. 

   

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES FOR € 1 AS AT 31.DECEMBER 2017 
    

     

Great Britain GBP 0.8872 

USA USD 1.1993 
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68. OTHER DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE WITH GERMAN COMMERCIAL LAW 

I. Basic principles 

Under the terms of Section 315e (1) HGB, HSH Nordbank AG, which 
has its registered office in Hamburg (Hamburg commercial register 
number HRB 87366) and Kiel (Kiel commercial register number HRB 
6127 KI) is required to observe the standards of the German Com-
mercial Code in preparing and presenting the annual financial state-
ments, as well as the IFRS standards. You may request the unabridged 
IFRS Group financial statements by following this link: www.hsh-
nordbank.com. The complete list of equity holdings is set out in 
Note 67. 

HSH Facility Management GmbH, Hamburg, and its subsidiaries 
HSH Care+Clean GmbH, Hamburg, HSH Gastro+Event GmbH, 
Hamburg, and HSH Move+More GmbH, Kiel, make use of the ex-
emption from disclosure obligations in accordance with Section 264 
(3) HGB. 

II. Number of employees 

The average number of employees as of the reporting date is calcu-
lated on the basis of staff figures at quarter-end for all fully consoli-
dated companies: 
 

 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 
  

 2017 2016 

 Male Female Total Total 

Full-time employees 1,156 427 1,583 1,801 

Part-time employees 128 508 636 698 

Total 1,284 935 2,219 2,499

Apprentices/trainees 19 17 36 36 
  
      
  

 

III. Corporate governance code 

HSH Nordbank AG supports the aims of the German Corporate 
Governance Code and has recognised the Code’s rules on a voluntary 
basis as an unlisted company. The Management Board and Supervi-
sory Board of HSH Nordbank AG have given a declaration of con-
formity pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(AktG) that the recommendations of the German Corporate Govern-
ance Code Commission together with the restrictions have been 
complied with and will be complied with until the subsequent declara-
tion is made. The declaration of conformity is published on 
HSH Nordbank AG's website. The declaration of conformity does not 
form part of the Group financial statements. 
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IV. Fees and activities of the auditor 

 
Auditor’s activities 

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft audited the annual finan-
cial statements and Group financial statements of HSH Nordbank as 
at 31 December 2017 and conducted various audits of annual finan-
cial statements at subsidiaries. In addition, reviews of the half-year 
financial report as at 30 June 2017 and certain services in accordance 
with the requirements of the guarantee scheme of the Landesbanken 
and Girozentralen were performed as part of the audit. Quality assur-
ance controls were also performed, in particular with regard to ac-
counting-specific issues, including the quality assurance of selected 
technical concepts for the implementation of IFRS 9 and of certain 
regulatory issues, directly as a result of the audit of the annual finan-
cial statements and Group financial statements as at 31 December 
2017 or within the context of this audit. Furthermore, audits were 
conducted in accordance with Section 36 of the German Securities 
Trading Act (WpHG) and services were provided in connection with 
enforcement proceedings.  

In addition, two comfort letters were issued, investigations were per-
formed in connection with the requirements of the guarantee scheme 
of the Landesbanken and Girozentralen and the charging of the Euro-
pean banking levy, and other contractually agreed services (including 
audits of certain parts of the internal control system pursuant to IDW 
PS 951 (new version) were performed. Other activities related to 
various project-related quality assurance measures in connection with 
the implementation of regulatory and banking industry requirements, 
and in connection with the privatisation process, technical assistance 
with a project to implement future banking supervisory requirements 

and the preparation of expert opinion. Support services were also 
provided in connection with the preparation of tax returns. 

 

Auditor’s fees within the meaning of IDW AcPS HFA 36 

(new version) 

 
AUDITOR’S FEES 

 

(€ m) 2017 2016 

Audits KPMG AG  6 6 

Other certification and valuation services 
provided by KPMG AG 1 1 

Other services provided by KPMG AG 2 3 

Total 9 10
 

   
 

 

The change in the prior-year figures is due to the application of IDW 
AcPS HFA 36 (new version). 

V. Seats on supervisory bodies 

On the reporting date, the following seats are held by members of the 
Management Board on statutory supervisory bodies of major corpo-
rations or financial institutions: 

Ulrik Lackschewitz 

HSH Nordbank Securities S.A., Luxembourg 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
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69. NAMES OF BOARD MEMBERS AND DIRECTORSHIPS HELD 

I. The Supervisory Board of the HSH Nordbank Group 

 

Dr Thomas Mirow, Hamburg 

Chair 
Former President of the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development, London 

Olaf Behm, Hamburg 

Deputy Chair 
Employee of HSH Nordbank AG 

Stefanie Arp, Norderstedt 

(until 14 November 2017) 
Employee of HSH Nordbank AG 

Peter Axmann, Hamburg 

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG 

Simone Graf, Altenholz 

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG 

Silke Grimm, Reinbek 

Member of the Board of Euler Hermes Deutschland AG 

Cornelia Hintz, Dortmund 

Federal state secretary ver.di district North Rhine-Westphalia 

Stefan Jütte, Bonn 

Former Chairman of the Management Board of Deutsche Postbank 
AG 

Dr Rainer Klemmt-Nissen, Hamburg 

Managing Director, HGV Hamburger Gesellschaft für Vermögens- 
und Beteiligungs Management mbH 

Rieka Meetz-Schawaller, Kiel 

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG 

Bert Michels, Hamburg 

(from 15 November 2017) 
Employee of HSH Nordbank AG 

Dr David Morgan, London 

Managing Director J.C. Flowers & Co UK Ltd. 

Dr Philipp Nimmermann, Kiel 

Secretary of State at the Schleswig-Holstein  
Ministry of Finance 

Stefan Schlatermund, Hamburg 

Employee of HSH Nordbank AG 

Klaus-Dieter Schwettscher, Reinbek 

Representative of ver.di’s federal management board  

Elke Weber-Braun, Hamburg 

Independent chartered accountant 

Jörg Wohlers, Rellingen 

Former Member of the Board of Hamburger Sparkasse AG and 
HASPA Finanzholding 
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II. Members of the Risk Committee 

Stefan Jütte  

Chair 

Olaf Behm 

Simone Graf 

Dr Rainer Klemmt-Nissen 

Rieka Meetz-Schawaller 

Dr Thomas Mirow 

Dr Philipp Nimmermann 

Stefan Schlatermund 

 

III. Members of the Audit Committee 

Elke Weber-Braun 

Chair 

Stefanie Arp 

(until 14 November 2017) 

Peter Axmann 

Olaf Behm 

Bert Michels 

(from 28 November 2017) 

Dr Philipp Nimmermann 

Jörg Wohlers 
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IV. Members of the General/Nomination Committee 

Dr Thomas Mirow 

Chair 

Olaf Behm 

Simone Graf 

Dr Rainer Klemmt-Nissen 

Dr David Morgan 

Dr Philipp Nimmermann 

Jörg Wohlers 

 

V. Members of the Remuneration Monitoring 

Committee 

Dr Thomas Mirow 

Chair 

Olaf Behm 

Simone Graf 

Silke Grimm 

Dr Rainer Klemmt-Nissen 

Dr Philipp Nimmermann 

 

VI. Members of the Mediation Committee 

Dr Thomas Mirow 

Chair 

Olaf Behm 

Dr Rainer Klemmt-Nissen 

Rieka Meetz-Schawaller 
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VII. The Management Board of the HSH Nordbank  Group 

 

Stefan Ermisch 

Born in 1966 
 
Chair 

Oliver Gatzke 

Born in 1968  
Chief Financial Officer 

Ulrik Lackschewitz 

Born in 1968  
Chief Risk Officer 

Torsten Temp 

Born in 1960 
Management Board member responsible for the Market divisions 
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COUNTRY BY COUNTRY REPORTING 2017 

Basic principles 

The requirements for country-specific reporting, referred to as coun-
try-by-country reporting in Article 89 of the Directive 2013/36/EU 
(Capital Requirement Directive, CRD IV), have been transposed into 
German law in Section 26a (1) of the German Banking Act (KWG). 

Disclosure at HSH Nordbank 

HSH Nordbank country-by-country reporting includes the necessary 
information for all the subsidiaries fully consolidated in the Group 
financial statements as of this reporting date. Entities that were decon-
solidated during the reporting year are not included in the figures 
presented. The geographical allocation is made on the basis of the 
location of a company's registered office. Branches are disclosed as 
independent companies. Representative offices are not listed. All 
accounting-related information is based on IFRS accounting. 

In this report, HSH Nordbank defines the required size of turnover as 
the sum of total income as presented in the income statement and 
Other operating income (gross amounts before consolidation). The 
consolidated non-bank entities in particular report their turnover in 
Other operating income. 

The profit or loss before tax disclosed in this report corresponds to the 
result before taxes of the individual entities presented. The tax posi-
tion also corresponds to the definition under IFRS standards in the 
income statement. 

HSH Nordbank has been granted a guarantee facility of € 10 billion by 
its owners. It is a second loss guarantee in which rating-induced actual 
payment defaults are secured. Please refer to Note 3  for more details. 

The figure for the number of employees corresponds to the arrange-
ment of Section 267 (5) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) for 
the entities still included in the Group financial statements as of the 
reporting date. 

The information on the type of activities of the relevant companies is 
presented in line with the definitions used in Article 4 (1) CRR once 
the CRR came into effect. 

The return on capital to be disclosed as at 31 December 2017, calcu-
lated as the quotient of net profit (Group net result after taxes) and 
total assets, is – 0.8 %. 

  

ANNEX TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Reporting 

 
COUNTRY-SPECIFIC DETAILS OF TURNOVER, PROFIT OR LOSS AND TAXES AS WELL AS EMPLOYEE NUMBERS 
      

(€ m/number) 
 
 
2017 
Country Turnover 

Profit or loss 
before tax 

Tax on profit 
or loss 

(+) expense/ 

(-) income 
Number of 
employees 

EU       

Germany 1,583 – 355 90 2,108 

Luxembourg 219 84 – 57 

Ireland 9 – 27 – – 

Greece 2 – – 8 

Third countries       

USA 2 – 13 – 4 

Singapore 27 – 111 – 12 42 

British Channel Islands 1 – – – 

Isle of Man 60 39 – – 

Hong Kong 6 6 – – 

Bermuda 1 1 – – 

Cayman Islands 77 69 – – 
   
     
   

 

COUNTRY-SPECIFIC DETAILS OF THE HEDGING EFFECT OF THE SECOND LOSS GUARANTEE AS STATE AID RECEIVED 
  

 Country 

 EU Third countries 

(€ m) 
2017 Germany Luxembourg Singapore 

Balance sheet amounts     

Compensation under the second loss guarantee 4,726 277 178 

Compensation under the credit derivative second loss guarantee 924 90 0 
     
    
  

 
 

 Country 

 EU Third countries 

(€ m) 
2017 Germany Luxembourg Singapore 

P&L amounts     

Hedging effect of the second loss guarantee – 602 – 90 – 36 

Hedging effect of credit derivative under the second loss guarantee 775 54 – 19 

Expenses for government guarantees – 131 – 15 – 3 
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NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION OF THE BRANCHES AND FULLY CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
   

Serial. no. Name of the company City Country Nature of activities 

1 HSH Nordbank AG 
Hamburg, 
Kiel Germany Bank 

2 HSH Nordbank AG, Luxembourg branch Luxembourg Luxembourg Bank 

3 HSH Nordbank AG, Singapore branch Singapore Singapore Bank 

4 HSH Nordbank AG, Athens branch Athens Greece Bank 

5 Adessa Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Vermietungs KG Mainz Germany Miscellaneous activities 

6 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Five Limited Dublin Ireland Miscellaneous activities 

7 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Seven Limited Dublin Ireland Miscellaneous activities 

8 Amentum Aircraft Leasing No. Six Limited Dublin Ireland Miscellaneous activities 

9 Avia Management S.à.r.l. Luxembourg Luxembourg Financial Institution 

10 BINNENALSTER-Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

11 Bu Wi Beteiligungsholding GmbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

12 CAPCELLENCE Dritte Fondsbeteiligung GmbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

13 CAPCELLENCE Erste Fondsbeteiligung GmbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

14 CAPCELLENCE Holding GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

15 CAPCELLENCE Zweite Fondsbeteiligung GmbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

16 Capcellence Vintage Year 06/07 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

17 Capcellence Vintage Year 07/08 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

18 CAPCELLENCE Vintage Year 11 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

19 CAPCELLENCE Vintage Year 13 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

20 CAPCELLENCE Vintage Year 16 Beteiligungen GmbH & Co. KG Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

21 Castellum ABF S.A. Luxembourg Luxembourg Miscellaneous activities 

22 Chasms Navigation Limited Douglas Isle of Man Miscellaneous activities 

23 Cregneash Navigation Limited Douglas Isle of Man Miscellaneous activities 

24 Curragh Navigation Limited Douglas Isle of Man Miscellaneous activities 

25 FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore Provider of ancillary services 

26 FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore Financial Institution 

27 FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore Provider of ancillary services 

28 GmbH Altstadt Grundstücksgesellschaft Mainz Germany Financial Institution 

29 GODAN GmbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

30 HSH Auffang- und Holdinggesellschaft mbH & Co. KG Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 
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Serial.no Name of the company City Country Nature of activities 

31 HSH Care+Clean GmbH Hamburg Germany Miscellaneous activities 

32 HSH Facility Management GmbH Hamburg Germany 
Provider of ancillary 
services 

33 HSH Gastro+Event GmbH Hamburg Germany Miscellaneous activities 

34 HSH Move+More GmbH Kiel Germany Miscellaneous activities 

35 HSH N Finance (Guernsey) Limited St. Peter Port Guernsey Financial Institution 

36 HSH N Funding II George Town Cayman Islands Financial Institution 

37 HSH N Residual Value Ltd. Hamilton Bermuda Insurance company 

38 HSH Nordbank Securities S.A. Luxembourg Luxembourg Bank 

39 HSH Private Equity GmbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

40 Ilex Integra GmbH Hamburg Germany Financial Institution 

41 ISM Agency, LLC New York USA Miscellaneous activities 

42 Life Insurance Fund Elite LLC New York USA Miscellaneous activities 

43 Life Insurance Fund Elite Trust Minneapolis USA Miscellaneous activities 

44 Mooragh Navigation Limited Douglas Isle of Man Miscellaneous activities 

45 Neptune Finance Partner S.à.r.l. Luxembourg Luxembourg Financial Institution 

46 Neptune Finance Partner II S.à.r.l. Luxembourg Luxembourg Financial Institution 

47 Next Generation Aircraft Finance 2 S.à.r.l. Findel Luxembourg Miscellaneous activities 

48 Next Generation Aircraft Finance 3 S.à.r.l. Findel Luxembourg Miscellaneous activities 

49 OCEAN Funding 2013 GmbH 
Frankfurt am 
Main Germany Miscellaneous activities 

50 RDM Limited George Town Cayman Islands Miscellaneous activities 

51 RESPARCS Funding Limited Partnership I Hong Kong Hong Kong Financial Institution 

52 RESPARCS Funding II Limited Partnership  St. Helier Jersey Financial Institution 

53 Senior Assured Investment S.A. Luxembourg Luxembourg Miscellaneous activities 

54 Senior Preferred Investments S.A. Luxembourg Luxembourg Miscellaneous activities 

55 Soderick Navigation Limited Douglas Isle of Man Miscellaneous activities 

56 Stratus ABF S.A. Luxembourg Luxembourg Miscellaneous activities 

57 2200 Victory LLC Dover USA Miscellaneous activities 
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DATE OF RELEASE FOR PUBLICATION 

The Management Board of HSH Nordbank has prepared the Group 
financial statements on 17 April 2018 and released these for forward-
ing to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is responsible 
for reviewing the Group financial statements and approving of these.  

 

Hamburg/Kiel, 17 April 2018 

 

 

Stefan Ermisch   Oliver Gatzke 

 

 

Ulrik Lackschewitz   Torsten Temp 
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To HSH Nordbank AG, Hamburg and Kiel 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and of the Group Management Report 

Opinions 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
HSH Nordbank AG, Hamburg and Kiel, which comprise the consoli-
dated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the 
Group statement of income, the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
financial year from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of signifi-
cant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the group 
management report at HSH Nordbank AG, Hamburg and Kiel, for the 
financial year from 1 January 2017 to December 31, 2017. In accord-
ance with the German legal requirements, we have not audited the 
content of the Management Declaration pursuant to Section 289f (2) 
nos. 4 and 6 of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – 
HGB), which is included in the group management report. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

– the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all
material respects, with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the ad-
ditional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec-
tion 315e (1) HGB and, in compliance with these requirements,
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial posi-
tion of the Group as of 31 December 2017 , and of its financial per-
formance for the financial year from 1 January 2017 to
31 December 2017 and 

– the accompanying group management report as a whole provides
an appropriate view of the Group's position. In all material respects, 
this group management report is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and 
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future devel-
opment. Our opinion on the group management report does not
cover the content of the Management Declaration mentioned above. 

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit 
has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the 
consolidated financial statements and of the group management 
report. 

Basis for the Opinions 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and 
of the group management report in accordance with Section 317 HGB 
and the EU Audit Regulation No. 537/2014 (referred to subsequently 
as “EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by 
the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 
Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements, 

principles and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Re-
sponsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and of the Group Management Report” section of our auditor’s report. 
We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the 
requirements of European law and German commercial and profes-
sional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional re-
sponsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in 
accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, 
we declare that we have not provided non-audit services prohibited 
under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on 
the group management report. 

Material uncertainty in connection with the ability to 
continue as a going concern 
We refer to the discussion in the Group management report in the 
section entitled “Opportunities and risks resulting from the formal 
decision in the EU state aid proceedings” as well as to Note 1 to the 
Group financial statements, “Accounting principles”, in which the 
management states that the going concern assumption for accounting 
and measurement purposes, as well as the continued survival of 
HSH Nordbank and major group companies is based, in particular, on 
the share purchase agreement concluded on 28 February 2018, in 
which HSH Beteiligungs Management GmbH sold 94.9 % of the 
shares in HSH Nordbank AG to various funds of Cerberus European 
Investments LLC, J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, Golden Tree Asset Man-
agement L.P., Centaurus Capital LP and BAWAG P.S.K. AG (hereinaf-
ter referred to as the “bidders”) being closed and implemented. This is 
subject, in particular, to the proviso that 

– the necessary approvals are granted by the competent competition
authorities, in particular in Germany and Austria, 

– the federal state parliaments in Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein 
approve the share purchase agreement, 

– the competent banking supervisory authority (European Central
Bank (ECB), German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority
(BaFin) and Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
(CSSF Luxembourg) grants the necessary approvals, 

– the European Commission grants its approval for the acquisition
following a viability assessment of the new corporate structure, 

– the German Savings Banks Association (DSGV) confirms that
HSH Nordbank can keep its full membership of the institutional
protection scheme of the German Savings Banks Finance Group
(SFG) for another three years after the conclusion of the share pur-
chase agreement (closing), 

– HSH Finanzfonds AöR submits a final settlement report on the
second loss guarantee granted by HSH Finanzfonds AöR and 

– the bidders pay the portion of the purchase price attributable to
them on the closing date. 

If any of the conditions set out above for the closing of the share pur-
chase agreement are not met, and if no agreement can be reached 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 



AUDITOR’S REPORT   RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT BOARD GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS265
 

 

between the parties involved in each case, in particular if the EU 
Commission reaches the conclusion, in the course of its viability 
review, that the planned new corporate structure will not lead to a 
business model that is profitable in the long term, then the Bank will 
cease new business and manage its assets as far as legally permissible 
with the aim of a structured winding down of its business. In the event 
that the Bank is wound down as a result of the above or for other 
reasons, or if its rating is downgraded or other adverse developments 
emerge, then this could trigger outflows of short-term funds and 
fundamentally restrict HSH Nordbank’s funding options. In the case 
of major unexpected fund outflows, additional measures will need to 
be taken by the owners and/or third parties to strengthen the liquidity 
situation. 

It is further required that acceptance by market participants and other 
relevant stakeholders necessary for the successful implementation of 
HSH Nordbank AG’s future business model is maintained or gained. 

 
As set out in the Group management report in the section entitled 
“Opportunities and risks resulting from the formal decision in the 
EU state aid proceedings” as well as in to Note 1 to the Group fi-
nancial statements, “Accounting principles”, this indicates material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
HSH Nordbank and major Group companies to continue as a going 
concern, as well as a risk that threatens the company’s survival with-
in the meaning of Sec. 322 (2) sentence 3 HGB. Our audit opinions 
are not modified with regard to this matter. 

 

OTHER KEY AUDIT MATTERS IN THE AUDIT OF THE 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, 
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements for the financial year from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 
2017. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these mat-
ters. 

 

Appropriateness of the specific loan loss provisions set 

up on loans and advances to customers resulting from 

ship financing 

For information on the accounting and measurement principles used 
by HSH Nordbank for specific loan loss provisions, we refer to section 
“7. Accounting policies” section and section “26. Loan loss provisions” 
in the notes to the Group financial statements. For information on the 
forecast uncertainties associated with the loan loss provisions, we refer 
to the sections entitled “Forecast for loan loss provisions” and “Oppor-
tunities and risks in the loan loss provision forecast” of the group 
management report. 

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK 

HSH Nordbank has activities in the ship financing business. A sub-
stantial part of the specific loan loss provisions on receivables in the 
ship financing business relates to receivables from the loan portfolio 
whose sale has been agreed as part of a portfolio transaction in con-
nection with the privatisation process (see audit matter “Impact of 
privatisation on accounting”). Another part of the specific loan loss 
provisions on receivables in order to take account of acute default 
risks relates to specific loan loss provisions for ship financing in the 
Bank’s portfolio which does not form part of the portfolio transaction 
and is subject to the comments set out below. 

Calculating the necessary specific loan loss provisions for ship financ-
ing is subject to discretion. The process requires forward-looking 
estimates of expected contractual cash flows and/or the expected cash 
flows from the realisation of loan collateral or the sale of loan expo-
sures. The cash flows are estimated taking into account the probable 
development of essential value assumptions and parameters. These 
include, in particular, the commitment strategy (continuation or 
realisation strategy), the future development of charter rates and 
operating costs of the vessels financed, as well as the anticipated pro-
ceeds that can be generated from the realisation of collateral. These 
estimates are subject to considerable uncertainty. 

Incorrect assumptions regarding the amount of the expected cash 
flows (among other things depending on forecasts on the future de-
velopment of charter rates, operating costs and ship values) can mean 
that the receivables are not valued correctly, meaning that the coun-
terparty default risks are not taken into account in an appropriate 
amount. As a result, it was of particular importance in the context of 
our audit to ensure that the assumptions regarding the above-
mentioned parameters had been properly derived and applied in 
accordance with applicable accounting principles.  

OUR AUDIT APPROACH 

Using the risk-based audit approach, we based our audit opinion on 
both control-based audit procedures, as well as on statement-related 
audit procedures. 

The first step involved gaining an overview of the development of the 
shipping markets, an insight into the development of the Bank’s ship-
ping loan portfolio, the associated counterparty default-related risks, 
the methods used to calculate specific loan loss provisions, as well as 
the internal control system in respect of the calculation of specific 
loan loss provisions on ship financing. We conducted interviews and 
consulted the written regulations in order to assess the adequacy of 
the internal control system with regard to the determination of specif-
ic loan loss provisions on ship financing.  

We then verified the implementation and effectiveness of the relevant 
controls designed to ensure the appropriate determination of specific 
loan loss provisions in accordance with the accounting regulations. In 
respect of the IT system used in this regard, we assessed the effective-
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ness of the system and application control with the involvement of our 
IT specialists. 

Our audit activities with regard to the parameters for the calculation 
of loan loss provisions also related to the validations performed by 
HSH Nordbank with regard to its estimates of future charter rates, 
operating costs and the development of ship values. 

On the basis of a conscious selection of single exposures from the ship 
financing business, which was made based on materiality and risk-
related aspects, we reviewed the adequacy of the loan loss provisions 
set up with regard to these receivables and the value-determining 
factors on which the recognition of specific loan loss provisions was 
based. In this regard, we verified whether the restructuring and 
workout strategy on which the valuation was based is consistent with 
the actual conditions and is plausibly justified. Based on this, we 
assessed, in particular, the adequacy of the estimate of the  contractual 
cash flows still to be expected and/or the expected cash flows from the 
realisation of loan collateral or the sale of loan exposures. This in-
cludes, in particular, reviewing whether the future development of 
charter rates and operating costs of the vessels, as well as the anticipat-
ed proceeds that can be generated from the realisation of collateral, 
have been taken into account appropriately.  

When reviewing the anticipated proceeds that can be generated from 
the realisation of collateral, insofar as this was significant for the 
purposes of the valuation scenario being audited, our opinion was 
based on valuation reports prepared by independent experts commis-
sioned by the Bank. Finally, we checked whether the required specific 
loan loss provision had also been calculated correctly.  

OUR OBSERVATIONS 

The assumptions and parameters used to calculate the amount of the 
specific loan loss provisions in the ship financing business were 
properly selected and were used in accordance with the accounting 
principles to be applied to the calculation of specific loan loss provi-
sions. 

Impact of the implementation of structural measures on 

accounting 

For information on the impact of structural measures on accounting, 
we refer to the section entitled “Successful winding-down strategy and 
winding-down by the Bank itself” in the Group management report. 
For information on the accounting and measurement principles used, 
we refer to the comments made in the notes to the Group financial 
statements in sections “7. Accounting policies, G) Derecognition” and 
“33. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups.” 

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK 

In order to implement the structural measures provided for as part of 
the 2016 decision of the EU Commission on the replenishment of the 
second loss guarantee, the legal transfer of the loan portfolio sold to 
HSH portfoliomanagement AöR in the 2016 financial year (“federal 

state portfolio transaction”) was largely completed in the reporting 
year, and further loan portfolio sales were executed on the market 
(“market portfolio transactions”).  

With regard to the completed structural measures, there is a risk for 
the Group financial statements in particular in the sense that sold 
assets may not have been accounted for correctly with regard to the 
requirements for, or the timing of, derecognition.  

OUR AUDIT APPROACH 

Using the risk-based audit approach, we based our audit opinion on 
both control-based audit procedures, as well as on statement-related 
audit procedures.   

The first step involved using ongoing surveys and discussions with the 
management, as well as consulting committee meeting minutes, 
Management Board minutes and documentation to identify the rele-
vant transactions for the implementation of structural measures.   

We also assessed the adequacy of the processes and controls estab-
lished by the Bank in connection with the accounting of correspond-
ing sale transactions, and reviewed the implementation and effective-
ness of relevant controls designed to ensure the correct application of 
the accounting regulations with regard to corresponding transactions. 
On the basis of a conscious selection of transactions, which was made 
based on materiality and risk-related aspects, we reviewed the corre-
sponding contractual agreements with regard to the requirements for, 
or the timing of, derecognition.  

In addition, we verified the correct derecognition of the receivables in 
the Bank’s accounting system.  

OUR OBSERVATIONS 

The asset derecognitions resulting from the implementation of struc-
tural measures were carried out in accordance with the applicable 
accounting principles. 

Impact of privatisation on accounting 

For information on the impact of privatisation on accounting, we refer 
to the sections entitled “Sale of HSH Nordbank AG on 28 February 
2018” and “Additional elementary winding-down of legacy burdens as 
part of the privatisation process” of the Group management report. 
For information on the accounting and measurement principles used, 
we refer to the notes to the Group financial statements in section “26. 
Loan loss provisions.” 

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK 

On 28 February 2018, HSH Beteiligungs Management GmbH con-
cluded a share purchase agreement on the sale of its shares in 
HSH Nordbank to several investors. At the same time, 
HSH Nordbank concluded a portfolio transaction with a special-
purpose entity from the sphere of the investors on 28 February 2018 
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relating to the sale of a loan portfolio earmarked for winding down 
and consisting largely of non-performing ship, real estate and corpo-
rate financing with an exposure at default (EAD) of € 6.3 billion. The 
closing and, as a result, the transfer of beneficial ownership with 
regard to the receivables affected by the portfolio transaction are 
subject, in particular, to the condition precedent that the share pur-
chase agreement (SPA) is closed.   

The change in shareholder and the sale of a loan portfolio earmarked 
for winding down could have a significant impact on accounting. As 
far as the Group financial statements are concerned, there is a risk that 
the loan portfolio sale for the loan portfolio earmarked for winding 
down has not been taken into account, either at all or sufficiently, 
within the context of the determination of the specific loan loss provi-
sions. In addition, there is a risk for the Group financial statements 
that the tax-related consequences of the change in shareholder and the 
tax losses resulting from the sale of the loan portfolio earmarked for 
winding down have not been taken into account correctly for the 
purposes of calculating deferred taxes. 

OUR AUDIT APPROACH 

Using an risk-based audit approach, we based our audit opinion on 
both control-based audit procedures, as well as on statement-related 
audit procedures.  

The first step involved using ongoing surveys and discussions with the 
management, as well as consulting committee meeting minutes, 
Management Board minutes and documentation, as well as consulting 
the agreement on the sale of the shares in HSH Nordbank and the 
agreement on the sale of a loan portfolio earmarked for winding down 
to a special-purpose entity to assess the fundamental impact of privat-
isation on the accounting as at 31 December 2017. Then, based on our 
understanding of the process, we assessed the implementation and 
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls to take account of the 
impact of the sale of the loan portfolio within the context of the calcu-
lation of specific loan loss provisions on receivables.  

On the basis of a conscious selection of individual exposures to be 
sold, which was made based on materiality and risk-related aspects, 
we verified that the agreed purchase price for the loan portfolio had 
been taken into account correctly in the context of calculating the loan 
loss provisions on these receivables. With regard to the appropriate 
allocation of the purchase price for the overall portfolio to the indi-
vidual receivables, we used an expert opinion commissioned by 
HSH Nordbank, as well as a confirmation issued by another auditing 
firm, for the purposes of our review. 

With regard to the tax-related consequences of the privatisation pro-
cess, we first of all verified the implementation and effectiveness of 
relevant controls designed to ensure the correct accounting of de-
ferred taxes.  

Our audit activities with regard to the adequacy of the inclusion of the 
tax-related consequences of the change in shareholder and the tax 
losses resulting from the sale of the loan portfolio earmarked for 
winding down in the determination of deferred taxes involved using 
binding information issued by the tax authorities, as well as assessing 
whether deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards had been valued 
correctly in light of the change in shareholder. 

OUR OBSERVATIONS 

The sale of the loan portfolio earmarked for winding down that was 
agreed on 28 February 2018 in the context of the portfolio transaction 
was taken into account in the calculation of specific loan loss provi-
sions and the valuation of deferred taxes in accordance with the appli-
cable accounting principles. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises: 

– the Management Declaration, and  
– the remaining parts of the annual report, with the exception of the 

audited consolidated financial statements and group management 
report and our auditor's report. 

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
group management report do not cover the other information, and 
consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in so doing, to consider whether the other infor-
mation 

– is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
with the group management report or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or  

– otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory 

Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements and the 

Group Management Report 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements that comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB and that the consoli-
dated financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and 
financial performance of the Group. In addition, management is 
responsible for such internal control as they have determined neces-
sary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for 
financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting 
unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease opera-
tions, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the 
group management report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate 
view of the Group's position and is, in all material respects, consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German 
legal requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and 
risks of future development. In addition, management is responsible 
for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have consid-
ered necessary to enable the preparation of a group management 
report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal re-
quirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence 
for the assertions in the group management report. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group's fi-
nancial reporting process for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and of the group management report. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group 

Management Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group 
management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the 
Group's position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the 
audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as 
to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions on the consoli-
dated financial statements and on the group management report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guaran-
tee that an audit conducted in accordance with Section 317 HGB and 
the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by 
the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material 
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this 
group management report.  

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepti-
cism throughout the audit. We also 

– identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consol-
idated financial statements and of the group management report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.  The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

– obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements and of arrangements and 
measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group management 
report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of these systems. 

– evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by man-
agement and the reasonableness of estimates made by management 
and related disclosures. 

– conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence ob-
tained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncer-
tainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s re-
port to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and in the group management report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audi-
tor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern. 

– evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the con-
solidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements present the underly-
ing transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated fi-
nancial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and financial performance of the Group in com-
pliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional re-
quirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) 
HGB. 

– obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 
express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on 
the group management report.  We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our opinions. 

– evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the 
consolidated financial statements, its conformity with German law, 
and the view of the Group's position it provides. 

– perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented 
by management in the group management report.  On the basis of 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the 
significant assumptions used by management as a basis for the pro-
spective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the pro-
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spective information from these assumptions. We do not express a 
separate opinion on the prospective information and on the as-
sumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk 
that future events will differ materially from the prospective infor-
mation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that 
we have complied with the relevant independence requirements, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where appli-
cable, the related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter. 

Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit 

Regulation 

We were elected as group auditor by the annual general meeting on 
18 May 2017 . We were engaged by the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board on 21 November 2017 . We have been the group auditor of 
HSH Nordbank AG, Hamburg and Kiel, without interruption since 
the financial year 2008. 

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor's report are 
consistent with the additional report to the audit committee pursuant 
to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report). 
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German Public Auditor Responsible for the 

Engagement 

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Rainer 
Thiede. 

 

 

 

Hamburg, 18 April 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 
Leitz  
Wirtschaftsprüfer 

 
Thiede 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
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We hereby affirm that to the best of our knowledge the Group finan-
cial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
accounting principles and give a true and fair view of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations of the HSH Nordbank 
Group and that the Group management report presents the course of 
business, including the results of the business and the HSH Nordbank 
Group’s situation, in such a manner that it gives a true and fair view 
and describes the main opportunities and risks for the 
HSH Nordbank Group’s foreseeable performance. 

 
Hamburg/Kiel, 17 April 2018 

 

 

Stefan Ermisch   Oliver Gatzke 

 

 

Ulrik Lackschewitz   Torsten Temp 
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HSH NORDBANK
ADVISORY BOARDHSH Nordbank AG formed an Advisory Board to provide the 

Management Board with expert advice on performing its duties 
and to foster contact with the business community and the savings 
banks as well as any other Groups of public life. The members of 
the Advisory Board are being appointed by the Management Board.
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HSH NORDBANK
ADVISORY BOARD

MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY BOARD

Ulrich Boike
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Management
Förde Sparkasse
Kiel

Reinhard Boll
President
of the Savings Banks Association of Schleswig-Holstein
Kiel

Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Drobetz
Universität Hamburg
Faculty for Business Administration
Chair for Corporate Finance und Ship Finance
Hamburg
(since 01.01.2018)

Thomas H. Eckelmann
Chairman of the Group Management Board
EUROKAI KGaA
Hamburg

Michael Eggenschwiler
Chairman of the Management Board
Hamburg Airport GmbH
Hamburg

Jutta Humbert
Managing Partner
NORD DRIVESYSTEMS Gruppe
Bargteheide
(until 31.12.2017)

Jan Christoph Kersig
Managing Director
Kersig GmbH & Co. KG
Kiel

Dr. Johann Killinger
Managing Partner
Buss Group GmbH & Co. KG
Hamburg

Jochen Klösges
Chief Executive Officer
E.R. Capital Holding GmbH & Cie. KG
Hamburg

Max-Arnold Köttgen
Member of the Board of Management
REMONDIS SE & Co. KG
Hamburg

Angela Krüger-Steinhoff
Managing Partner
Steinhoff Familienholding GmbH
Westerstede
(until 31.12.2017)

Fritz Horst Melsheimer
President of the Hamburg Chamber of Commerce
Hamburg
(until 06.04.2017)

Dr. Ulrich Möhrle
Managing Partner
Möhrle Happ Luther
Hamburg
(since 26.03.2018)

Dr. Claus-Georg Nette
Member of the Board of Management
Marquard & Bahls AG
Hamburg
(until 31.12.2017)

Dr. Arend Oetker
Managing Partner
Dr. Arend Oetker Holding GmbH
Berlin
(until 31.12.2017)
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Prof. Dr. med. Jens Scholz
Chairman of the Board
University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein
Kiel

Dr. Heinrich Schulte
Managing Partner and Group Chairman
Bernhard Schulte GmbH & Co. KG
Hamburg
(since  06.04.2018)

Frank Schumacher
Chairman of the Board of Management
Sparkasse zu Lübeck AG
Lübeck

Dr. Fritz Süverkrüp
Honorary President
Kiel Chamber of Industry and Commerce
Kiel

Angela Titzrath
Chairman of the Management Board
Hamburger Hafen und Logistik AG
Hamburg
(seit 09.04.2018)

Prof. Dr. Henning Vöpel
Director
Hamburg Institute of International Economics
Hamburg
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Pieter Wasmuth
Chairman of the Management Board
Vattenfall Wärme Hamburg GmbH
Chairman
Vattenfall Europe Nuclear Energy GmbH
General Executive (Generalbevollmächtigter)
of Hamburg and Northern Germany 
of Vattenfall GmbH
Hamburg

Johannes Züll
Chairman of the Management Board
Studio Hamburg GmbH
Hamburg

Dr. Lorenz Zwingmann
Mitglied des Vorstandes, CFO
Marquard & Bahls AG
Hamburg
(since 09.04.2018)
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FOLLOWING ADJUSTMENT

HSH NORDBANK GROUP 2013 - 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

INCOME STATEMENT (€ M)
Net income before restructuring - 238 445 954 883 - 48

Net income before taxes - 453 121 450 278 - 518

Group net result for the year - 528 69 98 160 - 769

BALANCE SHEET (€ M)
Equity 4.373 4.950 4.885 4.672 4.579

Total assets 70.382 84.365 96.973 110.082 109.111

Business volume 78.611 93.208 106.176 119.880 118.729

CAPITAL RATIOS1) (%)
Tier 1 capital ratio 23,5 18,7 16,4 14,4 15,3

Regulatory capital ratio 30,6 24,8 20,6 18,7 23,8

EMPLOYEES2) 

Total 2.295 2.613 2.838 3.072 3.391

   Germany 2.188 2.497 2.702 2.897 3.150

   Abroad 107 116 136 175 241

1 After having established the annual financial statements 2017
2 Headcount



CONTACT
HSH Nordbank AG
Gerhart-Hauptmann-Platz 50
20095 Hamburg, Germany
Phone +49 40 3333-0
Fax +49 40 3333-34001

Martensdamm 6
24103 Kiel, Germany
Phone +49 431 900-01
Fax +49 431 900-34002

info@hsh-nordbank.com
www.hsh-nordbank.de

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Phone +49 40 3333-11500/-25421
investor-relations@hsh-nordbank.com

PRESS RELATIONS
Phone +49 40 3333-12973
Fax +49 40 3333-34224
presse@hsh-nordbank.com

MARKETING & 
DIGITAL MEDIA
Phone +49 40 3333-14136
Fax +49 40 3333-34224
marketing@hsh-nordbank.com

IMPRINT
PRODUCTION
Inhouse produced with FIRE.sys

PRINTED BY
HSH Facility Management GmbH, Hamburg
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NOTE

If at times only the masculine form is used 
for certain terms relating to groups of peo-
ple, this is not meant in a gender-specific 
manner, but occurs exclusively for the sake 
of better readability. 

This Annual Report was published 
on 26 April 2018 and is available at 
www.annualreport2017.hsh-nordbank.
com. This is an English translation of the 
original German version of the Annual 
Report.

FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS

This Annual Report includes certain for-
ward-looking statements. These statements 
are based on our beliefs and assumptions 
as well as on conclusions drawn from 
information currently available to us from 
sources which we consider to be reliable. A 
forward-looking statement involves infor-
mation that does not simply reflect histori-
cal facts, including information relating to 
possible or anticipated future growth and 
future economic development.

Such forward-looking statements are based 
on a number of assumptions concerning fu-
ture events and are subject to uncertainties, 
risks, and other factors, many of which are 
beyond our control. Therefore actual events 
may differ considerably from those forecast 
in the forward-looking statements. In view 
of this, you are advised never to rely to an 
inappropriate degree on forward-looking 
statements. We cannot accept any liability 
for the accuracy or completeness of these 
statements or for the actual realisation 
of forecasts made in this Annual Report. 
Furthermore, we are not obliged to update 
the forward-looking statements following 
publication of this information. In additi-
on, information contained in this Annual 
Report does not represent any kind of offer 
for the acquisition or sale of any type of 
securities of HSH Nordbank AG.



HSH NORDBANK AG

HAMBURG: Gerhart-Hauptmann-Platz 50,  
20095 Hamburg, Germany 
Phone +49 40 3333-0, Fax +49 40 3333-34001

KIEL: Martensdamm 6, 24103 Kiel, Germany
Phone +49 431 900-01, Fax +49 431 900-34002

HSH-NORDBANK.COM
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